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ABSTRACT 
 

 
BRIAN WILLIAM CULLINAN. “Not Negroes nor Slaves but Free People”: Free People 

of Color in the Colonial Southeast Indian Trade. (Under the direction of DR. JOHN 
DAVID SMITH) 

 

 

This thesis examines the role of free people of color in the colonial Indian trade in 

England’s southern American colonies, primarily Virginia and the Carolinas, from 

the1640s to that trade’s decline in the colonial southeast by the early 1770s. Free people 

of color participated in the Indian trade throughout the colonial period in substantial 

numbers, and sometimes became that trade’s principal actors. At a time when race-based 

laws and prohibitive social conditions emerged alongside the development of southern 

slave society, the Indian trade—operated largely by a colorful cast of adventurers who 

often worked outside the reach of colonial government—offered free people of color 

unparalleled opportunities for economic and social ascendancy in a world increasingly 

shut off to them due to the inhibiting matters that attended their race. This thesis 

additionally examines how the geography of the Indian trade provides a key for 

understanding the movement of free people of color across the southern colonial frontier, 

as well as the isolated multi-racial communities they developed along their journey. 
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INTRODUCTION 

 

During the first half of the seventeenth century, the colony of Virginia became 

home to a small but historically significant population of free Black African colonists. 

The first members of this population arrived outside of Jamestown in August 1619. 

Scholars are familiar with the story of these pioneering “20 and odd” Africans. Having 

arrived in English North America as slave captives aboard a foreign vessel prior to the 

codification of slavery in English law, Virginia leaders accepted the Africans into the 

Virginia colony as colony servants.1 Jamestown’s free Black population continued to 

expand over the ensuing few decades as more Africans arrived sporadically. In total, the 

English imported 562 Africans into the colony prior to Virginia’s first laws to enshrine 

life-long race-based servitude in 1662.2 These early African colonists formed the basis of 

a substantial free Black community in Virginia prior to the legal codification of slavery. 

As colony servants, the Jamestown Africans served their assigned masters for a 

prescribed time period.3 Following the expiration of their term, the African servants—

like White European colony servants with whom they toiled—received a small plot of 

land from the colony. Thereafter, these former servants became Virginia freeholders who, 

as English colonial subjects, fell under the protection of English law. Surviving colonial 

Virginia land and court records document the extent to which former Black colony 

servants successfully integrated themselves into Virginia society during the first half of 

the seventeenth century. Free Blacks such as Anthony Johnson, Manuel Driggus, and 

Francisco Payne not only subsisted, but amassed valuable property and found comity 

among their White neighbors.4 As relationships with those White neighbors grew, free 
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Black Virginians intermarried or otherwise produced offspring with Whites, thus 

producing an entirely new bi-racial class of colonial Virginians this study refers to as free 

people of color.5  

Free people of color in early colonial Virginia occupied a loosely-defined legal 

and social space somewhere between White and Black. In its earliest days, the Virginia 

colony struggled to induce large numbers of English workers to make the perilous trip 

across the Atlantic to join a struggling colony that often faced starvation and war.  The 

small number of African immigrants who came into the colony became welcomed 

additions to the colony’s collective manpower. During this liminal period in North 

American racial history, blackness had not yet become a debilitating issue. Black and 

White servants worked alongside each other cultivating tobacco in harsh conditions under 

the hot Virginia sun. These servants often shared living spaces and thus developed lasting 

bonds that transcended race.6 Together, Black and White servants experienced the 

hardships of bonded labor and maintained common dreams of economic success and 

social ascendency. 

The gradual introduction of African slavery in Virginia by the middle of the 

seventeenth century initially had little direct effect upon the colony’s free people of color. 

The British slave system at this time emphasized the “otherness” and non-Christian status 

of the individuals it enslaved.7 Virginia’s free people of color practiced Christianity and 

had become regular, and often valued, members of colonial Virginia society. As 

Christians, they remained protected from enslavement under English law.8 These factors 

fortified the social and legal status of free people of color into the latter part of the 

seventeenth century, even as slavery developed around them. As race-based African 
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slavery grew to become the primary source of labor in the colonial South and Virginia 

began its transition from a society with Slaves into a slave society, free people of color 

increasingly saw their social and legal status brought into greater scrutiny.9 

Early chroniclers of Virginia history tended to ignore the presence of free people 

of color in colonial Virginia. While most historians found it difficult to avoid mention of 

the historically significant “20 and odd” Africans who became the first permanent 

African settlers in British North America, they often reduced the African’s arrival to 

nothing more than a starting waypoint along the long timeline of North American slavery. 

African slavery, a monumental event of enormous importance in American history, 

tended to shape the historical investigation of colonial Black persons whether free or 

enslaved. This contributed to a scholarly blind spot that concealed the lives and 

accomplishments of early seventeenth-century free Blacks who had a more indirect 

relationship with slavery and did not fit neatly into the prevailing historical narratives. In 

the twentieth century, however, scholars such as Ira Berlin, Timothy Breen, Wesley 

Frank Craven, John Hope Franklin, Paul Heinegg, Stephen Innes, Winthrop Jordan, John 

Henderson Russell, and others helped to bring the stories of early colonial free Blacks out 

of history’s shadows; their scholarship expanded our understanding of this anomalous 

group of early colonial Virginians. What became of their progeny remains lesser known.  

While Virginia’s early seventeenth-century free people of color enjoyed some 

amount of scholarly attention over the last fifty years, scholarship examining these people 

during the period of Virginia’s transition to a slave society in the late seventeenth and 

early eighteenth centuries remains largely non-existent. Yet, this crucial time for free 

people of color living within that society demands further study. The introduction of race-
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based African slavery in British colonial North America in the middle seventeenth 

century, as well as that institution’s sharp rise in the colonial South during the first two 

decades of the eighteenth century, produced a litany of race-based economic, legal, and 

social pressures that complicated the lives non-Whites. Virginia’s free people of color 

who resided in the Tidewater region, where slavery grew exponentially, experienced the 

greatest impact of laws and social prohibitions designed to create a more impermeable 

color line.10 Tidewater free people of color may have relocated to areas where slavery 

had lesser impact during this time in order to avoid the legal and social strictures that 

increasingly attended their race.11 The southern frontier offered such a space. Abundant 

evidence of the presence of free people of color in areas of the southern colonial frontier 

during the eighteenth century appears in court records, tax lists, militia rolls, and in 

several petitions put forward by free people of color demanding fair treatment in matters 

of taxation.12 During this period, significant numbers of free people of color migrated out 

of the Tidewater region and into frontier areas of Southside Virginia and the Piedmont 

region of North and South Carolina.13 This movement into remote areas of the Southern 

colonial frontier begged the question: what specifically caused this migration? Did free 

people of color migrate to these frontier areas to avoid race-based legal pressures or did 

other factors come into play? 

I hypothesized that two motives drove the movement of free Blacks into the 

frontier: 1). avoidance of the enforcement of race-based laws that attended slavery and 2). 

the quest for inexpensive and available frontier land. Both of these motives have merit. 

Beginning in 1660, the Virginia House of Burgesses enacted a series of Slave Codes 

meant not only to codify slavery in law but to cleave Virginia’s people of color from 



5 
 

many of their rights as British subjects.14 Virginia legislators enacted these laws in order 

to reinforce that colony’s burgeoning race-based African slave system with a hard color 

line that dispelled ambiguity and minimized the perceived threat of a slave uprising aided 

by Black freemen. Free people of color, seeing their rights slowly chiseled away via 

pressure brought by Tidewater slaveholders, undoubtedly saw the merit of removing to 

remote areas of the colonial frontier where slavery and government had lesser purchase. 

The colonial frontier also presented economic opportunity in the form of inexpensive and 

available land. When tobacco prices swelled during the mid-seventeenth century and 

arable land became more scarce, poor and middling colonists often looked to the colonial 

frontier to gain respite from rising land prices. Cognizant of the importance of land to 

their expanding colony, Jamestown’s African settlers, like other colonists, regularly 

bought and sold outlying land parcels. As the Virginia colony grew beyond the 

Jamestown peninsula, first-generation Africans and their descendants purchased newly-

opened Tidewater land along the York River, in the area of the Chesapeake Bay, and into 

Maryland. One might reasonably assume that free people of color continued acquiring 

new land as the frontier line expanded westward. 

I set out to find evidence of the relationship between these two hypotheses and the 

movement of free people of color into the frontier. I endeavored to trace the movement of 

free people of color beginning in the late seventeenth century when race-based laws 

emerged, and frontier expansion opened up new available land. I chose to follow the 

migration of families of color through the use of property and court records that 

collectively illustrated how, where, and when they moved. As I began tracking their 

movement from the late seventeenth century to the early eighteenth century, a different 
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picture emerged. I had expected to find free people of color dispersed across the frontier 

favoring areas that contained inexpensive land, and where they might have less 

interaction with structured government and the legal systems.  

I found instead a series of orchestrated movements made by concentrated groups 

of free people of color to very specific areas of the colonial frontier. These areas often did 

not contain the least expensive land. In fact, land records indicate that in order to locate 

themselves within these specific areas of concentration, many free people of color chose 

to purchase slightly more expensive land from private sellers. Free people of color made 

this choice despite the fact that the headright land grant system made more, and less 

expensive land available elsewhere.15 Unlike private land bought and sold at market 

value, Virginians could obtain headright land for no more than filing fees and the settler’s 

commitment to occupy and cultivate the land in question within a three-year period.16  

Headright land grants represented the least expensive means by which to obtain large 

parcels of land on the colonial frontier. Yet, groups of free people of color opted instead 

to purchase more expensive private land, ostensibly to locate themselves in very specific 

areas of the frontier. These areas must have possessed value to them. If so, what special 

value did these specific areas possess? 

Likewise, the movement of free people of color did not always take them further 

away from the reach of government as I had hypothesized. As I later illustrate in this 

study through the story of Gideon Gibson, migration sometimes placed free people of 

color in areas that increased their level of contact with the colonial government, as well 

as their visibility. As I pieced together the movement of the families of color I tracked, it 

became apparent that some force other than inexpensive land purchase and maintaining 
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distance from the colonial government drove their movement. These families moved in 

unison and, unlike frontier Whites who moved sporadically as cheaper or more 

productive land became available, their movement appeared to follow a discernable 

pattern.17 What unseen force directed the movement of groups of free people of color in 

unison to specific areas of the frontier during specific periods of time? 

I endeavored to gain a better understanding of this movement by further 

examining the areas where evidence indicated free people of color migrated to and 

concentrated within. What I discovered during that process informed the content and 

direction of this study. Evidence suggested that certain groups of free people of color 

located themselves among communities of individuals engaged in the trade between 

English colonists and Native Americans, also known as the Indian trade.18 As I took a 

step back and examined the location of the specific communities that these free people of 

color migrated to, it became apparent that their placement corresponded precisely with 

the geography of the Indian trade and its corresponding timeline. The evidence became 

clear: as political, economic, and environment factors shifted the geographic boundaries 

of the Indian trade, large groups of free people of color moved in unison with those 

boundary shifts. I further found that entire communities of free people of color undertook 

this movement. This suggests that these communities likely formed in order to support 

Indian trade activity. 

Native commerce constituted a potent colonial economic engine that generated 

wealth and status for many of its early participants. Trade between English colonists and 

Native nations commenced shortly after the arrival of the first British settlers in North 

America. Early English colonists first traded with the local Natives for necessities such as 
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corn. Within the first decade of colonial settlement, the Native-colonist trade evolved to 

include animal furs and skins that produced considerable income as an export 

commodity. The enormous economic value of the peltry trade significantly impacted the 

development of England’s colonial North American enterprise and profoundly shaped the 

future of Natives and colonists alike. The Indian trade provided the economic spark that 

allowed the colonies of Virginia and Carolina to reach permanency.  While historians 

generally agree on the importance of the Indian trade in terms of the role it played in the 

development of the southern colonies, scholars have paid less attention to the individuals 

who actually plied that trade along remote stretches of the southern colonial frontier. 

Perhaps because of this, a striking feature of the southern colonial Indian trade has gone 

unnoticed: free people of color comprised a large number of its participants. 

This thesis examines the role of free people of color in the colonial Indian trade in 

England’s southern American colonies, primarily Virginia and the Carolinas, from 

the1640s to that trade’s decline in the colonial southeast by the early 1770s.19 Free people 

of color not only participated in the Indian trade throughout the colonial period in 

substantial numbers, and sometimes became that trade’s principal actors. At a time when 

race-based laws and prohibitive social conditions emerged alongside the development of 

southern slave society, the Indian trade—operated largely by a colorful cast of 

adventurers who often worked outside the reach of colonial government—offered free 

people of color unparalleled opportunities for economic and social ascendancy in a world 

increasingly shut off to them due to the inhibiting matters that attended their race. This 

thesis additionally examines how the geography of the Indian trade provides a key for 
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understanding the movement of free people of color across the southern colonial frontier, 

as well as the isolated multi-racial communities they developed along their journey. 

In the first section of this study, I examine the presence of free people of color in 

the English colonial South. Increased scholarly inquiry surrounding Virginias’s early 

colonial free Black population beginning in the early twentieth century developed a 

picture of a resourceful, tightknit community that expressed agency and skillfully 

negotiated their place in a new world. Virginia’s early African immigrants quickly and 

effectively acclimated themselves to their new environment. These charter generation 

free Blacks developed successful alliances amongst themselves and with White 

Europeans that provided economic, social, and political benefit. The Atlantic Creoles 

who comprised the charter generation passed along their colonial savvy to subsequent 

generations of free people of color.20 Like their forefathers, free people of color in the 

late seventeenth century faced their own struggles as they attempted to make their way in 

an environment that became increasingly hostile to their race.  

Denied the opportunity to pursue the more traditional route of colonial economic 

ascendency as Tidewater planters, free people of color forged relationships with White 

Indian traders with whom they shared a similar hardscrabble background. The evidence 

suggests that these highly successful, symbiotic economic and social relationships often 

endured over generations and interlinked Black and White families along the frontier. 

The gumption, cultural savvy, and business acumen exhibited by Virginia’s early Black 

colonists rendered them excellent candidates for the Indian trade which required similar 

skills. Influential members of colonial Virginia’s governing elite who served as the 

Indian trade’s principal financial backers often employed Free people of color in their 
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trade operations. Through these relationships, free people of color gained powerful allies 

who helped to defend their rights as free men when required. 

In the second section of this study, I introduce the colonial Indian trade as it 

existed in England’s southern colonies: Virginia, the Carolinas, and Georgia. The Indian 

trade significantly affected the development of England’s colonial North American 

enterprise. In the English colonial South, Native commerce helped to support colonial 

expansion, solidified alliances with indigenous nations that checked Spanish and French 

territorial ambitions, and delivered a return on the investments made by Virginia’s 

powerful financial backers in the metropole. By the early eighteenth century, deerskins 

sourced from the Indian trade became the second most valuable export commodity in the 

southern colonies.21  I argue that during the southern Indian trade’s crucial early period, 

the economic, military, and political benefits it produced for colonial leaders and for 

imperial England far outweighed any considerations given to the social caste or ethnic 

makeup of its participants. As I examine, most of the leading figures in the southern 

colonial Indian trade came from the colonial periphery. In a world controlled by wealthy 

elites, hereditary power, and feudal institutions, the Indian trade became North America’s 

first real economic meritocracy. Along the often-dangerous trading paths of the colonial 

South, trust and ability trumped race and class. The Indian trade represented a space 

where free people of color found some semblance of economic and social equality. 

In the third section of this study, I examine frontier communities formed by 

Indian traders that contained populations of free people of color who participated in the 

Indian trade, directly and indirectly. Indian trade communities served as operational 

centers that provided logistical support for trade expeditions undertaken by Indian 
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traders. These expeditions often involved dozens of traders, hundreds of packhorses, and 

covered round-trip distances to distant Native trading villages of close to one thousand 

miles. A peripheral layer of laborers, horse handlers, tradesmen, and other supporting 

workers formed around Indian trade communities to provide support for these arduous 

trade journeys. Indian traders strategically positioned their trade communities at the 

foremost edge of primary trading paths and adjacent to navigable water courses below the 

Fall Line that facilitated the transportation of trade goods to Atlantic ports. I argue that 

these communities moved over time in unison with economic, environmental, and 

political shifts that altered relationships with Native trading partners and redrew the 

boundary lines of the geographic spaces Indian traders operated within. The degree of 

synchronicity between the placement and removal of these communities in response to 

the changing realities of the Indian trade offers evidence of their purpose. By additionally 

uncovering the social, economic and familial connections that underpinned colonial 

Indian trade communities, I illustrate an Indian trade continuum that connects Tidewater 

free Blacks to successive generations of free people of color who established isolated 

trade communities across disparate sections of the southern frontier over the course of a 

century. 

In the fourth section of this study, I examine a specific example of how one group 

of Indian traders of color responded to redrawn Indian trade boundaries with movement 

and thus conducted a migration that formed a new community of color in South Carolina 

in the 1730s. Gideon Gibson, a third-generation Indian trader of color, led this movement 

and formed the nucleus of the Indian trade community along the Pee Dee River in the 

South Carolina frontier. Gibson’s value as an Indian trader, as well as a key component to 
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South Carolina’s plans for colonial expansion, allowed him to permeate South Carolina’s 

otherwise impervious eighteenth-century color line. Gibson’s Pee Dee settlement 

thereafter became a catalyst for the migration of other free people of color. The 

community of free people of color that Gibson gathered became the largest of its kind in 

South Carolina by the nineteenth century. I argue that this community, as well as related 

enclaves of free people of color that branched off and spread up the Little Pee Dee River 

into the borderlands of North Carolina, developed as a result of the Indian trade. 
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2 Wesley Frank Craven, White, Red, and Black: The Seventeenth-Century Virginian 

(Richmond, VA.: University of Virginia Press, 1971; New York: W. W. Norton & 

Company, 1977), 85. Citations refer to the W. W. Norton & Company edition. 
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ten years at this time. Many of the early seventeenth-century Africans taken into the 

Virginia as servants on an ad hoc basis lacked formal indenture contracts. Evidence 

provided by early freedom lawsuits suggests that Africans servants may have experienced 

slightly higher service terms. For an exhaustive analysis of the indenture system in early 

colonial Virginia. See James Curtis Ballagh, White servitude in the Colony of Virginia: a 

study of the system of indentured labor in the American colonies (Baltimore: Johns 

Hopkins Press, 1895), and Warren M. Billings, “The Law of Servants and Slaves in 
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Oxford University Press, 2005), 68–69. Citations refer to the Oxford University Press 
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5 Proponents of the African colonization movement first put the term “free people of 

color” into use within their literature during the early nineteenth century. In an era where 
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“mulatto,” “quadroon,” “octaroon,” and “quintroon”), the term “free people of color” 

provided economy as a catchall phrase that for use in describing all. While the terms 

“free Black” or “free mulatto” might also describe the subjects of this paper, “free people 

of color” has more utility as a phrase. More recently, this term has expanded to 

encompass a wide variety of non-White ethnicities. Here and henceforth, I use this term 

in its original historical sense to refer specifically to the descendants of Virginia’s early 

free Black community. These individuals possessed various degrees of African ancestry. 

Most had some degree of White ancestry. A much smaller number had fractional Native 

American ancestry. Collectively, Virginia society viewed these individuals as Black and 

therefore “non-White” both in the eyes of and for the purposes of adjudicating colonial 

law. 

6 Ira Berlin, Many Thousands Gone: The First Two Centuries of Slavery in North 

America (1998; repr., Cambridge: Belknap Press of Harvard University, 2003), 46. 
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(New York: W.W. Norton & Company, Inc., 1975), 329–30. 

8 Warren M. Billings, The Old Dominion in the Seventeenth Century: A Documentary 

History of Virginia, 1606-1689 (Chapel Hill, NC.: University of North Carolina Press, 

1975), xi; Warren M. Billings, “The Cases of Fernando and Elizabeth Key: A Note on the 

Status of Blacks in Seventeenth-Century Virginia,” William and Mary Quarterly 30, no. 
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9 Berlin, Many Thousands Gone, 6–12. 

10 Geologists refer to the geographic area of low-lying coastal plain that extends along the 

Atlantic seaboard from southern Maryland and the Chesapeake Bay to northeastern North 

Carolina as the Tidewater region. The Tidewater region’s interior boundary extends to 

the Fall Line—the geographic boundary that separates North America’s piedmont and 

coastal plain regions. England restricted colonial settlement beyond the Fall Line until the 

Treaty of Middle Plantation in 1677. The Tidewater region therefore became associated 

with early colonial settlements. The region derives its name from the effect of changing 

tides on its watercourses. 

11 Tim Hashaw, The Birth of Black America: The First African Americans and the 

Pursuit of Freedom at Jamestown (New York: Carroll & Graf Publishers, 2007), 183. 

12 One example of the records left by free people of color in frontier areas comes from a 

1771 petition filed by free people of color in western Granville County, North Carolina, 

that addressed the unfavorable tax status afforded to their wives. Surnames linked to their 

Jamestown African forbearers such as Chavis, Bass and Gwin (Going) appear among the 
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signatories. See William L. Saunders, ed., The Colonial Records of North Carolina 

(Raleigh:  P. M. Hale, Printer to the State, 1888), 6:982–83. 

13 Hashaw, The Birth of Black America, 183. 

14 Thad W. Tate Jr., The Negro in Eighteenth Century Williamsburg (Williamsburg, VA.: 

Colonial Williamsburg, Inc., 1965), 4–8. 

15 The headright land grant system made newly-opened land available to individuals 

willing to populate unoccupied colonial land. The Virginia government awarded settlers 

who applied for headright land grants during this period fifty acres of land for every 

member of a settler’s household or “head” that would occupy the prospective land . See 

Fairfax Harrison, Virginia Land Grants: A Study of Conveyancing in Relation to Colonial 

Politics (Richmond, VA.: Old Dominion Press, 1925), 16, 35–37. 

16 Ibid., 39–40. 

17 French observer Alexis de Tocqueville famously commented on this frenetic land 

speculation and constant movement along the North American frontier during a later 

period in his work, De La Démocratie en Amérique (1835-1840). Rampant land 

speculation and lack of attachment to place in a way that might be more familiar to 

Europeans such as de Tocqueville had long been a feature of American frontier life. For 

further information on the culture surrounding colonial frontier land speculation and 

movement see Ray Allen Billington, “The Origin of the Land Speculator as a Frontier 

Type.” Agricultural History 19, no. 4 (October 1945): 204–12. 

18 Although I refer to the indigenous people within this study as “Natives,” and the 

English colonials as “colonists,” I have chosen to use the term “Indian trade” to refer to 

the commercial trade conducted between English colonists and individual Native nations. 
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The term “Indian trade” permeates the historiography. I chose not to use the term 

“Anglo-Indian trade”—a race-based binary term that excludes the non-White subjects of 

this thesis. 

19 This primarily includes the colonies of Virginia, Carolina (later South Carolina and 

North Carolina), and, to a lesser extent, Maryland (the early Chesapeake trade), and later 

Georgia. 

20 Ira Berlin argues that the charter generation—Africans that arrived on American shores 

between 1619 and roughly 1660—represented a distinct group whose experience as 

Atlantic Creoles, individuals who circulated in-between African, European, and 

Caribbean worlds, provided them with the ability to better navigate the British North 

American colonial landscape. See Berlin, Many Thousands Gone, 29–46. 

21 Verner W. Crane, The Southern Frontier: 1670-1732 (Durham, NC.: Duke University 

Press, 1928), 110–11. 
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CHAPTER 1: FREE PEOPLE OF COLOR 

 

This chapter examines the conditions that gave rise to free people of color as a 

distinct legal and social group in seventeenth-century Virginia: from the arrival and 

subsequent economic and social integration of their African immigrant forebearers into 

Virginia’s yeoman class, to their marginalization following the emergence of the race-

based laws that accompanied the rise of slavery. The freedom status afforded to free 

Blacks prior the rise of race-based chattel slavery provided many with enough social and 

economic mobility to elevate themselves out of servitude. Free Blacks often conducted 

the journey from servant to colonial freeholder alongside similarly-situated White 

servants with whom they shared common cause and developed abiding economic and 

social relationships. When those relationships became sexually intimate and produced bi-

racial offspring, a new racial class of colonist emerged: free people of color.  

Free people of color initially utilized their indeterminate legal status to boost 

themselves into the Virginia yeomanry. Throughout the seventeenth century, free people 

of color owned land, undertook lawsuits against Whites in Virginia courts, and sustained 

themselves economically in a manner similar to other working-class colonists. Early 

seventeenth-century Virginia law lacked many of the racial distinctions that accompanied 

the late-seventeenth century rise of race-based chattel slavery. Colonial authorities leery 

of the potential threat free people of color presented to Virginia’s burgeoning slave 

society eventually acted to curb their rights. This, however, occurred after a considerable 

number of free people of color established themselves, both socially and economically, 

beyond Virginia’s increasingly rigid color line. 
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1.1: ARRIVAL 

 

An all too familiar letter from John Rolfe to Sir Edwin Sandys provided the first 

documentary evidence for the existence of Black Africans at Jamestown. Rolfe’s letter 

described the arrival of “20. and odd Negroes” in “the later part of August” in 1619.1 

Captain John Smith later recollected this event in his personal diary.2 Generations of 

scholars dutifully documented the arrival of these first permanent Black African settlers 

in English colonial North America.3 As Wesley Frank Craven observed centuries later, 

over time the arrival and presence of the Africans in the Virginia colony became “so well 

established that no author bothers to burden his text with a footnote.”4 As the 400th 

anniversary of the African’s arrival approached, scholars responded  with a spate of 

scholarship centered upon this seminal event in American history. This new scholarship 

included the widely-recognized 1619 Project launched by the New York Times.5 Yet, for 

all the attention given to the 1619 arrival date, scholars know little about what became of 

the “20. and odd Negroes” who disembarked on Virginia soil that year, and even less 

about what became of their descendants.  

Many early scholars simply assumed that slavery brusquely overtook the 

descendants of Virginia’s early seventeenth-century free Blacks when that institution 

became an irresistible force in Virginia. Recent scholarship, however, has presented a 

different and more nuanced picture. Scholars such as Timothy Breen and Stephen Innes 

in Myne Owne Ground: Race and Freedom on Virginia’s Eastern Shore, 1640-1676 

(1980) and Walter Milteer in North Carolina’s Free People of Color 1715-1885 (2020) 

illustrated how free Blacks often found higher degrees of freedom by banding together in 

communities. In The Road to Black Ned’s Forge: A Story of Race, Sex, and Trade on the 
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Colonial American Frontier (2014), Turk McCleskey additionally demonstrated how free 

people of color could gain acceptance in White society by producing economic value 

through the practice of certain high-value occupations, especially along the less codified 

colonial frontier. 

Virginia’s first Black immigrants arrived at a dire time when able-bodied 

colonists, regardless of race, commanded value. During this time, the English had not yet 

developed a stable colony in North America. England’s early colonial exploits in the New 

World had proved disastrous. The failed Roanoke expedition in 1587 resulted in the loss 

of all 115 colonists.6 Although many English leaders doubted the efficacy of supporting 

additional North American colonial adventures, the quest for New World riches, as well 

as the need to check French and Spanish colonial ambitions, propelled England forward. 

In 1607, the newly-formed Virginia Company commissioned three ships to carry 104 

settlers across the Atlantic to form a permanent settlement they named Jamestown. Ill 

prepared, over half of the colonists perished within the first year.7 

The surviving English colonists mostly relied upon trade with local Native 

nations, such as the Powhattan, for provisions. When tensions increased between settlers 

and Natives, the trade for food ended. This initiated a gloomy phase of Jamestown history 

known as “The Starving Time.” During this period, the colony lost approximately eighty-

percent of its settlers.8 Recent evidence suggests that conditions became dire enough for 

some settlers to turn to cannibalism.9 Fortunes improved in 1610 with the arrival of a new 

governor who brought fresh provisions and 150 new immigrants.10 Although the colonists 

reached an uneasy truce with their Native neighbors to restore the trade for food and 

stabilize the colony, disease and lack of experience producing agriculture in an unfamiliar 
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climate presented major challenges. As the first Africans arrived in Virginia, they entered 

a beleaguered colony weakened by mismanagement, political-infighting, starvation, and 

the near-constant threat of Native attacks. In this dreadful state, the colony benefitted 

from the addition of 20 able-bodied immigrants. John Rolfe only casually noted the 

African’s race upon their arrival; the Virginians simply integrated them into their colony 

as the first of their kind in English North America without fanfare or further elaboration 

in colonial records. 

English experiences with Africans likely also played a role in their unremarkable 

introduction into Virginia. The English people had prior interaction with Africans. 

Historian Martha Warren Beckwith posited that Africans appeared in modern England as 

early as 1440.11  In her pioneering work, Black Tudors: The Untold Story (2008), 

Miranda Kaufmann found evidence of the presence of at least 360 Africans in early 

Renaissance England.12 Historian Imtiaz Habib found various evidence of Blacks 

residing in England as servants, musicians, and mercenaries throughout the sixteenth 

century, thus constituting a sizeable but unrecognized Black presence in the early modern 

period.13 The existence of Blacks in England at that time mostly resulted from the efforts 

of King James I of England to expand England’s global horizons. Upon his ascension to 

the English throne in 1603, James endeavored to create a more cosmopolitan atmosphere 

in the English court.14 James believed that England had become overly provincial under 

his predecessor, Queen Elizabeth I, and therefore lacked the global awareness needed to 

compete with other European powers in newly discovered parts of the world. James saw 

the gains made by England’s Portuguese and Spanish rivals in Africa and the Americas 

and sought to open his insular kingdom to new cultures.15 In order to develop new 
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political and commercial ties within Africa, James invited Black West African dignitaries 

into his court in a manner consistent with how the courts of southern Europe welcomed 

them.16 

Africa and Africans became curiosities that appeared in early seventeenth century 

English popular culture. Shakespeare’s Othello, written about 1603, featured a Moorish 

army general who married Desdemona, a wealthy White Venetian woman.17 Shakespeare 

cast Othello as a tragic figure whose rash actions at least partially stemmed from the 

perceived limitations of his race. Never-the-less, Shakespeare also styled Othello as an 

affluent and intelligent individual who his seventeenth-century male audience could at 

least partially relate to. Othello’s bi-racial marriage ended when he succumbed to the 

influence of the play’s antagonist, Iago, and murdered Desdemona in a jealous rage. 

Thus, Othello exhibited the stereotypical passions and barbarity Englishmen of this 

period prejudicially associated with non-Christian Moors. Yet, Othello also elicited 

sympathy. If not for the intrigue of the envious Iago, Othello and Desdemona might have 

continued their blissful interracial marriage. Othello reinforced English stereotypes 

regarding “blackness” while simultaneously opening English minds to the possibility of 

Africans as civilized and capable human beings. 

Englishmen during the Elizabethan era also encountered Africans in the military. 

African mercenaries, often prized for their fighting ability, occasionally served in the 

private military forces of English and Scottish nobles.18 Some Black soldiers ascended to 

positions of status. Lord Protector Edward Seymour, Duke of Somerset, listed a 

gentleman styled “Sir Peter Negro” among the list of knights and nobles he cited for 
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special honors following England’s decisive victory over Scotland at the Battle of Pinkie 

Cleugh in 1547.19 

As England’s fascination with exploration and the wider world grew during the 

late sixteenth century, English writers such as Richard Hakluyt published popular works 

that extolled the wonders of exotic cultures and fired the imaginations of would-be 

explorers such as future Jamestown leader Captain John Smith.20 In 1600, Hakluyt 

sponsored the publication of an English translation of Leo Africanus's A Geographical 

Historie of Africa (1550).21 This 984-page description of Africa provided inquisitive 

Englishman, such as Smith, with their first glimpse of African culture. Angolans made up 

the bulk of charter generation African immigrants in Virginia during this time.22 

Africanus spoke at length about Angola’s dealings with the Portuguese and generally 

portrayed them, in comparison to other African nations, as civilized and acclimated to 

dealing with Europeans.23 Africanus also considered the Angolans mostly 

Christianized.24 Nevertheless, Africanus exhibited the keystones of racial prejudice 

against Black Africans in his writing.25 Africanus viewed Africans, specifically sub-

Saharan Africans, collectively as a crude and barbarous people whose skin tone reflected 

their supposed dark and unenlightened nature. Likewise, many sixteenth-century English 

writers used the word “fair” to describe both light skin and virtue saw the opposite in 

dark skin.26 Yet, the English encountered all manners of “barbarous” peoples during the 

seventeenth century as they traversed the globe, developed trade, and colonized new 

lands. The colonists learned through their experience with Native Americans that they 

could forge mutually-beneficial relationships with others, even “barbarous” people the 

English viewed as their inferiors. 
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Despite often unflattering descriptions of Black Africans and the general disfavor 

surrounding blackness in sixteenth-century England, the English harbored no particular 

animosity towards Black people themselves.27 John Blanke, a Black musician, served in 

the courts of Henry VII and Henry VIII of England and earned wages that exceeded most 

servants and agricultural workers of his day.28 When Blanke married a White woman, 

Henry VIII paid for the wedding.29 Famed English Explorer Sir Francis Drake employed 

a former Spanish slave named Diego as an advisor, guide, and interpreter. Drake valued 

Diego highly enough to name a fort he constructed in the Americas, Fort Diego, after 

him.30 Diego accompanied Drake on his voyages to Africa and South America and 

resided in Plymouth, England when not at sea.31 A Portuguese prisoner taken by Drake 

reported that Drake’s fleet contained other former Black slaves with at least one who 

claimed that he had “made a contract with Francis Drake” and thus worked for Drake as a 

wage-earning member of his crew despite his former condition.32  English explorers who 

initially ventured into Africa saw Black Africans simply as people strikingly different 

from themselves.33 The Black Africans who arrived in Virginia during the early 

seventeenth century represented merely another example of the many different types of 

people circulating into the English world during this age of exploration and contact 

between disparate cultures. 

In the absence of slavery, the English lacked the impetus for developing a legal 

color line such as those adopted by European slave nations such as Portugal’s 

Ordenações Manuelinas or the later Dutch East India Ordinances (1622).34 English law 

treated Black servants no differently than White servants during the early seventeenth 

century. Richard Jobson summed up the opinion of many Englishmen in 1623 when he 
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responded to a solicitation to purchase slaves: “We were a people, who did not deal in 

any such commodities, neither did we buy or sell one another or any that had our owne 

shapes.”35 Despite such platitudes, the English eventually became substantially engaged 

in the African slave trade, albeit much later than other European colonial powers and well 

after the arrival of the first generation of Africans in Virginia. 

England’s most notable attempt to effect racial classification in law during the 

early modern period came in the form of an open letter issued to the English Parliment by 

Queen Elizebeth I of England. Elizabeth’s letter, which see wrote in 1596, stated her 

desire to see “divers blackmores brought into this realm” “deported.”36 Elizabeth clarified 

her intentions with a second letter issued in 1601. In that letter, Elizabeth specifically 

ordered the deportation of “blackmores” considered “infidels, having no understanding of 

Christ or his Gospel.” 37 Many of England’s Black residents simply claimed Christian 

conversion to avoid the letter of the law. Thus, Elizabeth’s edict ultimately succeded in 

removing very few Blacks from England.38 At the time, the English viewed one’s 

religious status, not race, as the benchmark to judge “otherness.” In the words of 

theologian Rufus Burrow, “one learns to be a racist.”39 The English had no prior 

experience in Africa as colonizers and had not yet developed a domineering attitude 

toward Africans. England established its first permanent settlement on the African 

continent at James Island in the Gambia River decades later in 1661.40 Notwithstanding 

English notions regarding their superiority over all cultures, the English people as a 

whole simply lacked the reason to develop specifically hard attitudes toward Black 

Africans. 
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Most importantly for the arriving Africans, English law did not recognize 

slavery.41 When race-based slavery became firmly entrenched in Virginia during the 

latter half of the seventeenth century, slaveholders weaponized racial distinctions to 

justify African enslavement. Throughout the long history of enslavement, societies 

tended to enslave outsiders.42 By branding enslaved Black Africans as outsiders, 

Virginia’s slave holders established a rationale for their debasement. Prior to the 

widespread establishment of racial slavery as Virginia’s dominant system of labor, 

Virginia leaders had no compelling motive to reinforce distinctions and accentuate 

division between Whites and Blacks. After the establishment of racial slavery, Virginia 

leaders feared the development of sympathy for slaves among similarly-situated poor 

Whites and acted to create more pronounced racial separation. 

Late seventeenth-century Virginia slave holders had reason to fear a bi-racial 

alliance among the lower ranks of Virginia society. In 1676, Black and White bonded 

servants revolted together against the planter establishment during Bacon’s Rebellion.43 

Racial slavery’s color line created a wedge that disrupted that nascent Black-White 

servant alliance. With the creation of a new enslaved class occupied by Black Africans, 

Virginia leaders elevated White servants out of the bottom rung of Virgina society—a 

position they had once shared with Black servants. Racial slavery additionally provided 

White servants with a new means to achieve economic ascendancy. Enterprising White 

servants imagined that they too might enter the planter class with the acquisition of land 

and a few slaves. Thus, poor and middling Whites replaced the common dreams they 

once shared with similarly-situated Black servants with a new form of self-interest. By 

the close of the seventeenth century, White Virginians from across the socio-economic 
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strata coalesced around race. A series of race-based laws passed Virginia leaders 

beginning in 1662 established a hard color line that served as the bulwark to reinforce 

racial slavery.44 Thereafter, Black Virginians became that society’s outsiders. At the time 

of the arrival of the first Africans in Jamestown, however, Virginia’s Black settlers 

prospered in an environment less oriented around race. 

Early Virginia—an outpost on the edge of the English empire that attracted a wide 

variety of fortune seekers—possessed a cosmopolitan character that aided the 

acclamation of foreigners such as the Africans. Although Englishmen comprised the 

majority of the colony’s inhabitants, Jamestown also contained a substantial number of 

non-English residents. The second supply of colonists to Jamestown included eight 

Germans and Poles and a number of Dutch settlers.45  Over the next decade, settlers from 

a variety of ethnic backgrounds followed. Colonist Albiono Lupo, a musician, came from 

a family of Sephardic Jews who immigrated to England from the Iberian Peninsula.46 

Albiono Lupo’s brothers, Peter and William, joined him in 1621.47 George Sandys wrote 

in his diary in 1623 about the presence of Italians among passengers aboard a ship bound 

for Jamestown.48 Sixteen of the Italian settlers constructed a glass works in 1621.49 The 

1624/25 Jamestown census noted the presence of Irish and Scottish settlers.50 Native 

Americans, some residing in Jamestown as servants or mission converts, became 

omnipresent in Jamestown society. As a busy port exchanging trade goods with other 

British colonies in the New World, diverse elements of transatlantic culture frequented 

Jamestown, including Black sailors.51 The population of Jamestown, like many English 

port cities reflected England’s increasing contact with various cultures during the early 

modern period. 
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The precarious position of the Virginia colony, its diverse makeup, and 

nonchalant English attitudes regarding Black persons in general, all helped to shape the 

environment that greeted Virginia’s early seventeenth-century Black Africans. For many 

years, scholars lacked insight into how the African’s origins additionally aided their 

acceptance in Virginia. In 1992, historian Engel Sluiter uncovered documentary evidence 

that illuminated the specific origins of Virginia’s first Black colonists. While conducting 

research at Spain’s Archivo Histórico Nacional, Sluiter discovered seventeenth-century 

maritime insurance documents that detailed the voyage the São João Batista—a Spanish 

slave ship that Sluiter uncovered as the vessel that transported the “20. and odd” 

Jamestown Africans to the New World.52 According to those documents, the São João 

Bautista had originally departed from Sao Paulo de Loanda, the capital of the Portuguese 

colony of Angola.53 

Sluiter’s groundbreaking discovery sparked the curiosity of James Thornton and 

Linda Heyward—historians specializing in Africa, and the study of sixteenth-seventeenth 

century Portuguese Colonization along Africa’s west coast. Thornton, in his 1998 article 

entitled “The African Experience of the ‘20. and Odd Negroes’ Arriving in Virginia in 

1619,” posited that the first Africans brought into Virginia where prisoners of war 

captured by the Portuguese in the highlands of Angola and then sold to coastal slave 

merchants who intended to export them to Mexico.54  Thornton and Heyward delved into 

the African origins of Virginia’s first Black settlers further in their more exhaustive 

monograph, Central Africans, Atlantic Creoles, and the Foundation of the Americas, 

1585-1660 (2007). In that work, Thornton and Heyward established that the “20. and 

odd” Africans, along with the majority of Africans introduced into Virginia during the 
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first half of the seventeenth century, originated from the Ndongo kingdom, a large vassal 

state of the Kingdom of Kongo, in an area of west central Africa that later became part of 

Portuguese Angola.55 

 The Ndongo formed part of the Mbundu ethnolinguistic group that dominated 

present-day north-central Angola. The Ndongo had a monetary system, along with a 

centralized government that levied taxes, collected tolls, coordinated road maintenance, 

and maintained a sizeable army.56 Many Ndongo people lived in urbanized settings. The 

Ndongo, like all Mbundu peoples, excelled at raising cattle. The Ndongo also practiced 

advanced metallurgy and produced high-quality iron tools and weapons.57 Portuguese 

explorer Diogo Cão made the first European contact with Ndongo people in the late 

fifteenth century.58 By the time the São João Batista sailed with its African captives, the 

Ndongo had lived and traded with Europeans for several decades.59 

The Kingdom of Kongo had long-established ties to Portugal and Christianity. 

Nzinga a Nkuwu, the overarching Kongolese ruler of the Mbundu people, forged 

diplomatic relations with Portugal during the late fifteenth century.  Thereafter, the courts 

of Nzinga a Nkuwu and João II of Portugal exchanged diplomats. The Portuguese later 

constructed trade outposts along the Angolan coast. By 1488, the success of these trade 

sites led the Portuguese to employed Mbundu intermediaries to solicit commerce with 

other nations along the west coast of Africa.60  Portuguese Catholic missionaries arrived 

soon after the two nations established diplomatic ties.61 On May 3, 1491, Nzinga a 

Nkuwu converted to Christianity and took the Christian-Portuguese name “João I”.62 

Thereafter, Christianity slowly spread throughout Kongo and its vassal states including 
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Ndongo.63 Portuguese Jesuit missionaries reported widespread conversion efforts 

throughout most of Portuguese-occupied coastal Angola by 1540.64  

Portuguese missionaries established schools throughout the Kingdom of Kongo 

following the conversion of Nzinga a Nkuwu.65 These schools brought Kongolese 

children into Christianity and taught them the Portuguese language. Evidence of the 

Christianization of Jamestown’s early Africans presents itself in the many Christian 

forenames possessed by Blacks present in the 1624/25 Jamestown census.66 Many of 

these Christianized Africans additionally adopted Portuguese surnames—an indication of 

the creolization that took place as the two cultures traded, mingled, and cohabitated along 

the Angolan coast.67 One of the earliest Kongolese Christian converts, a nobleman known 

as Kasuta, took the Christian forename “João” and the Portuguese surname, “da Silva.”68 

The widespread use of Portuguese surnames among Virginia’s sixteenth-century free 

Blacks such as Chavis, Francisco, and Driggus (Rodriguez)  may have stemmed from this 

cultural melding.69 Newly-arrived Africans in Virginia likely accentuated their Christian-

Portuguese identity once they ascertained that English law afforded favorable treatment 

to “civilized” Christians. Until 1667, English law prohibited the enslavement of 

Christians, irrespective of race.70 Thus, the prior Christianization of the Angolans 

inadvertently exposed a favorable loophole in English law—one that allowed Virginia’s 

early Black immigrants to enjoy some element of legal protection as fellow Christians. 

The favorable treatment extended to Virginia’s Christianized Black colonists 

continued through most of the seventeenth century. As African slavery took root in 

English North American toward the mid-seventeenth century, colonial authorities based 

their justification of slavery around religious and cultural distinctions and not race.71 In 
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1667, an enslaved man, known only as Fernando in Virginia court records, petitioned 

Lower Norfolk County court for freedom from servitude “for his lifetime.”72 Fernando 

asserted his status as “a Christian” who “had been several yeares in England.”73 The court 

additionally noted that Fernando had produced documents to support his claim. The court 

clerk, however, stated that Fernando’s documents appeared written “in Portugell” and he 

therefore could not verify their authenticity. There exists no record  of the final 

dispensation of Fernando’s case. Fernando’s defense strategy, however, reveals that as 

late as this time, enslaved individuals still placed reliance upon their status as Christians 

to achieve freedom in Virginia under English law.74 In September 1667, the Virginia 

House of Burgesses acted affirmatively to shut off this pathway to freedom by enacting 

legislation that ended the ability of enslaved Blacks to sue for freedom based on their 

Christian status.75 The new law greatly curbed the ability of enslaved individuals to 

secure freedom and join the ranks of Virginia’s free Blacks. This, however, had little 

effect on the overall growth of Virginia’s free Black population. By 1667, established 

free Black families had passed into their second and third generations, thus steadily 

increasing the size of Virginia’s free Black population by natural increase. 

 

1.2: SUSTAINED EXISTENCE 
 

The “20. and odd” Africans brought to Virginia represented the vanguard of the 

free Black population that developed in Virginia over the course of the early seventeenth 

century.  Evidence suggests that many, if not all, of the Africans brought into Virginia in 

1619 survived long enough to create a sustained Black population that continued to grow 

into the later part of the seventeenth century. The Second Anglo-Powhatan War (1622) 
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erupted shortly after the arrival of the first Africans and subsequently killed roughly a 

third of Virginia’s colonists. No Black colonists appear on the lists taken of the dead —an 

indication that the original lot of “20. and odd” Africans survived past this catastrophic 

event that killed approximately one-quarter of the population of the Virginia colony.76 

Tim Hashaw, in The Birth of Black America: The First African Americans and The 

Pursuit of Freedom at Jamestown (2007), speculated that Virginia’s Black colonists may 

have avoided slaughter due to the familiarity they developed with the Powhatan through 

frequent small-scale trade.77 For whatever reason the Powhatan spared Black colonists, 

their population survived the massacre and endured into the 1620s. Twenty-three Black 

colonists appeared in the census taken in Jamestown 1624/1625, indicating that 

Virginia’s Black population grew slightly during this otherwise calamitous period.78 

Virginia’s free Black population additionally expanded through the steady arrival 

of Blacks transported into the colony as part of  Virginia’s headright land grant system. 

Virginia’s headright land grant applications illustrate the sporadic arrival of additional 

Black colonists between 1620 and 1650.79 Some of these Black immigrants may have 

arrived as the result of privateering operations in a manner similar to the first Africans.80 

Historians Linda Heywood and John Thornton have argued that privateering played a 

substantial role in populating the first generation of Africans in Virginia.81 This argument 

provides a key to understanding how many of Virginia’s African immigrants acclimated 

so quickly to colonial life. Black prisoners captured by English or Dutch privateers from 

Portuguese and Spanish vessels came from a variety of backgrounds. Black captives 

taken by privateers may have included free Black sailors who had already acclimated to 

life among Europeans.82 
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Other Black immigrants may have trickled in from the English colony of 

Barbados where enslaved Africans began to appear as early as 1627.83 Some Blacks 

arrived directly from England alongside White English servants. John Pedro, listed as “a 

Neger" in the 1625 census, arrived in 1623 with a group of white English servants from 

England aboard the Swan.84 Wealthy merchant George Mynifie obtained 3,000 acres of 

bounty land for the transportation of sixty persons into the colony in 1635, including 

twenty-three “negroes I brought out of England with me.”85 The majority of headright 

claims involving Black transportees listed no associated origin. Captain Henry Browne 

imported four Black men, : “Mingo”, “Fr.”, “Franc.”, and “Jon.,” along with “two negro 

women.”86 John Upton obtained bounty land in July 1635 for the transportation of thirty-

three persons, including two individuals, “Antho.” and “Mary” noted as “Negroe.”87 

William Ewins imported twenty-two persons in 1643 including: “Michaell a negroe, 

Katherine his wife, John Grasheare a negroe, Matthew a negroe.”88 In 1638, William 

Banister redeemed a headright grant purchased from George Downes that included an 

award for the transport of twenty persons including “Bas a Negar.”89 In total, 562 Blacks 

entered the Virginia colony prior to 1660.90 These Black immigrants and their offspring 

added to Virginia’s small but growing Black population at a time prior to the legal 

codification of slavery. 

Over the centuries that followed the arrival of Virginia’s first Black immigrants, 

Scholars have debated their status within the colony. Many early scholars argued that 

Virginia’s early seventeenth-century Black population experienced some form of de facto 

enslavement prior the legal codification of slavery in Virginia in 1662.91 Hugh Jones 

demonstrated this line of thinking in perhaps the first historical work that mentioned the 
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presence of free Blacks in colonial Virginia. In The Present State of Virginia (1724), 

Jones cast doubt on the ability of Blacks to maintain a meaningful existence as free men 

by exclaiming: “when they are free, they know not how to provide so well for 

themselves.”92 Jones made a clear implication: even if the law allowed for their freedom, 

Black colonists could not sustain their existence as free individuals and, therefore, 

naturally drifted into ever-extended periods of servitude before haplessly becoming 

engulfed by slavery. Writing during the eighteenth century when “Black” had become 

synonymous with “slave” in the minds of many Whites, early chroniclers of Virginia’s 

seventeenth-century Black population, most like Jones who sympathized with slavery, 

left little or no room for the meaningful existence of free Black colonists. 

The substantial presence of free Blacks during the early days of the Virginia 

colony, as well as the fact that many became as successful as their White neighbors, 

additionally challenged one of the core justifications used by southern slaveholders to 

support African slavery: the notion of inherent Black inferiority and the need for 

paternalistic control by Whites. In an effort to use history to reinforce contemporary 

white supremacy, many early southern historians simply reduced all seventeenth-century 

Black Virginia immigrants to slaves, by law or custom. This prevailing narrative among 

early Southern historians sadly stymied the investigation of colonial free Blacks and 

caused a lack of curiosity regarding the disposition of their descendants. For many years, 

scholars viewed Virginia’s early seventeenth-century free Blacks as nothing more than a 

small and insignificant anomaly who collectively achieved little. 

During the Antebellum period, the national debate surrounding Slavery largely 

shaped scholarship on Virginia’s first African settlers. Southern scholars—the 
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predominate chroniclers of early Virginia history during this time—remained staunch 

supporters of the degraded position of Virginia’s Black colonists from their first arrival, 

thus supporting slavery apologists who viewed slavery as the natural, preordained 

condition for Africans. 

Scholars with a more favorable disposition towards the Black race did little better. 

Richard Hildreth, a nineteenth-century historian and abolitionist, made no mention of 

Virginia’s seventeenth-century free Black colonists when he attempted to illustrate 

Southern race animus and the brutality of plantation slavery. For Hildreth, the Africans 

who arrived in 1619 came into Virginia not as “indentured servants for a term of years 

but as slaves for life.”93 Pioneering Black historian George Washington Williams argued 

that slavery existed “without any sanction of law” beginning with the arrival of the first 

Africans in Virginia.94 Likewise, a treatise on Black American history produced by The 

American Colonization Society, Claims of the Africans: or, History of the American 

Colonization Society (1832), simply made the assumption that every African transported 

into the British colonies became enslaved upon arrival.95 While scholar James W. C. 

Pennington decried “we suffer much from the want of the collection of historical facts,” 

his work, A Textbook of the Origin and History of the Colored People (1841) contained 

no account of Virginia’s seventeenth-century free Blacks.96 Edward A. Johnson devoted 

only a single paragraph to Virginia’s early colonial black population in his work, History 

of the Negro Race in America from 1619 to 1880 (1890).97 In the over two hundred years 

that passed between the arrival of British North America’s first permanent African 

colonists in 1619 and the American Civil War (1861), scholars had mostly downplayed or 

ignored Virginia’s seventeenth-century free Black population. 
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The end of the Civil War and Emancipation offered little respite from these 

attitudes. Many southern scholars renewed and doubled-down on the old pro-slavery 

arguments that cast Blacks as incapable inferiors as a way of protesting the presence of 

freedman among them.98 Sweeping judgements made by many pre-twentieth-century 

scholars regarding the legal status of Blacks ignored the personal circumstances, local 

variations, and nuance that contributed to the differing freedom conditions experienced 

by Virginia’s seventeenth-century Blacks. 

Philip Alexander Bruce, a Virginia historian with strong Lost Cause sentiments, 

produced the most detailed study of seventeenth-century Black Virginians in Economic 

History of Virginia in the Seventeenth Century (1896).99 Although Bruce dismissed all 

seventeenth-century Blacks as slaves and went to great lengths to disparage Blacks 

throughout his work, he conducted a thorough examination of primary source records and 

diligently, if inaccurately, attempted to divine importation figures for the number of 

Africans brought into Virginia during the first half of the seventeenth century. Despite his 

attention to detail, Bruce failed to comment on instances Black colonial property 

ownership or other evidence of freedom present in the source documents he had so 

meticulously consulted. 

At the dawn of the twentieth century, James C. Ballagh challenged the prevailing 

scholarship on servitude and slavery in the early colonial period. After a careful 

examination of documentary evidence, Ballagh found a level of detail other scholars had 

ignored. Ballagh proposed that “Negro and Indian servitude…preceded negro and Indian 

slavery.”100 Thus, Ballagh introduced a new historical layer to the Black experience in 

seventeenth-century Virginia. He regarded servitude, and not lifelong slavery, as the early 
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seventeenth-century norm. In his dissertation, White Servitude in the Colony of Virginia 

(1895), Ballagh argued that early seventeenth-century Black and White indentured 

servants shared a similar legal status.101 Ballagh additionally found that all forms of 

colonial servitude stemmed from a common thread; he broke away from scholars such as 

Bruce and Lyon G. Tyler by arguing for the interconnected nature of colonial servitude, 

including that of White indentured servants, as part of an overarching progression that 

formed the pathway to Virginia’s slave society.102 Here, Ballagh additionally laid 

important groundwork for the future study of interracial interaction among colonial 

servants. For Ballagh, slavery did not simply appear and immediately take hold; slavery 

had gradually developed over time. By retarding slavery’s introduction on the timeline of 

the colonial Black experience, Ballagh overturned a century of scholarly dogma and 

created space for the investigation of the pre-slavery condition of Black colonial 

Virginians.103 

John Henderson Russell, a student of Ballagh, built upon Ballagh’s diligent and 

pioneering work.104 Unlike Ballagh, who generally focused upon servitude, Russell 

specifically focused on free Blacks. Russell produced the first comprehensive monograph 

on Virginia’s free Blacks: The Free Negro in Virginia (1913). In this groundbreaking 

work, Russell furthered Ballagh’s argument for the late development of slavery by 

providing a deeper analysis on both the legal and customary basis for slavery. In doing 

so, Russell cited evidence for a gradual transition from Black servitude to Black slavery, 

1640-1662.105 Russell investigated court, parish, and property records and uncovered 

numerous free Blacks who had successfully exited servitude to become land owners, with 

some of them reaching moderate levels of prosperity. Russell devoted an entire chapter of 
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his work to “the origin of the free negro class.”106 In that chapter’s opening, Russell 

addressed the “misconceptions” present in prior scholarship that he hoped to correct. The 

first misconception, Russell argued, stemmed from the belief that all Africans entering 

Virginia during the early colonial period “were from the very outset regarded and held as 

slaves for life.”107 Russell additionally challenged the longstanding opinion held by many 

scholars that all Africans who entered Virginia could only achieve freedom through 

emancipation, thus tethering all early free Blacks to slavery.108 Russell found this 

misconception particularly damaging because it had caused scholars to turn a blind eye to 

the many free Blacks who never experienced enslavement in Virginia.109 

Russell also found nuance in the interactions free Blacks had with Virginia’s legal 

institutions. He presented the 1653 case of John Casor in order to demonstrate how some 

black servants found freedom and relative success in mid-seventeenth century Virginia 

while others fell into the dreadful advance of enslavement. Casor, a Black indentured 

servant, claimed that his master, Anthony Johnson, held him illegally past his term of 

indenture.110 Johnson, a free Black man, successful planter, and a cattle breeder who 

owned 250 acres of land, possessed five servants including Casor, along with four 

Whites.111 A neighboring planter, John Parker, convinced Casor to flee Johnson so that 

Casor might serve him instead. Johnson subsequently filed suit against Parker in 

Northampton County, Virginia, to gain Casor’s return. Johnson disputed Casor’s 

accusation; he claimed that he held Casor “for his life.”112 After initially finding for 

Parker, the court later reversed its judgment and ordered Parker to return Casor to 

Johnson.113 Thus, the case of John Casor presents evidence that local Virginia courts 

during this time prior to the legal codification of slavery sometimes recognized lifetime 
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servitude as a possible condition for Black servants. Yet, at the same time, the Casor case 

illustrates how Johnson, a prosperous free Black planter, used Virginia’s court system to 

successfully sue a White neighbor and gain the return of a servant he claimed as his 

property. The stark disparity between the lives of Casor and Johnson, both Black Virginia 

colonists, reinforces Russell’s and Ballagh’s arguments for the disjointed and uneven 

application of slavery among Black Virginia servants during this period of transition. 

Ballagh and Russell showed the variability in the Black experience in mid-seventeenth 

century Virginia; some Black Virginians experienced lifetime servitude while others 

remained free. 

One explanation for the differing treatment of Africans in Virginia during the first 

half of the seventeenth century comes from the presence of individuals previously 

enslaved by foreign nations and then sold as slaves to Virginia buyers. Although England 

did not explicitly engage in the African slave trade until 1663, Virginia planters 

sometimes purchased Black slaves from foreign merchants. In 1659, the Virginia General 

Assembly moved to encourage this practice in order to address labor shortages. In that 

year, the Virginia Assembly granted special export privileges to Dutch traders and “all 

strangers of what Xpian nation soever in amity with the people of England” who 

exchanged African slaves for Virginia tobacco.114 The Second Anglo-Dutch War (1665-

1667), as well as the introduction of the Second Navigation Act (1660), hampered the 

effort to encourage the purchase of enslaved African from the Dutch.115 Yet, some 

Virginia planters had established relationships with Dutch slave traders by this time and 

regularly conducted clandestine trade. In 1655, a wealthy Virginia planter travelled to 

Manhattan in order to purchase a group of slaves from Dutch merchants.116 Enslaved 
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Blacks purchased from foreign slave traders and then brought into Virginia had no claim 

as English subjects and therefore faced difficulty arguing for protection as such under 

English law. Furthermore, their masters could produce clear documentation of their 

purchase as slaves for life. Even at a time before England legally recognized slavery, 

English Common Law supported the property claims of slave owners, thus providing 

some basis for them to claim Black slaves purchased from foreigners as slaves for life.117 

Although the evidence suggests that some instances of lifelong servitude existed 

as a matter of practice prior to slavery’s legal recognition, no evidence exists to suggest 

that all Black Virginias experienced this condition. Some Black Virginians faced the 

threat of enslavement while others did not. Statutes, court cases, and colonial charters 

reveal slavery’s gradual and disjointed legal development in Virginia.118 These records 

clearly indicate that prior to the 1630s, Virginia’s legal system treated Blacks in a manner 

similar to Whites. Virginia courts regularly recognized Black colonists as land owners in 

property deeds and occasionally called upon them to provide testimony—both indications 

of their status as free men.119 

The case of John Punch in 1640 presents the first legal recognition of lifetime 

servitude issued to a Black servant. Punch, a Black servant, ran away from his master 

along with two White servant companions.120 Following their apprehension, the Virginia 

Governor's Council sentenced the three runaway servants to “thirty stripes apiece.”121 

The Governor's Council additionally sentenced the two White servants who accompanied 

Punch to serve one added year with their master and a further three years as servants to 

the colony.122 Conversely, the Governor's Council sentenced Punch to “serve his said 

master or his assigns for the time of his natural Life.”123 Several years later, the Virginia 
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Assembly heard a different case involving a “Mulata” servant named Manuel who his 

master claimed as a “slave For-ever.”124 In Manuel’s case, the Virginia Assembly reached 

a different conclusion: they viewed Manuel as a “Christian servant.” As such, the 

Assembly advised that Manuel’s master could not claim him as a slave for life under 

English law.125 The different outcomes reached in the cases of Punch and Manuel 

illustrate the fluid landscape upon which the free status of Virginia’s Black servants 

rested during this period. 

While some Blacks fought to avoid enslavement along the increasingly murky 

margins of Virginia’s developing slave society, others achieved freedom and found some 

semblance of prosperity. In Myne Owne Ground: Race and Freedom on Virginia’s 

Eastern Shore, 1640-1676 (1980), historians Timothy Breen and Stephen Innes 

investigated seventeenth-century free Blacks in Northampton and Accomack Counties, 

together know as Virginia’s Eastern Shore. Breen and Innes uncovered a prosperous free 

Black community within that area that had gone mostly overlooked by previous scholars.  

Breen and Innes challenged previous arguments surrounding the condition of 

seventeenth-century Virginia Blacks made by scholars such as Carl Degler that tended 

emphasize their degraded status and accept it as universal.126 Degler argued that “the 

status of the Negro in the English colonies was worked out within a framework of 

discrimination; that from the outset, as far as the available evidence tells us, the Negro 

was treated as an inferior to the white man, servant or free.”127 Breen and Innes, in part, 

responded to the call of Wesley Frank Craven when he decried that “American historians 

have been so largely concerned with the question of the Negro’s status…as to be 

indifferent to other questions they may have investigated.”128 
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The work of Breen and Innes marked an important conceptual advance in the 

study of seventeenth-century free Blacks. Rather than examining free Blacks through 

how colonial institutions acted upon them, Breen and Innes investigated individual lives 

within the small free Black community they brought into focus. By utilizing this more 

rudimentary framework, Breen and Innes developed new insights into how, and to what 

extent, seventeenth-century free Blacks enjoyed lives as freeholders and expressed 

agency as individuals. They determined that local economic and social relationships had, 

by far, the greatest impact on the lives of their subjects. This important breakthrough in 

scholarship introduced the idea that many colonial free Blacks successfully existed within 

the caustic legal environment that emerged alongside racial slavery. Through their fruitful 

individualized study, Breen and Innes challenged prior scholarship that placed outsized 

emphasis on overarching free Black relationships with colonial institutions as a class of 

people. This scholarship tended to produce a more monolithic, and ultimately less 

insightful, view of colonial free Black existence. By focusing upon a specific group of 

individuals rather than the free Black population at large, Breen and Innes uncovered 

layers of detail that yielded important insight into how, despite the creeping presence of 

laws that attended race, seventeenth-century Eastern Shore free Blacks amassed property, 

conducted business with neighboring Whites, and became fixtures in Eastern Shore 

society. 

Many modern scholars have since followed the methodology introduced by Breen 

and Innes and adopted a more granular focus in order to yield new and better insights on 

the lives of free people of color. This recent scholarship includes: Adele Logan 

Alexander’s Ambiguous Lives Free Women of Color in Rural Georgia 1789-1879 (1991); 
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Melvin Patrick Ely’s Israel on the Appomattox: A Southern Experiment Black Freedom 

from the 1790s through the Civil War (2004); Kirt Von Daacke’s Freedom Has a Face 

Race, Identity, and Community in Jefferson’s Virginia (2012); Turk McCleskey’s The 

Road to Black Ned’s Forge: A Story of Race, Sex, and Trade on the Colonial American 

Frontier (2014) and Warren Milteer’s Beyond Slavery's Shadow Free People of Color in 

the South (2021). These works have avoided emphasis on group homogeneity and instead 

highlight the nuance present in the individual lives of free people of color and their 

everyday interactions within their greater communities. 

Breen and Innes presented an example of how the study of free Blacks on a local 

and personal level might produce new insight through their investigation of Anthony 

Johnson, an Eastern Shore free Black land owner who had received previous attention 

from scholars.129 Ballagh and Russell mentioned Johnson in their work many decades 

earlier. Ira Berlin also included Johnson in his brief chapter devoted  to colonial-era free 

Blacks in Slaves without Masters: The Free Negro in the Antebellum South (1974).130  

Breen and Innes, however, delved deeper into court and county records to reveal further 

detail regarding Johnson’s everyday interactions with White society. This investigation 

yielded evidence that, for many years, Johnson’s White neighbors and the Eastern Shore 

institutions with which he interacted treated him no differently than others. Moreover, 

Breen and Innes uncovered Johnson’s connection to a wider community of free Black 

landowners concentrated along the Eastern Shore. This concentrated community, 

connected to powerful White patrons through economic ties, provided essential mutual 

support and acted to uphold the collective free status of its members. 
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By 1647, Anthony Johnson and his wife Mary lived among a cluster of free 

Blacks along Pungoteague Creek in Northampton County that included free Black 

property owners such as Philip Mongum, Frances Payne, Emanuel Driggus, Anthony 

Longo, and others. These families intermarried and often supported each other in lawsuits 

and business transactions. Johnson’s former master, Richard Bennett, moved to 

Pungoteague Creek during the 1640s and Johnson likely followed.131 Bennett, a powerful 

and wealthy Virginian, served as the governor of that colony from 1652 to 1655.132 

Bennett owned a considerable amount of land on Virginia’s eastern shore and, on behalf 

of his uncle—a wealthy London merchant and owner of a fleet of ships—did business 

with Indian trader William Claibourne.133 Bennett’s daughter married Charles 

Scarborough—the son of Colonel Edmund Scarborough, a one-time Speaker of the 

House of Burgesses, member of the Governor’s Council, and a militia colonel. Johnson 

likely enjoyed some level of protection through his connection to this powerful family.134 

Johnson steadily increased his wealth in the years following his arrival in 

Northampton with the purchase of land and cattle. In February 1653, Anthony and Mary 

Johnson petitioned the Northampton County, Virginia court for financial relief following 

“great losses” incurred as the result of a fire.135 In a sign of how well Northampton 

County authorities respected the Johnsons—or perhaps their powerful friends—the court 

graciously granted the Johnsons relief from paying taxes.136 

Johnson’s temporary run of good fortune, however, took a turn for the worse not 

long after this time when something apparently soured the relationship between Johnson 

and his influential friends. In 1657, Edmund Scarborough sued Johnson for debt. The 

court awarded Scarborough 100 acres of Johnson's land to pay off the alleged debt. 
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Scarborough continued his quest to acquire more of the Johnsons’ land. In a 1659 land 

patent deposition, Scarborough made the bizarre claim that John Johnson, the son of 

Anthony Johnson, who held 250 acres of land adjacent to his land, had “no relation to 

John Johnson Negro whose patent it.”137 If true, this meant that John Johnson held his 

land unlawfully, in which case county officials could order the land forfeited—no doubt 

to the benefit of Scarborough who also attempted to acquire other nearby land.  

In the years that followed Anthony Johnson’s death, his children lost most of the 

land he had acquired. At some point they simply abandoned the family land at 

Pungoteague Creek and dispersed to other parts of Virginia, Maryland, and Carolina.138 

The Johnson family apparently no longer enjoyed the support of their powerful 

benefactors and succumbed to the pressure of neighboring Whites who desired their 

land.139 This illustrates an important aspect of successful free Black existence as their 

environment changed during the rise of racial slavery in the second half of the 

seventeenth century. Powerful White patrons sometimes aided free Blacks, usually in 

return for some positive value received by the White patron that justified their effort.140 

Prosperous free Blacks might find their property and standing in their community 

threatened when their powerful Patrons abandoned that protection. 

Other Virginia free Blacks also managed to elevate themselves out of the servant 

class and enjoy some modicum of success during the mid-seventeenth century. Bashaw 

Fernando, Emanuel Driggus, and John Graweere became financially-successful cattle 

herders—a skill likely handed down to them from their Ndongo ancestors.141 Driggus 

used the cattle he raised and sold to fellow colonists to aid other Black servants.142 

Driggus married a White woman—a not uncommon phenomena among colonial 
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Virginia’s prosperous free Blacks—and amassed cattle and horses.143 Mihil Gowen, a 

“negro” servant,  petitioned for his freedom after completing his term of  service.144 After 

Gowen’s release in 1657, he also obtained freedom for his young son, William, whose 

mother remained enslaved.145 Less than four months later, Gowen patented 37 acres of 

land in James City County and thus, Gowen begin a new life as a Virginia freeholder.146 

Gowen, Driggus, Graweere and Fernando, as with other mid-seventeenth-century free 

Black Virginians, frequently used Virginia courts to gain the repayment of debts and 

protect their rights, much like any other colonist. 

1.3: FREEDOM AND THE RISE OF SLAVERY 
 

England entered the African slave trade much later than its European rivals. The 

English first possessed African slaves as war captives. During the mid-sixteenth century 

English privateers seized African slaves from looted Spanish vessels. The most prolific of 

these privateers, John Hawkins, delved further into the African slave trade by conducting 

a series of four slave-trading expeditions to Sierra Leone between 1564 and 1569.147 

Hawkins, however, conducted this business privately and sold the enslaved Africans he 

acquired to Spanish merchants in Hispaniola. Despite other European nations 

aggressively embracing African slavery during this period, the English remained mostly 

uninterested in developing African slavery on English soil. Over time, and with the 

success of their European rivals, the English became more intent upon exploring African 

commerce. This placed England on a course that eventually intersected with the African 

slave trade. 

Following the Restoration of 1660, King Charles II of England moved more 

aggressively to establish English commerce in Africa. Later that year, Charles chartered 
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the Company of Royal Adventurers Trading into Africa, also known as the Royal African 

Company. Although the Royal African Company primarily concerned itself at first with 

the search for gold, by 1663, the English government updated its charter to additionally 

encompass trade for African slaves.148 A number of catastrophes suffered by the English 

during this time, including naval defeats during The Second Anglo-Dutch War (1665-

1667), the Great Plague of London (1665-1666), and the Great Fire of London (1666) 

forestalled the development of England’s African trade operations and caused the 

company to faulter. The Royal African Company of England succeeded the Royal 

African Company after it became insolvent in 1672.149 By the 1680s, the Royal African 

Company of England transported roughly 5,000 enslaved people per year from Africa to 

the Atlantic colonies.150 Virginia and Carolina planters, vexed by a rising labor shortage 

at that time, welcomed this new supply of labor. 

The introduction of race-based chattel slavery in the mid-seventeenth century 

presented a new dynamic in the relationships between the Virginia colony and its free 

Black population. Virginia planters who invested in African slave labor became 

increasingly leery of the presence of free Blacks who they assumed might harbor 

sympathy toward fellow Africans held in bondage.151  In response to those concerns, and 

in an attempt to codify enslavement based on race, Virginia passed its first slave code in 

1662.152 In 1668, Virginia additionally prohibited free Blacks from owning White 

servants.153 Fear of a slave insurrection prompted the passage of a 1672 Virginia law that 

prohibited servants and natives from aiding Black slaves for the purpose of rebellion, thus 

furthering the separation between slave and servant and  reinforcing the association 

between slavery and race.154 
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Calamities in England during the mid-1660s interrupted the flow of White bond 

laborers to the North American colonies. War, great fires, and famine caused population 

declines that stabilized England’s unemployment rate. New opportunities for work at 

home made New World indenture contracts less attractive. Population decline, coupled 

with England’s low mid-century birth rate, created a period of worker-scarcity that 

threatened the economic stability of England’s North American colonies. From 1659 to 

1662, Virginia experienced steady immigration declines.155 The English government 

sought to address the resulting shortage of available White indentured servants by 

increasing the forced transportation of criminals, prisoners from the late English Civil 

War, paroled Irish and Scottish rebels, and unemployed vagrants.156 English courts 

compelled these individuals into servitude as bond servants. Colonial planters purchased 

the vast majority of these individuals and put them to work in degraded conditions 

together with Black servants, enslaved Natives, and others of their class. 

 

1.4: ETHNOGENESIS 
 

Black and White servants who toiled alongside each other and shared the 

deprivations of colonial servitude in seventeenth century Virginia inevitably formed 

bonds derived from their common experience. These bonds, often forged in the cauldron 

of suffering produced by cruel and dishonest masters, deplorable working conditions, and 

a high mortality rate, often transcended race. Virginia court records during this time 

document the relationships formed between Black and White servants through their many 

attempts to abscond from their service together. For example, in July 1640, five White 

servants and a “Negro” servant conspired to run away together to the “Dutch 

plantations.”157 Such occurrences happened commonly enough for the Virginia General 
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Assembly to enact a law in 1661 that punished White and Black servants that conspired 

to “run away in company” with each other.158 James Revel, a convicted criminal 

transported to Virginia, wrote one of the few surviving accounts of life as a White 

indentured servant during the seventeenth century. In his account, Revel recalled that 

upon arrival in Virginia his master stripped off his European clothes and gave him a 

“canvas shirt and trowsers” of a style worn by both servants and slaves.159 Revel 

continued: “We and the negroes both alike did fare, of work and food we had an equal 

share.”160 During the first half of the seventeenth century, Virginia’s Black and White 

servants coexisted together on the less fortunate side of the colonial class divide. Prior to 

the rise of Virginia’s slave society and the hard racial lines that colonial authorities 

developed in order to reinforce it, class, not race, dictated each colonist’s position within 

Virginia’s highly-stratified social order. 

Given their shared experiences, as well as the close conditions they worked 

within, Black and White servants often formed intimate sexual relationships. 

Seventeenth-century Virginia court records indicate that unions between free Black men 

and White women occurred frequently.161 Sometimes, these relationships extended to 

legally-recognized marriage. A White English servant named Hester married and had 

several children with a “negro” servant by the name of James Tate.162 Francis Payne, a 

Black man, married a White woman who deeded him a horse in 1656.163 Scholar Paul 

Heinegg, in his epic work, Free African Americans of North Carolina, Virginia and 

South Carolina From the Colonial Period to About 1820 (1992), traced the genealogies 

of 504 different family groups that descended from colonial free people of color. Heinegg 

documented over 10,000 such individuals who resided in North Carolina, South Carolina, 
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and Virginia prior to 1820. Heinegg argued that the vast majority of the free people of 

color he studied descended from colonial-era sexual unions between White women and 

free or enslaved Black men.164 Although many scholars have attempted to fit colonial free 

people of color into a single narrative, these figures clearly illustrate that this group’s size 

allowed for great amounts of diversity in economic condition and social status. 

Virginia’s colonial leaders often gave no special attention to interracial 

relationships during the first half of the seventeenth century.165 In 1640, The General 

Court of Virginia accused Robert Sweat of having “begotten with child a negro woman 

servant.”166 The court ordered Sweat to “do public penance for his offence” the following 

day at the church in James City.167 The punishment given to Sweat generally aligned with 

the English legal proscription for fornication. The court ordered a whipping of the 

unidentified female servant “at the whipping post.”168 The General Court of Virginia may 

have treated the female servant more harshly because of her non-Christian status. 

Virginia court officials did not believe that non-Christian slaves could perform religious 

penance and therefore often sentenced them exclusively to corporal punishment.169 

William, the child born to Sweat and the unidentified female servant, took his father’s 

surname, remained free, and fathered several bi-racial children that became the 

progenitors of families of that name that spread to other areas of Virginia and to the 

Carolinas.170 

By 1666, the bi-racial population in English colonial America had grown large 

enough for Virginia leaders to add the word “mulatto” to their race-based laws.171 

Mulatto, a pejorative term borrowed from the Spanish, derived from the Latin word for 

“Mule”— a domestic hybrid between a donkey and a horse. The word comes from the 
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Iberian Peninsula where the Spanish first used it to describe the offspring of an Arab 

father and a non-Arab mother.172 In the Americas, the Spanish used the term to refer to 

the bi-racial offspring of Black and White parents. The Spanish used another term, 

“Mestizo,” to refer to the bi-racial offspring of Native American and White parents. 

Seventeenth-century Virginians adopted this crude term and also used it to describe bi-

racial individuals. The English applied these calqued words in much the same way as the 

Spanish, although in some cases the English used the term mulatto more expansively in 

the colonial era to describe tri-racial individuals of Black, Native American, and White 

origin.173  

Mulattoes—specifically, mixed-race individuals deemed at least partially Black 

by English colonial officials—became a distinct ethnic class in English colonial North 

America. The legal status of multi-racial individuals remained ambiguous as Virginia’s 

hard color line began to take hold in the mid-seventeenth century. In 1655, Elizabeth 

Key, the bi-racial daughter of a White English father and a Black mother, sought to 

clarify her status as a free woman.174 Despite Key’s birth outside of wedlock, her father 

acknowledged Key as his legitimate daughter and supported her during his lifetime. 

Key’s father ensured her Christian baptism as a way to affirm her place in Virginia 

society. After falling gravely ill, Key’s father appointed a legal guardian to care for her 

after his death. The arrangement with Key’s guardian included a provision for a limited -

term indenture for Key until she came of age. Illegitimate children, both Black and 

White, customarily entered into indenture contracts in order to provide for their upkeep. 

Key’s guardian later sold her indenture contract to a third party, John Mottrom—a 

Northern Neck, Virginia, Indian trader. Like many masters of Black servants at this time, 
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Mottrom attempted to take advantage of the legal ambiguity associated with Key’s race 

to declare her his slave for life. 

Upon Mottrom’s death, his heirs claimed Key, along with a son born to her during 

her servitude, as their slave property. Key’s age indicated that her service had already 

extended approximately ten years past the customary age of release for indentured 

illegitimate children. Mottrom’s heirs called attention to the uncertainty surrounding the 

status of Key’s mother, a Black servant. They argued that Key did not qualify as a 

freeborn English subject, and therefore the protection of English law, because of her 

mother’s status as a servant who had no claim to English citizenship. After a series of 

extended legal battles, the court upheld Elizabeth Key’s free status. On the day the court 

adjudicated her case, Key and William Grinsted, a White man who had acted as her 

attorney-in-fact, announced their intention to marry.175 Despite their mixed race, the 

children later born to Key and Grinsted lived as free people. One of Key’s sons, William, 

testified as a witness against a White man in a 1686 Northampton County court case—an 

indication that court officials accepted him as a free English subject whose status 

qualified him to testify in court.176 Key had obtained both her own freedom, and the 

acceptance of her mixed-race children within their community. 

Following Elizabeth Key’s successful legal battle to win her freedom, Virginia 

legislators acted to clarify the ambiguity surrounding legal status of bi-racial individuals. 

In 1662, The Virginia House of Burgesses passed a law declaring that any children born 

to an enslaved mother would themselves remain enslaved.177 This law derived from 

partus sequitur ventrem—a legal doctrine borrowed from Roman law meaning “That 

which is born follows the womb.”178 This new law also eliminated freedom claims based 
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on the basis of Christianity—an often-used pathway to freedom utilized by many 

enslaved individuals to escape slavery.179 For Virginia’s free people of color, however, 

the 1662 law had little direct affect. The vast majority of free people of color throughout 

the seventeenth century came from white mothers and Black or bi-racial fathers, both free 

and enslaved.180 Children born as a result of those unions remained free under the new 

law. So long as the extant population of free people of color avoided unions with 

enslaved women, their offspring remained free. 

In 1691, Virginia’s General Assembly passed that colony’s first comprehensive 

slave code, entitled: “An act for suppressing outlying slaves”181 Virginia legislators 

crafted this law in order to address unruly behavior among enslaved persons who the 

assembly claimed “absent themselves” and “hid and lurk in obscure places” committing 

“injuries to the inhabitants of this dominion.”182 Unlike other early British Colonial Slave 

codes, such as Barbados’ 1661 “Act for the Better Ordering and Governing of Negros,” 

Virginia’s 1691 law went further to limit manumissions—an indication of the unease felt 

by Virginia authorities in response to alleged slave conspiracies in 1687 and 1688, and 

the possibility of future uprisings aided by sympathetic free Blacks.183 The 1691 law took 

the further step of outlawing interracial marriages by declaring: “Whatsoever English or 

other white man or woman being free shall intermarry with a negro, mulatto, or Indian 

man or woman bond or free shall within three months after such marriage be banished 

and removed from this dominion forever.”184 This law seemingly presented a hard blow 

for many free people of color who, during the prior half century, frequently married 

Whites. The law, however, did not specify what defined a “mulatto.” The legal 

application of that term soon became contested. 
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The prohibition against interracial marriage received its first recorded test on 

August 16, 1705, when the Virginia Governor’s Council reviewed the case of John 

Bunch and Sarah Slaydon. Bunch and Slaydon filed a petition with the Council after a 

local official denied their right to marry. The minister of Blissland Parish in New Kent 

County, Virginia, had refused to marry Bunch to Slaydon, a White woman, because he 

considered Bunch a “mulatto.”185 This case represents an important investigation of the 

terminology of race in late seventeenth century Virginia: the difference between words 

such as “Negro,” “mulatto,” “Indian,” and “White,” as terms used to describe the 

physical characteristics of race versus the use of those words as terms to describe one’s 

legal status, and subsequent treatment under Virginia law. Bunch’s community likely 

viewed him as a mixed-race individual in terms of his ethnic makeup and, perhaps, his 

physical appearance. Did the legislators who crafted the law intend to apply the term 

“mulatto” only to the bi-racial offspring of Black and White parents or also to any person 

with any amount of Black ancestry regardless of how fractional?  

Over the course of the seventeenth century, many of Virginia’s free people of 

color intermarried with Whites, thus increasing the percentage of White ethnicity in each 

subsequent generation. Bunch, the offspring of a White mother and a “mulatto” father, 

challenged his “mulatto” classification on the basis of his majority White ancestry.186  

The Virginia General Assembly did not define the precise meaning of the term “mulatto” 

when they enacted the anti-miscegenation provision in their 1691 Virginia law. The exact 

ethnic makeup that constituted classification as a “mulatto” therefore remained unclear. 

Local authorities, such as parish ministers, simply followed their own interpretation of 

the term. In Bunch’s case, the minister of his parish classified him a “mulatto” due to his 



55 
 

fractional Black ancestry. Bunch’s petition therefore represented a substantive challenge 

to Virginia’s evolving late seventeenth-century color line.  

Earlier in the seventeenth century, Virginia authorities had most often used the 

term “mulatto” in reference to children born to a White mother and an enslaved Black 

father.187 For the most part, seventeenth-century Virginia legislators established laws 

attending race around one’s free status, not ancestry. The development of Virginia’s hard 

color line changed the application of laws attending race. Individuals such as Bunch 

faced a new test based on ancestral makeup that threatened to transform their legal status. 

The Bunch case presented the Virginia Governor’s Council with the challenge of 

determining where mixed-race individuals such as Bunch fell on Virginia’s emerging 

color line. 

Virginia legal precedent leaned toward the application of “mulatto” status for bi-

racial individuals only. Applying the term more broadly represented something entirely 

new, at least in law. The Virginia Governor’s Council demurred and decided to refer 

Bunch’s case to the Virginia’s Attorney General, Stevens Thompson, in the hope he 

would “report his opinion whether the Petitioners case be within the intent of the Law to 

prevent Negroes and White Persons intermarrying.”188 Upon initial review, Thompson 

also found confusion regarding whether or not the court should consider Bunch a 

“mulatto.” After a protracted period of consideration, Thompson returned his finding: 

I am of opinion & do conceive that ye sd Act being Penal is Coercive or 

restrictive no further than the very letter thereof, and being wholly unacquainted 
with the Appellations given to ye issue of such mixtures, cannot resolve whether 
the issue begotten on a White woman by a Mulatto man can properly be called a 

Mulatto, that name as I conceive being only appropriated to the Child of a Negro 
man begotten upon a white woman, or by a white man upon a negro woman, and 

as I am told the issue of a Mulatto by or upon a white Person has another name 
viz that of, Mustee; which if so, I conceive it wholly out of the Letter (tho it may 
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be conjectured to be within ye intent) of the sd act, The which (as absolved being 
Penal) is, as I conceive not to be construed beyond ye letter thereof.189 

 

Thompson’s confused response indicates the disconnect among Virginia’s governing elite 

regarding race; he clearly had very little personal or judicial experience with the topic. 

Never-the-less, Thompson had pointed out to the Governor’s Council that the legal 

definition of the term “mulatto” remained ambiguous and open to degrees of 

interpretation, including his own that would have excluded Bunch from legal 

classification as a “mulatto.”  

Thus, Virginia leaders failed to clarify the legal definition of the term “mulatto.” 

The Governor’s Council, upon reading the opinion returned by Thompson, order that “the 

Petition of the said Bunch and Slaydon be referred till next General Court for Mr. 

Attorney to argue the reasons of his opinion before his Excellency and ye Council.”190 No 

record exists that indicates the outcome of that hearing. Virginia leaders perhaps quietly 

allowed Bunch, who fathered bi-racial children at about this time, to proceed with his 

marriage.191  

In the succeeding years, the Virginia legislature acted to clarify its legal definition 

of race. Legislators subsequently included the following legal definition for the term 

“mulatto” within a 1705 law declared that “the child of an Indian and the child, 

grandchild, or great grandchild, of a negro shall be deemed, accounted, held and taken to 

be a mulatto.”192 This new legal definition set Virginia’s legal standards involving 

persons of mixed-race ancestry around blood quantum. Virginia law thereafter considered 

any free person of color with one-eight or more Black ancestry a “mulatto.” 

Virginia’s late-seventeenth century race-based laws had mixed implications for 

free people of color. New manumission restrictions did not affect people of color 
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previously classified as free persons. The updated marriage restrictions likewise had 

minimal affect. By the late-seventeenth century, most free people of color tended to avoid 

relationships with enslaved Blacks; they mostly married other free people of color or 

Whites.193 The most deleterious affect race-based laws had on free people of color in 

Virginia came more indirectly: the manner in which these laws changed Virginia’s social 

climate. Race-based laws emphasized free people of color as the “other.” These laws 

furthered the ostracization of free people of color and set the tone for discrimination 

within the realm of everyday dealings. Scholars have faced difficulty tracking these 

subtle changes due to the often-imperceptible shifts in the attitudes of ordinary people 

that mostly went unrecorded. This behavior, however, did sometimes materialize in legal 

disputes involving the ownership of coveted property. 

The Going family, a free family of color residing in Stafford County, Virginia, 

during the late seventeenth century, earned the envy, and enmity, of their White 

neighbors due to their fine horses and their “lavish” ways.194 The Going family bred 

high-caliber race horses that competed for profit alongside those of Virginia’s planter-

gentry. Thomas Going, the scion of this family, possessed over 1,200 acres of prime land 

along the Potomac River.195 Although Going held this land by patent, his ownership 

became the subject of dispute during the first decade of the eighteenth century.196 

Depositions from a property lawsuit illuminate how Going’s White neighbors turned on 

him. A deponent in the lawsuit, Charles Griffith, recalled a conversation he had heard as 

a child regarding the Going family. Griffin stated that he heard Phillip Noland, an 

overseer employed by Robert Alexander, a wealthy Stafford County land owner, claim 

that members of the Going family had “taken up land” that belonged to Alexander.197 
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Griffin further stated that Alexander, upon hearing this news from his overseer, “swore 

he would make them (the Going family) suffer” and added that he “had a great mind to 

turn the mulatto rascals off his land.”198 Griffin went on to recount a horse race where the 

Goings “had running horses and that the old people were talking about the Goings taking 

up Alexanders land and selling it.”199 Griffin added that “the people was laughing and 

said if it were not for the Alexander’s land” the Goings “would not be so lavish of their 

money of which they seemed to have a great plenty at that time.”200 For the Going family, 

economic success and protection under the law did not guarantee equal social treatment. 

Within a decade, the Going family sold their prime land and permanently departed 

Stafford County for Southside Virginia.201 The next generation of the Going family chose 

to live in a more hospitable environment among other free families of color in Granville 

County, North Carolina.202 

The predicament faced by the Going family in Stafford County, Virginia, 

illustrates the precarious position prosperous property-owning free people of color 

increasingly found themselves in within established areas at the dawn of the eighteenth 

century. As tobacco prices rose during the mid-seventeenth century, arable land became 

scarcer. Land-covetous Virginia planters had no compunction using the courts to pilfer 

valuable land from free people of color they deemed vulnerable. The heirs of Mihil 

Gowen, who possessed 37 acres of land at the time of his death, lost that land in a 

questionable court action in 1717.203 Despite Gowen having several living children in 

Virginia at the time of his death, a James City Court determined that he had died intestate 

and escheated his property. Gowen’s White neighbor immediately purchased the 

escheated land. The Johnson family of Northern Neck encountered similar misdealing. 
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After Anthony Johnson’s death in 1670, county officials in Accomack and Northampton 

Counties undertook proceedings to confiscate 250 acres of land Johnson held within 

those counties.204 An Accomack County jury found that Johnson “was a Negro and by 

consequence an alien,” and as a consequence he could not hold property at the time of his 

death. The jury therefore concluded that the county should escheat Johnson’s land.205  

The Johnson family, like the Going family, eventually chose to leave their 

contested land behind and depart Virginia. Anthony Johnson’s widow, Mary, and the 

couple’s son, John, moved over the border into Somerset County, Maryland.206 In 1677, 

John’s son, John Johnson Jr., paid tribute to his grandfather’s African origins by naming 

his newly-acquired plantation “Angola.”207 Anthony and Mary Johnson’s grandson, 

William, migrated to the Albemarle region in what later became North Carolina.208 

Members of the Driggus family also left Virginia’s Eastern shore and joined their former 

Johnson neighbors in North Carolina during the early eighteenth century.209  Although 

the prosperous Johnson and Driggus families chose to leave the Virginia’s Eastern Shore 

to seek better opportunities, many other free people of color, mostly small-scale farmers 

who began to fall into poverty, remained.210 In 1723, Accomack and Northampton 

Counties’ significant population of free people of color caused a group of White Eastern 

Shore planters to complain to the Virginia General Assembly about the “dangerous” 

presence of free Blacks in their community.211 Free people of color without the means to 

escape areas less affected by racial slavery saw their opportunities limited and remained 

the objects of scorn and suspicion for many years. 

Given the potential peril faced by free people of color who acquired large 

amounts of land, pursuing success as a planter—the means by which most Virginians 
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obtained wealth at this time—appeared impossible. Many free people of color in Virginia 

continued to farm small plots of land unmolested. If they resided within communities that 

accepted their presence and valued them as neighbors, they might live out their lives and 

enjoy modest success as sustenance farmers. The Going and Johnson families had 

reached for more and by doing so, they found that although Virginia’s White society 

could abide their freedom, they could not tolerate their success. For these families, 

movement became a necessity. 

 

1.5: NORTH CAROLINA 

By the beginning of the eighteenth century, small numbers of free people of color 

migrated out of Virginia and moved into Albemarle County in the Carolina Province. 

These settlers migrated with other Virginians who began settling in this area as early as 

1655.212 By 1701, court records list free people of color among voters and litigants in the 

Albemarle district.213 In 1712, the Albemarle district became part of the newly-created 

Province of North Carolina. During the early-eighteenth century, the Albemarle region 

remained sparsely settled and loosely governed.214 The region’s lack of navigable 

harbors, limited roads, and inhospitable coastline inhibited rapid colonial development. 

These obstacles forestalled large-scale agricultural exploitation which, in turn, delayed 

the widespread introduction of racial slavery. North Carolina’s enslaved population 

numbered only about 800 in 1712.215  

Without a large enslaved population, North Carolia leaders lacked the impetus for 

developing race-based laws. North Carolinians, however, became more receptive to such 

laws as increasing numbers of Virginia settlers brought more enslaved individuals into 

their province. The end of the Tuscarora War and the peace that followed in February, 
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1715, opened new North Carolina land for settlement. This sparked a renewed wave of 

immigration by Virginians seeking available plantation land. Later that year, The North 

Carolina General Assembly passed a sweeping series of race-based laws meant to 

establish the colony’s first color line. These laws denied voting rights to any “negro, 

mulatto or Indian,” prevented large gatherings by free people of color, and called for the 

expulsion of manumitted slaves with six months of their emancipation.216 Later that year, 

the Assembly banned interracial marriage.217 In 1723, the North Carolina Assembly 

additionally acted to make all free females of color tithable.218 Although North Carolina’s 

sparsely settled and loosely-governed spaces had once presented a favorable legal 

environment to free people of color, by the 1720s its race-based laws generally mirrored 

those of Virginia. 

Free people of color who served as bonded servants also faced increasing 

challenges to their free status during the 1720s. In 1724, free “Negro” Phillip Laneer 

petitioned the North Carolina General Court to recognize his free status as a bonded 

servant. In a case that resembled that of Elizabeth Key, Laneer claimed that the 

administrator of his deceased master’s estate unlawfully ignored his service contract and 

attempted to hold him “as a slave.”219 When North Carolina Governor Richard Everard 

later intervened and ordered the Chief Justice of the North Carolina General court to 

“cause a fair Tryall” for Laneer, some North Carolina slaveholders, defending their 

absolute right to hold Black persons as slave property without question, lashed out. 

Chowan County slave owner Edmund Porter publicly insulted and threatened Governor 

Everard after complaining: “by the same rule he has done that he may take my Bed, my 

horse, or my Oxe.”220 The race-based laws enacted in North Carolina between 1715 and 
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1723, as well as the challenges to the free status of Black servants such as Phillip Lanier, 

reflected an increasing leeriness on the part of North Carolina slave owners over the 

presence of free people of color alongside their growing slave population.221 

Despite the significant shift that took place in North Carolina’s race-based laws 

and prohibitions from 1715 to 1723, a substantial group of free people of color left 

Virginia and migrated to North Carolina during this period. These individuals settled 

within a specific area around the Occoneechee neck section of the Roanoke River.222 The 

free people of color who came to this area included multiple members of the Gibson, 

Bunch, Kersey, Locklear, Chavis, and Bass families.223 Without exception, all purchased 

land from private sellers at prices that exceeded the cost of freely-available headright 

land.224 By the 1730s, this community within Bertie Precinct in north-central North 

Carolina held the largest concentration of free people of color in the English colonies 

south of Virginia.225 This Roanoke River settlement served as the parent community for 

other nearby enclaves containing similarly large concentrations of free people of color. 

These extended communities spanned parts of Granville, Edgecombe, Halifax, and 

Northampton Counties in north-central North Carolina and endured until 

Emancipation.226 

Scholars who have chronicled North Carolina’s free people of color recognized 

these historically-significant communities, as well as their roots to the State’s colonial 

past. Historian John Hope Franklin brought attention to North Carolina’s colonial-era free 

people of color in his groundbreaking work, The Free Negro in North Carolina, 1790-

1860 (1943). In that work, Franklin recounted a petition aimed at overturning a 1723 law 

that made free women of color tithable that pointed to the presence of a substantial 
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community of color residing in Granville, Edgecombe, and Northampton Counties.227 

Franklin’s work, however, focused mainly on North Carolina’s antebellum-era free 

Blacks and he investigated these colonial-era petitioners no further. Walter Milteer’s 

broader work, North Carolina’s Free People of Color, 1715-1885 (2020), delved more 

extensively into the colonial-era. Milteer acknowledged the outsized presence of free 

people of color in Bertie and Granville counties throughout the mid-eighteenth century, 

as well as the unique and isolated communities of color they formed.228 Milteer stressed 

that these communities formed purposely around kinship networks.229 Milteer, however, 

did not examine whether these kinship networks pre-existed the eighteenth century north-

central North Carolina communities of color he examined, nor did he explain the deeper 

connections these families had to seventeenth century communities of color in Virginia. 

Although these early North Carolina free people of color formed an important 

bridge between seventeenth century free Black communities in Virginia and later 

communities of color that spawned across the southern frontier during the eighteenth 

century, scholarship pertaining to them has generally suffered from a lack of focus on the 

colonial era. Franklin, while acknowledging the presence of a noteworthy colonial-era 

free Black population, declared: “information concerning the free negro in the earlier 

period is wholly inadequate for any kind of detailed treatment of the subject.”230 Almost 

all of Milteer’s study focused upon the Early National and antebellum periods. The first 

work produced on this subject, Charles W. Chesnutt’s 1902 article “The Free Colored 

People of North Carolina,” skipped the colonial era entirely. In fact, no detailed study of 

North Carolina’s colonial-era free people of color exists. As I examine in the third section 

of this study, the Roanoke River settlement founded by early North Carolina free people 
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of color who migrated to that place from Virginia served a s hub for the development of 

other communities of color, such as the Pee Dee River community in South Carolina that 

formed later in the eighteenth century. Understanding how and why the Roanoke River 

settlement formed, who formed it, and how, over time, descendants of this community 

migrated across the colonial frontier and built other communities of color is therefore 

vital to the overall understanding of free people of color in the colonial South. 

A deeper examination of the free families of color who founded the Roanoke 

River settlement reveals the purpose behind their migration. These families worked 

within the Indian trade and migrated to a small span of the Roanoke River in order to 

establish themselves among a greater Indian trade community developed at that time and 

precisely in that place. Indian traders such as John Green, Mathew Sturdivant, Arthur 

Kavanaugh, and Robert Lang formed this Indian trade settlement during the early 1720s 

to support their trade activities and to take advantage of the area’s strategic position along 

a major Native trade route. The community that developed around this core group of 

Indian traders grew to include other Indian traders, such as members of the Gibson and 

Bunch families, as well as laborers who supported the day-to-day work of the Indian 

trade. The third section of this study reveals how these communities became vital to the 

conduct of the Indian trade. As such, when the geographic boundaries of the Indian trade 

changed over time, these communities moved in response. When this occurred, the free 

people of color who worked within these communities or otherwise enjoyed the 

protection or kinship they provided, moved with them. 

In the next section, I review the history of the Indian trade in the colonial South in 

order to frame how the geography, economics, and political forces that guided Native 
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commerce shaped Indian trade communities such as the Roanoke River settlement. 

Additionally, I examine how free people of color introduced themselves into the Indian 

trade during its earliest days, and thereafter became some of its most important 

participants. 
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CHAPTER 2: FREE PEOPLE OF COLOR IN THE INDIAN TRADE 

 

Virginia’s charter generation of free Blacks initially came into contact with the 

Indian trade shortly after their arrival. In the early days of the Virginia colony, Native 

commerce served an essential function. Colonists from across Virginia’s social strata 

frequently participated in this commerce.1 During times of peace, local Powhatan 

regularly visited individual Virginia colonists to conduct small-scale trade outside of the 

official trade channels.2 For a time, Virginia leaders encouraged free trade between 

colonists and local Natives. Although Virginia law prohibited indentured servants from 

engaging in trade with Natives, lax enforcement and modest fines for offenders helped to 

enable a considerable black-market. This small-scale trade provided indentured servants 

with a rare opportunity to earn income. The Virginia government eventually banned 

small-scale trade, but not before a generation of indentured servants developed 

relationships with individual Native trading partners and learned the particulars of the 

Indian trade.3 The professional class of Indian traders who rose to dominate the Indian 

trade during the late seventeenth century in Virginia primarily came from the ranks of 

former indentured servants who likely first honed their trading skills as small-scale, illicit 

traders.4 

Early sixteenth-century Virginia leaders recognized the Indian trade’s vital 

importance to the survival and success of their colony.5 Initially, the trade for food 

conducted between colonists and nearby Powhatan villages augmented the colonist’s low 

agricultural output and helped to sustain the struggling colony.6 By the 1620s, trade 

between colonists and Natives expanded to include animal skins and pelts. These high-

value products, when sold to overseas buyers, provided critical revenue for colonial 
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expansion. In addition, profitable fur and skin exports revived the interest of English 

leaders, merchants, and investors whose support for the colony began to wane following 

unsuccessful attempts to discover mineral wealth.7  

The development of Virginia’s peltry trade addressed a host of important 

economic and political needs both in England and Virginia. Animal fur and skin 

products, derived from North America’s vast forests, provided a seemingly limitless 

source of colonial income.8 The peltry trade with Natives additionally opened new 

markets for the export of English manufactured goods, provided valuable raw materials 

for English manufacturers, and converted potential Native adversaries into trading 

partners that became solidified as allies through their dependent on English trade.9 Good 

trade relationships with Natives ensured peace and allowed the colony to gain a foothold. 

The Indian trade solved many of the young colony’s critical problems while also 

producing a promising source for future colonial profit. The small cadre of individuals 

who risked their lives to carry out that trade became immensely valuable to colonial 

officials. 

In the early days of Native commerce, Native traders exchanged animal skins and 

pelts of various types, often for glass beads.10 As the Native-colonist trade expanded after 

the first decade of settlement, Natives began demanding more sophisticated manufactured 

goods. Native trading partners increasingly sought to acquire guns, powder, shot, 

hatchets, kettles, blankets, cloth, and cutlery.11 Colonial traders continued to trade for 

animal skins and pelts but also sought trade for Native captives to supply the developing 

colonial market for slave labor.12 
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English colonists began enslaving Natives shortly after the founding of 

Jamestown in 1607. George Percy, one of Jamestown’s original settlers, provided the first 

written account of a Native enslaved by Virginians in a letter written between 1609 and 

1612.13 The English did not introduce the concept of slavery to Native Americans. Native 

American societies regularly practiced a form of enslavement with their prisoners of war 

prior to European contact.14 The English did, however, fuel a dramatic expansion of 

Native enslavement through trade enticement. Historian Allan Gallay has described this 

expansion “a frenzy of slaving” driven by the English demand for Native slaves.15 Prior 

to the later introduction of African slavery, indentured colonists and enslaved Natives 

made up the whole of Virginia’s agricultural workforce.16 As the demand for agricultural 

labor increased during Virginia’s mid-seventeenth century tobacco boon, so did the 

demand for enslaved Natives. Virginia Indian traders enticed Native allies to conduct 

warfare and raids against other Native nations in order to produce captives for the 

colonial slave trade.17 Some Native nations, such as the Westo, organized themselves 

almost entirely around slaving ventures so that they might expand their trade for English 

firearms.18 The violence, destruction, and displacement that occurred as a result of this 

slaving activity wreaked havoc on Native societies across the American southeast.19 

The Native slave trade became an important component of the economic 

development of England’s southern American colonies during the seventeenth century, as 

well as a component of the imperial wars between Britain, France, and Spain.20 The 

damage inflicted by this exchange on Native societies, however, eventually threated to 

destabilize the Virginia’s already precarious Native relationships. Fearing another Native 

war, the Virginia government attempted to curb Native enslavement. In 1658, the 
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Virginia Assembly outlawed the purchase of Native captives from Natives traders.21 An 

additional law in 1661 dictated that Virginians could not hold bonded Native servants 

“for any longer time than English of the like ages.”22 These prohibitions, however, did 

not affect the trade for Native slaves sold to England’s Caribbean plantations. That trade 

had developed into a lucrative business by the mid-seventeenth century.23 Likewise, 

Virginia’s Native slave trade prohibitions did not apply to trade conducted by Virginia 

traders in the new Carolina province where the trade for enslaved natives continued 

feverishly until 1715.24  

Virginia Indian traders remained engaged in Native slave trading outside of 

Virginia long past their colony’s 1661 Native enslavement ban. Virginia Indian trade 

merchant Cadwallader Jones noted in a letter to Lord Baltimore in 1682 that he received 

a quantity of “indyan children prisoners” along with deerskins and animal furs from trade 

outside of Virginia with southwest Natives.25 When the Virginia House of Assembly 

finally and definitively acted to outlaw the Native slave trade in 1683, the trade with 

Native nations became primarily focused on deerskins.26  

During the early eighteenth century, deerskins became one of the most valuable 

export commodities in English colonial North America.27 Manufacturers utilized 

Deerskins, principally sourced from the southern colonies’ abundant whitetail deer 

population, as a source for raw leather. In an age before synthetic materials, English 

manufacturers used leather in a wide variety of high-demand consumer goods including: 

shoes, saddles, gloves, belts, and jackets.28 Deerskin demand in England increased 

exponentially at the beginning of the eighteenth century due to the popularity of 

fashionable “Carolina hats” made from deerskin and worn by trendy Londoners.29 



99 
 

Essential commercial goods such as work aprons, bellows, saddle bags, horse collars, 

straps, and fasteners also required leather as their key raw material.30 In 1657, an 

observer of England’ manufacturing economy identified England’s leather industry as 

one of that nation’s “cheife richyes”.31 Economic historian David MacPherson estimated 

the value of England’s leather industry in the late eighteenth century second only to that 

of woolen cloth among English manufactured goods.32 Macpherson also noted that the 

leather industry employed a significant number of English workers across a wide variety 

of towns.33 In Gloucester, England, for example, leather-workers comprised eleven 

percent of the early seventeenth-century work force.34 Thus, leather served as an 

important catalyst for maintaining employment across diverse segments of the English 

economy. 

During the seventeenth century, English manufacturers primarily sourced raw 

leather from the hides of domestically-raised cow, oxen, and sheep. These domestic 

sources nearly disappeared during the first half of the eighteenth century. Between 1709 

and 1725, Europe suffered a major panzootic that devastated its cattle herds.35 Scholars 

have estimated that 1.5 million cattle perished as a result of this catastrophic event 

between 1711 and 1714 in England and Western Europe.36 England acted to suppress the 

spread of infection by slaughtering large numbers of cattle, burning their corpses, and 

restricting cattle movement.37 As the plague spread throughout continental Europe, it 

caused cattle in some areas to disappear from the landscape almost entirely.38 The disease 

that caused this devastating event, later identified as the Rinderpest virus, continued to 

circulate around Europe throughout the eighteenth century, reaching England on at least 
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four separate occasions.39 Estimates place Europe’s cattle losses to Rinderpest at as many 

as 200 million head during this period.40  

The dwindling number of domestic animal hides available to supply the needs of 

England’s leather industry due to the cattle plague, coupled with the sustained demand 

for fashionable leather products in Europe, created an enormous opportunity for the 

export of deerskins from England’s American colonies.41 Deerskin imports sourced from 

the colonial Indian trade became a key component in the growth of English 

manufacturing during the first half of the eighteenth century. Merchants on both sides of 

the Atlantic who bought and sold deerskins enjoyed considerable profit. 

The value of England’s Native American commerce went beyond the marketable 

goods it produced. England’s southern colonies often entered into military alliances with 

their Native trade partners as a condition of trade. Outlying Native nations brought into 

alliance by trade formed a buffer zone beyond the pale of English colonial settlement that 

helped to maintain the integrity of frontier borders.42 In an extension of this role, Native 

allies, such as the Catawba, also acted as slavecatchers.43 In the event of conflict, colonial 

authorities might additionally call upon Native allies to augment colonial militias and to 

provide guides for military expeditions.44 This aspect of Native alliances had particular 

value because it formed an important part of the English colonial defense strategy that 

protected against invasion by hostile Native nations and by European adversaries.45  By 

bringing Native partners exclusively into England’s sphere of influence, the English also 

denied those relationships to adversaries and thwarted rival colonial projects. By the late 

seventeenth century, the Indian trade became an invaluable component of England’s 

overall colonial defense and development strategy. 
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Despite the enormous value Native commerce to England and its colonies in the 

American South, a relatively small number of colonists conducted direct business with 

Native villages. At the height of the Indian trade during the early eighteenth century, only 

a few hundred English Indian traders operated along the southern colonial frontier 

between the Savannah River to the Tennessee River.46 The business they conducted 

required skilled, seasoned individuals who understood the intricacies of Native culture. 

Most Indian traders, as well as the laborers who accompanied them on their journeys, 

spoke one or more Native languages.47 Many of these individuals spent months or years 

living among the Natives they traded with in order to seal alliances, gain trust, and better 

understand their Native partners. Few colonists possessed the knowledge, skill, or 

inclination to balance these complex social relationships while risking their lives many 

miles from home within an alien culture. 

Upon arrival at their trading destinations, Indian traders shed their colonial 

identities and melded into Native culture. Native hosts expected their colonial guests to 

conform to their social and cultural practices.48 Native villages often accepted trusted 

traders as residents of their community.49 Traders who took up residence customarily 

married native wives and fathered bi-racial children who remained among their mother’s 

clan.50 Many traders entered into these marriages despite also maintaining families within 

the colonial sphere. A trader’s Native wife and children might work to gain status within 

their village and thereby help to further the trader’s status and business relationships.51 As 

extended members of a village community, Indian traders also occasionally accompanied 

village warriors on military expeditions against their enemies.52 Prospective Indian 

traders often worked within the Indian trade for many years before gaining the ability to 
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advance and successfully conduct business among Native villages and lead their own 

expeditions.53 

The Indian trade had not always centered itself around professionalism. In the 

early days of English colonial settlement, a variety of colonists conducted petty exchange 

with local natives they befriended.54 Although the Virginia government required Indian 

traders to obtain licenses in order to conduct their business, many colonists simply 

ignored the law and continued to trade with nearby Natives. Private and unlicensed 

Indian traders oftentimes committed offenses against local Natives that threatened the 

stability of colonial-Natives peace. In 1660, a group of private Indian traders seized and 

imprisoned the King of the Weyanokes for debt. The Virginia House of Burgesses later 

determined that the debt derived from “disadvantageous bargaines” and ordered the 

king’s release.55 Inflammatory events such as this reminded Virginia leaders that private 

Indian traders acting in their own interest often placed the colony at peril.56 Those leaders 

came to realize that their laissez-faire attitude toward the Indian trade might produce dire 

consequences. Too many Indian traders operated too freely, and often with little or no 

supervision by colonial authorities.  

The Virginia House of Assembly acted in 1662 to rein in the Indian trade.57 

Assembly members acknowledged that “many underhand and unlicensed traders doe 

truck and trade with the Indians,” and that had contributed to “mutuall discontents, 

complaints, jealousies and ffeares.”58 The law passed by the Assembly, the act 

“Concerning Indians” (1662), strengthened Virginia’s prohibitions against unlicensed 

commerce with Natives by adding a hefty fine that amounted to three times the value of 

any goods exchanged in unlicensed trade.59 The new law additionally streamlined the 
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procedure for prosecuting illegal traders by allowing accusers to present charges against 

them “at any court.”60 These legal changes began the process of consolidating and 

professionalizing the Indian trade in Virginia. The responsibility of licensing Indian 

traders fell to Virginia’s governor who issued Indian trade licenses sparingly. A small 

group of well-connected Indian traders thereafter took control of Virginia’s trade with 

Native nations.61 In the aftermath of these changes, the Indian trade consolidated and 

became more clannish; its participants, even within its lowest ranks, hailed from a web of 

interconnected families, who mostly possessed deep multi-generational ties to the Indian 

trade. 

Qualified individuals who possessed trading acumen and a tolerance for 

dangerous, difficult, and often lonely work, became a rare commodity among English 

colonists. In the years following the seventeenth-century tobacco boon, most yeoman 

colonists contented themselves with the acquisition of inexpensive land and eked out a 

safe and respectable living as tobacco planters. Indian trader James Adair recalled 

dangers present during Indian trade expeditions that would “chill the blood of many.”62 

Individuals engaged in the Indian trade differed substantially from the average colonist. 

Indian traders possessed a higher level of risk-tolerance and comfort outside of the 

bounds of the colonial mainstream. Britain’s outcasts disproportionately composed the 

ranks of the Indian trade by the eighteenth century. Those who gravitated to this 

occupation included exiled Jacobite Scots, native Irish, and former indentured servants.63 

Together, Indian traders comprised a unique collective community in the southern 

colonial sphere—a meritocracy where the ability to conduct the complex business of the 

Indian trade, often under extreme circumstances, superseded race, gender, and social 
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caste.64 Eighteenth century observer Baron Von Graffenried noted that Carolina’s Indian 

traders produced “great profit,” even from meager beginnings in “small trade,” and that 

they “have throve as fast as any Men, and the soonest raised themselves of any People I 

have known in Carolina.”65 

Indian traders understood their worth to the colonial enterprise and often used 

their favored status to press the limits of acceptable colonial behavior. Robert Hicks, a 

man who eventually became one of the most prolific Virginia Indian traders of his era, 

found himself at odds with colonial authorities in 1693 for “appearing drunk in court.”66 

Hicks made multiple appearances in Charles City court records during his lifetime for 

variety of legal infractions. William Byrd II, a powerful member of Virginia’s governing 

elite and one of the principal financiers of the Indian trade in Virginia, often spent time 

ingratiating the traders in his employ, including Hicks. In his diary, Byrd recalled a 

meeting with Hicks at Byrd’s plantation where he “had the patience to hear him talk very 

foolishly” for several hours as the two men shared a meal.67 Indian traders, especially 

operatives such as Hicks who carried out much of the hard work of the trade in the field, 

possessed high value. Men such as Byrd therefore occasionally went out of their way to 

appease them. This sometimes included shielding them from legal trouble. When a fellow 

member of the Virginia gentry, Richard Fitzwilliam, sought to punish Hicks for perceived 

insolence in 1727, Byrd sided against Fitzwilliam, a member of his own class, and with 

the hardscrabble Hicks who he vociferously defended.68 In 1694, a neighbor sued Hicks 

for his failure to deliver a horse as promised. Although the court found that Hix never 

delivered the horse, the judge, perhaps in deference to Byrd, who wielded great local 

influence, acquitted Hicks and ordered his accuser to pay the court costs.69 
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The neighbors of Herman Geiger, a South Carolina Indian trader, called him a 

“useless man” “who swore and cursed.” Geiger’s neighbors celebrated his departure from 

their community in 1740 when he moved his trade operations to a nearby town.70 Yet to 

the South Carolina government, Geiger possessed great value as an interpreter and 

emissary to the Catawba and Cherokee. When Gieger bravely lost his life defending 

fellow South Carolina traders along the trading path to the Cherokee in 1751, South 

Carolina leaders praised him as a hero.71 Local colonial authorities regularly admonished 

Indian traders for theft, licentiousness, drunkenness, and not always adhering to laws and 

prohibitions designed to bring some semblance of order to their profession. Yet despite 

their many transgressions, instances of punishment delivered to Indian traders rarely 

appear in colonial records.72 

Indian traders also challenged colonial social norms regarding interracial 

relationships. Whites in the Indian trade and members of their immediate family often 

married or otherwise engaged in intimate relationships with Black persons at a rate higher 

than that of other Whites in colonial society.73 In 1752, James Francis, the militia 

commander for the Ninety-Six Settlement, complained to South Carolina Governor 

James Glenn about the household of Cherokee trader John Vann. According to Francis, 

John Vann’s household contained “no less than three Negroes, one Mulatto, and a half-

bred Indian,” all of whom lived intimately with Vann as equals.74 The multiethnic 

makeup of Vann’s household, combined with the fact that Vann employed these 

individuals within his Indian trade operation, particularly irked Francis.”75 John 

Castellaw, the son of an Indian trade merchant who operated trade factories at the Cashie 

and Roanoke Rivers, engaged in a common law marriage with a free woman of color.76 
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Isaac Barksdale, a trader among the Upper Creek villages, fathered two children with 

Nancy, an enslaved Black woman with whom he maintained a committed relationship. 

Barksdale freed Nancy and her two children and additionally provided for them in his 

will.77 Moses Nunes, an Augusta Indian trade merchant, recognized his “mulatto” 

concubine, Rose, as well as their four children in his will.78 George Galphin, the most 

successful of the colonial Indian traders working out of Augusta, Georgia, in the mid-

eighteenth century variously cohabitated with five women over the course of his life, 

including two enslaved Black women, Sappha and Mina (Rose). Galphin, a wealthy man, 

provided generously for all of his children, including his daughters born to Sappha and 

Mina who received equal shares of Galphin’s estate after his death in 1780.79  

Colonial officials knew of the Indian trader’s penchant for interracial 

relationships. While decrying the practice of Indian traders committing bigamy by taking 

Native wives in trading villages, Anglican clergyman Peter Fontaine added that 

Virginia’s Indian traders also engaged in “much more heinous practices.”80 Fontaine 

lamented that Indian traders “take up with negro women, by which means the country 

swarms with mulatto bastards, and these mulattoes, if but three generations removed from 

tho [sic] black father or mother, may, by the indulgence of the laws of the country, 

intermarry with the white people, and actually do every day.”81 Fontaine’s words clearly 

indicate interracial unions that went beyond brief sexual interactions with enslaved 

Blacks. Fontaine described long term relationships between White Indian traders and free 

people of color that produced multiple offspring who integrated into White society. 

Fontaine had considerable exposure to the Indian trade through his brother, John 

Fontaine, who gained notoriety during the eighteenth century as an Indian trader and 
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explorer. Fontaine also served as the minister of Westover Parish in Charles City County, 

Virginia—the home parish of Virginia’s leading Indian trade merchant, William Byrd II, 

and many of Byrd’s Indian trade operatives. Fontaine therefore spoke from personal 

experience when he described widespread intimate relationships between Indian traders 

and free people of color during the first half of the eighteenth century in Virginia. 

In at least one instance, the Indian trade challenged both colonial race and gender 

norms. Mary Musgrove, a Creek woman, rose to prominence in Georgia’s colonial Indian 

trade during the eighteenth century. Musgrove, known as Coosaponakeesa to the Creek, 

had prominent ties within the Creek nation as the niece of both the principal Creek leader, 

Emperor Brims, and the Creek war chief, Chekilli.82 In 1717, Coosaponakeesa married 

John Musgrove Jr., the son of Colonel John Musgrove, an Indian trader and member of 

South Carolina’s Board of Indian Commissioners. The elder Musgrove had helped South 

Carolina governor Nathaniel Johnson stabilize that colony’s relationship with the Creek 

nation following the disastrous Yamasee War.83 During his negotiation with the Creek in 

1717, Colonel Musgrove agreed to wed his son to Coosaponakeesa as a gesture of amity. 

Following her marriage, Coosaponakeesa became baptized and took the Christian name 

Mary.  

John and Mary Musgrove became a powerful husband and wife team that 

counseled colonial leaders on trade and diplomacy with the Creek. The South Carolina 

government often called upon the Musgroves to act as Native interpreters and emissaries. 

In 1732, they used their influence to inveigle Governor Robert Johnson of South Carolina 

to award them exclusive rights to construct a Creek trading post advantageously placed at 

the head of the Creek trade near Yamacraw Bluff, at the site of present-day Savannah, 
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Georgia.84 When John Oglethorpe formed the Georgia colony the following year, he 

utilized Yamacraw Bluff as his beachhead for settlement. John and Mary Musgrove 

became two of Oglethorpe’s closest advisors. After the death of her husband in 1735, 

Mary Musgrove continued as an advisor to the Georgia government and the operator of 

the Musgrove’s highly-successful trading fort at Yamacraw Bluff.85 Georgia’s governor 

awarded Musgrove an annual salary of £100 for her work on behalf of that colony. As a 

factor, Musgrove conducted business with Creek and English traders who frequented her 

Yamacraw Bluff trading fort. By 1739, Musgrove had become one of the wealthiest 

individuals in Georgia.86 Musgrove, a Creek woman successfully engaged in the Indian 

trade, exemplified how race and gender—attributes that could impede success in more 

structured colonial environments—played a lesser role within the less structured, more 

malleable world of the Indian trade. 

Free people of color who sought an environment that placed achievement before 

race naturally gravitated to the Indian trade. Not surprisingly, free people of color are 

found among the ranks of the earliest English colonial Indian Traders. Mathias De Sousa, 

a Portuguese-speaking African “moloato,” came to Maryland in 1623 on board The Ark 

as part of the first supply of colonists to the fledgling Maryland colony.87 De Sousa 

initially worked for Jesuit missionaries who operated a fur trading business from their 

base along the Chesapeake Bay. The trade in this area revolved mostly around the 

acquisition of beaver pelts. The Jesuits utilized the income produced by their fur trade 

operation to fund missionary activities.88  

By the 1630s, De Sousa’s name appeared in Maryland records alongside that of 

other Indian traders such as John Hallowes, Thomas Boys, and Roger Oliver. Together, 
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these traders conducted a brisk trade with Potomac-area Native nations from their base in 

St. Mary’s County.89 The Jesuits released De Sousa from his service in 1638 but he 

continued his work with them as an independent Indian trader for at least several years 

thereafter. In November 1642, De Sousa filed a deposition in Maryland court in support 

of a wage suit brought by a man he had hired for a trading expedition.90 A portion of that 

deposition reveals that De Sousa acted as that expedition’s leader—an indication of his 

status as a principal Indian trader. The deposition stated that “Mathias De Sousa made 

oath that about March was twelvemonth he was appointed by Mr. Pulton to goe in his 

pinace as skipper and trade with the [Susquehanna] and by him appointed to hire men at 

Kent for the voyage.”91 In March 1641, De Sousa, now a successful colonist, appeared 

among Maryland “freemen” who voted at a meeting of the Maryland Assembly.92  

The Maryland Jesuits imported another African servant, Francisco Peres, into that 

colony in 1637.93 Mathais De Sousa, Francisco Peres, and perhaps other Africans brought 

into Maryland during this period by the Jesuits to work in their fur-trading operation 

became acquainted with Indian trade as servants before branching out on their own 

following their release from servitude. De Souza’s arrival and release date indicates that 

he likely served the Jesuits for seven years, a common length of servitude for English 

indentured servants during the seventeenth century. No evidence exists to say whether or 

not De Souza and the Jesuits executed a contract that defined the particulars of his 

servitude. Nevertheless, the Jesuits seem to have honored a fixed term of service. 

Following his release, De Souza, like other servants in the English colonies during the 

seventeenth century, joined the ranks on the colony’s freemen and thereafter marketed his 

labor as he pleased. 
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Kent Island, Maryland, where De Sousa based his trade operation, also became a 

trading base for Virginia Indian traders working within the Chesapeake.94 The most 

prominent of these traders, William Claiborne, acquired substantial wealth and served as 

a member of the Virginia Council of State.95 Along with several other Virginia traders, 

Claibourne established a trading base at Kent Island prior to that area’s annexation by 

Maryland.96 After the founding of Maryland, Claiborne, a staunch Protestant, rebelled 

against that colony’s Catholic leaders.97 When Maryland authorities moved to evict the 

Virginians from Kent Island, Claiborne resisted. Following several years of 

remonstrance, protests to royal authorities, occasional armed conflict, and an attempted 

coup d’état perpetrated by the Virginians, Claiborne reluctantly abandoned his Kent 

Island operation and returned to Virginia.98 Claiborne’s conflict with Maryland, 

combined with the disruptions in the flow of trade goods from England caused by the 

English Civil War, complicated Maryland’s ability to continue trade with local Natives.99  

By 1640, the Chesapeake fur trade had faltered.100 Over the following decade, conflict 

with the Susquehanna and declining populations of beaver pushed Maryland’s fur trade 

into further collapse.101 

Mathias De Sousa accumulated considerable debt after the breakdown of the 

Chesapeake trade. To complicate matters, De Sousa owed his debts to influential 

individuals, including Maryland’s Secretary of the Province and Attorney General, John 

Lewger.102 There exists no record to show what became of De Sousa after 1643. De 

Sousa may have perished in the ongoing Susquehanna conflict. Given his debt and the 

dim prospects of repaying it via continued trade in Maryland, De Sousa may have 

removed to Virginia to seek relief, and perhaps gained employment within Virginia’s 
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rising trade with Native Nations south of the Chesapeake.103 Other Portuguese Africans 

working for the Jesuits when they abandoned their fur trading activities in the mid -1640s 

may have also chosen this route.104 Northampton, the county that borders Maryland on 

the Eastern Shore of Virginia, became home to a significant free Black population by the 

mid-seventeenth century.105 Free Blacks bearing Portuguese names such as Emanuel 

Driggus (Rodrigues), John Francisco, and Bashasar Farnando (Fernando) resided in 

Northampton County during the second half of the seventeenth century.106 

Northampton County’s seventeenth-century free Blacks also regularly conducted 

business with local Natives. A 1660 Northampton County court deposition filed in a 

lawsuit against Phillip Mongum, a free Black, declared that Mongum “hath imployed an 

Indian with a gun.”107 The court’s justices found that the Native in question carried the 

firearm provided by Mongum “in the woods,” perhaps indicating that Mongum had 

provided the weapon to the Native man for the purpose of hunting on Mongum’s 

behalf.108 In 1667, Somerset County, Mayland authorities charged John Johnson, the free 

Black son of Anthony Johnson, along with two White men, with stealing from a 

Manoakin named Katackcuweiticks.109 The court later ordered Johnson and his co-

defendants to pay recompence directly to the King of the Manoakin.110 In 1652, Indian 

trader William Andrews sought the help of the Northampton County court to prohibit 

individuals from conducting trade with his Black servant, John.111 Like other mid-

seventeenth-century servants, John had apparently developed a modest trade with local 

Natives in order to gather income. 

2.1: THE PIEDMONT 
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In 1642, war erupted between the Province of Maryland and their Susquehannock 

neighbors. The ensuing conflict lasted ten years. During that time, the fur trade conducted 

along the Chesapeake effectively ceased.112 The interruption in the Chesapeake trade 

compelled Virginia’s leaders to look elsewhere in order to continue their lucrative 

commerce with Natives. Deteriorating trade with Virginia’s nearby regional trading 

partners additionally propelled the need for Virginians to expand the scope of their 

Native trade relationships.  

In the several decades that followed the establishment of the Virginia colony in 

1607, colonists conducted the bulk of their trade with nearby Algonquin people who 

resided within the Tidewater Region. These Algonquin comprised what scholars refer to 

as the Powhatan Confederacy. Vicious wars between the Powhatan and Virginia colonists 

erupted in 1609 and 1622. These wars, along with the uneasy periods of peace that 

followed, complicated commerce. On April 18, 1644 the Powhatan Confederacy initiated 

the Third Anglo-Powhatan War in response to increasing land encroachment by colonists. 

The following year, Virginia Governor William Berkeley retaliated by launching a 

campaign of annihilation to extricate the Powhatan from the Jamestown peninsula. Over 

the next two years, The Virginians burned Powhatan villages, cut down Powhatan corn 

crops, killed or captured most military-aged Powhatan males, and executed the principal 

Powhatan leader, Opechancanough. 

By 1646, the once powerful Powhatan lay in ruins. While colonists rejoiced after 

the final defeat of the Powhatan Confederacy, their victory also eliminated the Powhattan 

as viable peacetime trading partners.113 Elevated levels of disease brought about by 

increased contact with colonists further added to Powhatan population loses incurred 
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during the three Powhatan wars. Population declines greatly diminished the number of 

Powhatan hunters able to acquire animal furs and skins for trade.114 In addition, land-

intensive tobacco farming had markedly reduced Tidewater-area habitat for fur-bearing 

animals. By the mid-seventeenth century, war and environmental degradation rendered 

Virginia’s Tidewater region incapable of sustaining the animal fur and skin trade.115 If 

Virginia leaders hoped to continue to enjoy the benefits of Native commerce, they needed 

to find new Native trading partners outside of the area of the Jamestown peninsula 

beyond the Fall Line. 

In 1642, the Virginia House of Burgesses entreated Indian trader Henry Fleet and 

the recently displaced Chesapeake Indian trader William Claiborne to explore places 

“where no English has been discovered,” that lie “westward and southward of this 

county” in order to seek out new Native trading partners.116  After Claiborne and Fleet 

failed to mount an expedition, Abraham Wood, a competing Indian trader and overseer of 

the recently-constructed trading post at Fort Henry, stepped forward to replace them.117 

On August 27, 1650, Wood, along with a partner, Edward Bland, two servants, and an 

Appomattoc guide, set out from Fort Henry to explore the territory south of the colony. 

Over nine days, the Wood-Bland expedition traveled southeast from Fort Henry before 

reaching the Carolina Piedmont. The expedition headed east toward the Blackwater River 

and then turned southwest, crossing the Nottoway and Meherrin rivers, and then finally 

south toward the Roanoke River.118 The expedition terminated at the Fall Line on the 

Roanoke River near the present-day town of Weldon. 

Following the Wood-Bland expedition’s return to Fort Henry, Edward Bland 

wrote a detailed description of the expedition, as well as of the Native inhabitants they 
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had encountered along their journey which he entitled The Discovery of New Brittaine 

(1651).119 Bland’s account of the Wood-Bland expedition circulated in both Virginia and 

England. The Wood-Bland expedition stimulated a desire among Virginians to expand 

settlement past the Fall Line boundaries agreed to in 1646 and into the lush and fertile 

Piedmont region described by Bland.120 The ambitious Wood proceeded to open new 

trade relations with the Native nations his expedition had contacted along his journey. 

Flush with new trade relationships, Wood’s trading operation at Fort Henry flourished 

and became the epicenter of Virginia’s Indian trade operations for the remainder of the 

seventeenth century.121  

In 1670, Abraham Wood launched another southwest expedition. Earlier that 

year, German explorer John Lederer ventured into that region and returned with tales of 

new Native contact.122 Wood, at the behest of Governor Berkeley, who desired to “make 

new Discoveries abroad amongst the Indians,” dispatched an expedition led by two 

Indian traders in Wood’s employ, Thomas Batts and Robert Fallam.123 During the first 

leg of that expedition, Fallam casually recorded the presence of a “Portuguese” servant 

working for Abraham Wood who resided in Saponi Town, the principal village of the 

Saponi, a western Native nation that had previously established trade with Wood.124 

Fallam mentioned this “Portuguese” servant only briefly and the expedition found this 

encounter uneventful. Without any further information on this “Portuguese” servant, one 

can only speculate as to his identity. Wood had a trading relationship with the Saponi and 

his traders regularly visited Saponi Town. Wood’s “Portuguese” servant likely had 

Portuguese African origins and may have come into Wood’s service as a refugee from the 
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defunct Jesuit fur trading operation in Maryland. West Africans from areas colonized by 

the Portuguese claimed Portuguese identity under a variety of circumstances.125 

The following year, Batts and Fallam became the first Europeans to cross the 

Appalachian Mountains and reach the New River.126 The Batts-Fallam expedition 

confirmed speculation among Virginia leaders regarding promising new territory and 

potential new trading relationships over the mountains to the west. The journey to reach 

that territory, however, proved arduous. The Trans-Appalachian region held the promise 

of lucrative trade with new and powerful Native nations. Yet, difficult terrain and the lack 

of knowledge regarding Trans-Appalachian Native inhabitants complicated further 

exploration efforts. 127 

In 1673, Abraham Wood sponsored a second western expedition by James 

Needham and Gabriel Arthur.128 Needham and Arthur passed through the Blue Ridge 

Mountains into the Tennessee River valley and made contact with the Tomihittans, a 

Cherokee group.129 After spending time among the Cherokee and learning of their desire 

to initiate direct trade, Needham departed to bring news of their success to Wood at Fort 

Henry. Needham, however, did not make complete his journey; his Native guide killed 

him along the way after an argument.130 

Gabriel Arthur thereafter became stranded among his Cherokee hosts. Over the 

course of the next year, Arthur accompanied the Cherokee on an odyssey of raids and 

expeditions that took him through Kentucky, Ohio, Georgia, and Florida, before heading 

west to reach the Mississippi River. During his journey toward Florida, Arthur 

encountered “a town of negroes, spatious and great.”131 South Carolina maroons likely 

formed this village in an area dominated by the Creek nation.132 Instances of coexistence 
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such as this shed light on how runaway slaves, or entire maroon colonies, may have 

acclimated southern Native nations to contact with Black colonists. Arthur returned to 

Fort Henry with news of his adventures through vast uncharted expanses of North 

America. Arthur confirmed the longstanding belief held by Wood and others that an 

immense country capable of producing abundant trade lay to the west. This realization 

helped to shape Indian trade policy for many years to come. The discovery of seemingly 

limitless land and new Native trading partners to the west refocused the attention of 

colonial Indian traders. 

As the operator of Fort Henry, Virginia’s southwestern trading fort, Wood stood 

to reap enormous gain from the new Native relationships within his trade sphere. Wood, a 

former child servant forcibly transported to Virginia as an orphan, amassed a fortune 

from his Indian trade operations and became one of the colony’s largest land holders.133 

In his later years, Wood rose to the position of Major General of the Virginia Militia. 

Wood’s well-connected friends included Governor Berkeley, who often sought Wood’s 

advice on Native matters.134 By the time of his death sometime between 1681 and 1686, 

Wood had become one of the most influential individuals in the colony.135 The Indian 

trade had taken an orphan servant boy and transformed him into one of the wealthiest 

men in Virginia. Individuals like Wood who could master the complexities of the Indian 

trade had the potential to rise to great heights, regardless of their social caste. 

Wood had rivals during the years he built his Indian trade business. Competing 

Indian trader Thomas Stegge ran a similarly successful trading operation on the James 

River.136 Like Wood, Stegge parlayed his success as an Indian trader into political power; 

he amassed influential friends and a gained a series of appointments to important colonial 
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posts, including a captain’s commission and a stint as auditor general of the colony.137 In 

the late 1660s, Stegge’s nephew, William Byrd I, immigrated to Virginia from London. 

Stegge immediately put Byrd to work in his trading business.138 When Stegge died in 

1671, Byrd inherited his Indian trade operation. Byrd continued and expanded Stegge’s 

James River trading business as the overseer of trade at Fort Charles.139 Like his uncle, 

Byrd obtained wealth, a commission as a captain of the militia, and friendships with some 

of Virginia’s leading men, including Governor Berkeley.140 

During the 1670s, Byrd befriended another prominent member of the Virginia 

colony, Nathaniel Bacon. In 1675, Byrd and Bacon collaborated on an Indian trade 

partnership.141 Their plans, however, eroded when trouble along the frontier caused the 

Virginia General Assembly to deny them a trading license. Bacon blamed Governor 

Berkeley and his powerful friends in the assembly, many of them having conflicting 

business interests, for the denial of his trade venture with Byrd.142 Virginia’s established 

trade merchants enjoyed the steady volume of trade that flowed into Virginia’s trading 

forts and saw little need to upset the existing trade order with expansion. Upstart 

merchants such as Byrd and Bacon sought to establish new Native partnerships outside 

the existing trade geography. These men resented Berkley and the “trade fort” merchant 

cartel that they saw as the primary obstacles to their success.143 At the same time, the 

colony’s frontier land owners resented the same individuals for pro-trade Native policies 

that they believed protected hostile Natives. These frontier settlers additionally despised 

Berkeley for his failure to retaliate against Natives for a series of attacks that began in 

July 1675.144 Bacon’s continued anger and agitation against Berkeley eventually boiled 

over into a full-blown rebellion in 1676. 
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Bacon’s Rebellion erupted in September 1676. After Governor Berkeley failed to 

meet his demands, Bacon’s rebels overtook Jamestown and forced  Governor Berkeley to 

flee across the James River into exile. Bacon had publicly decried Virginia’s Indian trade 

elite in a letter to London exclaiming “these Indian traders at the head of the rivers buy 

and sell our blood.”145 Bacon referred to pro-trade policies enacted by Berkeley that he 

believed favored Native trading partners who Bacon held accountable for frontier 

violence against colonists.146 Yet despite Bacon’s rhetoric, as an aspiring Indian trader, 

he too benefitted from Berkeley’s pro-trade Native policies. Bacon embraced anti-Native 

sentiment and the fear of Native attacks simply as a way stir conflict in order to gain 

Native captives that he could later sell as slaves.147 After Bacon threatened violence, the 

Virginia House of Burgesses appeased him with a militia commission. Bacon utilized this 

commission to attack and annihilate several neighboring native nations including the 

Occaneechi. Bacon specifically targeted the Occaneechi, a peaceful people allied with the 

English, as part of a calculated plan aimed at removing them as an impediment to 

expanded trade in the Carolina Piedmont and beyond.148  

The Occaneechi occupied a strategic position along a fordable section of the 

Roanoke River which straddled the main trading path known as the Occaneechi Trail. 

This major Native trade thoroughfare connected southwest Virginia to the Carolina 

Piedmont and areas beyond into the southwest.149 From this strategic vantage point, the 

Occaneechi controlled the flow of trade between other Piedmont Native nations and 

Virginia traders.150 Virginia leaders had acquiesced to the Occaneechi’s middleman status 

in the interest of maintaining peace along their southern border. Established merchants 

who controlled the trade at the four official trade forts profited heavily and could afford 
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the small cut of their profits taken by the Occaneechi in exchange for protecting their 

existing trade business. Upstart traders such as Bacon and Byrd, however, understood 

that the Occaneechi served as an impediment to a more robust and expansive direct trade 

with Native nations to the south.151 

 Bacon’s Rebellion ended with Nathaniel Bacon’s death from dysentery on 

October 26, 1676. Following Bacon’s death, his disillusioned supporters burnt most of 

Jamestown to the ground before disbanding. Shortly thereafter, Governor Berkeley retook 

control of the colony. Bacon’s Rebellion had a lasting effect upon Virginia Native 

policy.152 In the following years, Virginia’s government relaxed its hitherto strict control 

of the Indian trade. While Virginia’s official trading forts remained at the center of its 

Indian commerce policy, a modest number of Independent Indian traders obtained 

licenses and began conducting business outside of those forts. These independent traders 

eventually expanded the scope of Virginia’s Indian commerce and successfully competed 

with established trade fort merchants. 

Bacon’s Rebellion also reintroduced the Native slave trade in Virginia. The 1646 

Powhatan treaty expressly forbade the taking of Native slaves.153 Under duress from 

Bacon and his rebels during the height of the rebellion, the Virginia General Assembly 

reversed their Native slave trade prohibition.154 In 1676, Virginia legislators enacted a 

new law that allowed militia soldiers to “retain and keep” any “Indian plunder,” including 

Native captives, gained during military operations against “hostile” Natives.155 Berkeley 

subsequently upheld and continued Virginia’s 1676 Native enslavement law following 

the reestablishment of his government in 1677.156  
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This change in Virginia law led many Indian traders to reengage in the Native 

slave trade.157 Virginia traders once again pressured their Native trade partners to procure 

Native captives to supply the slave market. This task presented problems for Virginia’s 

existing regional Native trading partners. By 1677, Virginia’s military conquest against 

surrounding Native nations led to the destruction of a large number of Native groups east 

of the Appalachian Mountains.158 The few surviving Native groups within that area had 

accepted tributary status and thereafter became protected allies. Thus, destruction and 

subjugation both reduced the numbers of Native trade partners and eliminated most of the 

“hostile” Natives colonial traders could legally take as slaves within Virginia’s existing 

Indian trade geography. Virginia Indian traders therefore looked to open new trade 

relationships with Native nations located outside that existing geography in the Carolina 

Piedmont and beyond. New relationships guaranteed a steady supply of slaves, as well as 

highly sought-after animal hides. 

By 1677, Virginia leaders viewed southern expansion as a way to access new 

Native trading partners and acquire more land for colonial settlement. The Treaty of 

1677, also referred to as the Articles of Peace at Middle Plantation, ended Virginia’s 

military conquest among regional Native nations and expanded its settlement 

boundaries.159 With settlement boundaries extended, colonists began to move south of the 

James and Blackwater Rivers into areas formerly claimed by the Nottoway and 

Meherrin.160 This expansion along Virginia’s southern frontier provided Virginia Indian 

traders with the opportunity to further extend their trading bases into the Piedmont. 

Enterprising Indian trade merchants, such as William Byrd I, capitalized upon this new 

environment by engaging in direct trade with Native nations south and west of Virginia 
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along the Meherrin, Nottoway, and Blackwater Rivers. From these locations, traders 

employed by Byrd and others ventured south into the Carolina Piedmont and opened 

trade with Catawba, Westo, Tuscarora, and Saponi villages.161 

At the close of the seventeenth century, a new generation of Indian traders rose to 

expand Virginia’s Indian trade into the southern Piedmont. Abraham Wood protégé Peter 

Jones married Wood’s daughter, Margaret, and took over command of Fort Henry in 

1675.162 Jones’ brother, Cadwallader Jones, opened a successful trading fort on the 

Rappahannock River.163 William Byrd’s son, William Byrd II, came of age and took over 

the family trading business as his father elevated himself within Virginia’s political 

hierarchy. Robert Evans, another of Wood’s acolytes, began his own successful trade to 

the south with the Catawba.164 Evan’s sons, John and Stephen, went to work for the 

younger Byrd.165 Evans’ daughter, Winnifred, later married Robert Hicks, an enterprising 

young trader employed by Wood.166 Hicks later went to work for Byrd and became one 

of the most dominant and omnipresent Indian traders in Virginia, as well as a prominent 

Native affairs advisor to the Virginia government.167 Thus, at the end of the seventeenth 

century, old trade rivalries became realigned and new combinations among independent 

traders formed as the Indian trade transformed to encompass new trade relationships and 

ventures to Virginia’s south. Much of the power gained from this expanded trade 

consolidated around the wealthy and influential Byrd family. The Byrds employed 

young, ambitious traders who challenged the political and geographic boundaries of the 

Indian trade while enjoying the legal and political protection William Byrd I provided. 

Kinship, real and fictive, became the glue that held the Indian trade together. 
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During most of the seventeenth century, Native trade partners travelled to 

Virginia’s established trading forts to conduct trade business. Native burdeners 

transported trade goods to and from colonial these forts by foot.168 This method of 

exchange changed near the beginning of the eighteenth century as Virginia Indian traders 

entered into business with new Native partners, such as the Catawba, who resided 

hundreds of miles outside of colonial boundaries. Greater distance necessitated a change 

in the place of exchange. Indian traders began conducting trade with these distant Native 

partners within Native villages. This change venue placed the burden of transporting 

trade goods upon Indian traders. Like the Native traders that preceded them in the 

Virginia and Carolina Piedmont, by the eighteen century, colonial Indian traders began to 

locate their operational bases near trading paths and watercourses that more easily 

connected them to Native trading villages, and along the Fall Line where rocky fords 

abetted overland travel.169 

Three area rivers along Virginia’s southern border—the Blackwater, Nottoway, 

and Meherrin—provided direct access to Nottoway, Meherrin, and Tuscarora trading 

villages by canoe. These rivers also flowed into the Albemarle Sound and provided good 

access to Atlantic shipping.170 The Tuscarora, a large Iroquoian nation that controlled 

much of the Carolina inner Coastal Plain and dominated many of their smaller neighbors, 

became the Blackwater-based trader’s primary trading partner.171 The Tuscarora took up 

a strategic position along the Roanoke River and, much like the Occaneechi nation during 

the seventeenth century, acted as middlemen who controlled the flow of trade with Native 

nations to their south.172 
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Virginians seeking inexpensive land and sometimes fleeing legal troubles 

increasingly flowed over the border into the Albemarle region of present-day North 

Carolina during this time. As this occurred, land conflicts developed with the Tuscarora. 

The lack of control exhibited by the Carolina government, located faraway in Charleston, 

contributed to the offenses committed by colonial settlers against local Natives.173 

Tensions between colonists and Natives boiled over in October, 1707, when a group of 

Tuscarora killed a White Virginian named Jeremiah Pate.174 When multiple Tuscarora 

villages refused to aid in the apprehension of Pate’s killers, the Virginia government  

suspended their arms and ammunition trade.175 Despite this ban, many Virginia Indian 

traders profited by clandestinely supplying arms and ammunition to the Tuscarora 

through other Native nations that acted as intermediaries.176 This ruse greatly angered 

Carolina officials who expressed alarm over the Virginian’s proliferation of arms. The 

Virginia government agreed to rein in the illegal weapons trade. Yet, powerful members 

of the Virginia House of Burgesses, such as William Byrd I, Robert Bolling, and 

Benjamin Harrison—all of whom profited from the Indian trade—thwarted meaningful 

compliance.177  

During the height of these tensions, Indian trader George Fountain, a free person 

of color, found himself in the middle of the Tuscarora trade controversy. In June 1708, 

Virginia authorities asserted that “George Fountain a free Negro hath traded with the 

Tuscarora” in violation of the prohibition put into place.178 The Virginia Executive 

Council ordered the Sherriff of Prince George County to arrest Fountain and to collect a 

bond for his good behavior prior to his appearance before the board to explain his 

actions.179 Although the records of the Virginia Executive Council noted the accusations 
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against Fountain, there exists no record of his trial or punishment. William Byrd II 

recalled a trader by the name of Fountain in his journal who gave name to Fountain’s 

Creek, a body of water that ran adjacent to the Occaneechi trading path along the Virginia 

border. Byrd recollected that an “unfortunate Indian trader, who had unfortunately been 

drowned” in the creek provided its name.180 Byrd’s familiarity with Fountain may offer 

an explanation as to why no record exists of the disposition Fountain’s case. If Byrd 

employed Fountain, he may have profited from Fountain’s illegal trading activities and 

therefore had reason to see Fountain’s charges quietly dismissed. 

Colonial authorities accused other free person of color of mischievous business 

among Native nations over the border in Carolina. Earlier, in 1703, two “free Negro” 

Indian traders caught the ire of acting North Carolina Provincial Governor Robert Daniel 

by fomenting war between the Winyah and Wateree nations. The traders likely instigated 

conflict between the two nations in order to produce war captives to sell as slaves. A 

frustrated Daniel, fearing war in his province, appealed to acting Virginia Governor 

Francis Nicholson for help. The Virginia Executive Council read and recorded Daniel’s 

letter: 

Col. Robert Daniel Deputy Governor of the Province of North Carolina by his 
Letter to his Excellency dated November 2d 1703 informing his Excellency of 

some pernicious Practices of two free Negro Men in this Government that trade 
with the Indians to the Southward and particularly their stirring up the Indians 
called the Windaws to cutt of and carry away diverse of the Indians called 

Wawees living under the Government of South Carolina , His Excellcy desired 
the advice of the Council therein whereupon they are of Opinion that it be 

recommended to the honble Col. Wm Byrd and Col. Benja Harrison to make a 
strict enquiry into the behaviour & Practices of the said two Negro men, in their 
trading amongst the Indians and more especially concerning what is now laid to 

their Charge , and that they prepare a report thereof to be laid before the next 
Session of Assembly that care may be taken for restraining such evil Practices for 

the future.181 
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This passage illustrates the power wielded by Indian traders, regardless of their race. The 

fact that two free Black men during this period garnered the attention of two of the most 

powerful individuals in English colonial America is remarkable. The ultimate outcome 

for these two men is equally extraordinary.  

Daniel wrote a second letter to Governor Nicholson in September 1704. He added 

that “upon treating with the Tuscoruro Indians he had enquired into the behaviour of one 

Fontain & Davis” and that the Tuscarora had similarly complained about their conduct.182 

The Virginia Executive Council once again ordered Byrd to examine the circumstances 

surrounding the Carolinian’s charges.183 On October 23, 1704, the three traders accused 

of impropriety appeared before the Virginia Executive Council. The council recorded the 

following summary of their inquiry: 

John Fontain, John Davis, and Hubert a Negro severally appearing this day before 
his Excellcy & the Council to answer the Complaint made against them by Col. 

Robert Daniel Deputy Governor of North Carolina, and being interrogated 
touching their stirring up the Indians called the Windaws to make war against the 
Wawees, and also touching their stirring up the Tuscoruros to cutt off the 

Inhabitants of Pamptico & Newse in the Government of North Carolina; did all 
deny that ever they had any communication with any of the said Indians relating 

to the matters laid to their charge, but on the contrary had endeavoured to promote 
Peace amongst all the Indians where they have traded: and offered to be ready 
whenever they shall be called upon to answer what shal be objected agt. them in 

relation to the matters afores’d And being severally withdrawn, His Excellency 
and the Council taking into consideration that there appears no Prooff against 

them at present, and that they are willing to answer when they shal be called, Are 
therefore of opinion that they be dismist at this time: And that the honble Coll. 
Robert Daniel be desired to send hither what Proofs he has agt them touching the 

offences they are charged with that this Board may proceed agt them as they shal 
deserve. And the said Fontain, Davis, & Hubert being again called in were by his 

Excellency charged to behave themselves peaceably amongst the Indians for the 
future & then dismist.184 

 

The Virginia Executive Council dismissed Daniel’s charges after they testified that he 

mistook their actions and further pledged to remain well-behaved. By allowing the 
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testimony of two Black persons to enter the proceedings, the councilors gave the 

defendants additional deference. Both Virginia and English law lacked clarity regarding 

the legitimacy of testimony from Black persons in non-capital hearings such as this.185 

Nevertheless, the executive council admitted and believed the testimony given by the two 

free Black Indian traders without question. One year later, the Virginia General Assembly 

passed a law that made the testimony of Blacks persons, free or enslaved, inadmissible in 

Virginia legal proceedings.186 The timing of the testimony taken from John Fontain and 

Hubert amplifies the decision’s meaning. The climate that led to the Virginia’s Black 

testimony ban only a year later surely existed at the time of the traders’ hearing. Yet, the 

executive council allowed the testimony of two Black men in a hearing of great 

magnitude that involved a complaint brought by a powerful English official, the acting 

North Carolina provincial governor. This remarkable hearing illustrates the importance of 

the Indian trade to Virginia’s leaders. The executive council’s actions demonstrated their 

commitment to protecting the individuals who made that trade possible, regardless of 

their race. For free Blacks, no other profession in English colonial America garnered this 

extraordinary level of protection and support. 

Daniel sent Nicholson a third letter on November 11, 1704, that included some of 

the specific evidence against the three accused Virginia traders Nicholson had requested. 

Daniel produced accusations made by a wealthy Carolina planter, William Duckenfield, 

specifically “relating to some Practices of John Fontain” seeking to “stir up” the 

Tuscarora.187 In his measured response that must have appeared tepid to Daniel, 

Nicholson once again promised to look into the matter and to present Daniel’s complaint 

to the Virginia General Assembly. No record of any discussion of Fontain by the Virginia 
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General Assembly exists. Despite Daniel’s earnest and repeated protestations, Virginia 

leaders politely brushed away the acting governor’s complaint against Fontain. 

The three accused Indian traders conducted trade along the Carolina coastal plain 

from trade bases along the Blackwater River in Virginia. Virginia records reveal “Hubert 

a Negro” as Hubbard Gibson, a business partner of fellow accused trader John Fontain. A 

1713 lawsuit by Charles Gee of Charles City County, Virginia, for an overdue debt that 

named both men illustrates their ongoing business relationship.188 The accused White 

trader, John Davis, worked for William Byrd II.189 Virginia records referred to the third 

trader, John Fontain, as a “Negro” when, in 1692, a White Virginian hired him to recover 

his wife and children from members of a Woccon village who had taken them captive.190 

The Woccon village lay in an area south of the Blackwater River where Byrd’s traders 

mostly dominated. Fountain and Gibson also likely worked for Byrd. 

The invisible hand of the powerful William Byrd II surely guided the adjudication 

of the South Carolinians’ complaint. The request by the executive Council for Byrd to 

conduct the initial investigation of the accused traders himself, along with fellow Indian 

trade financier Benjamin Harrison, seems to point towards a farce. Fontain, Davis, and 

Gibson acted under Byrd’s direction. The Byrd family regularly bought and sold Native 

captives and profited heavily from the Native slave trade.191 In a further sign of how 

lightly the executive council took the serious accusations made against Fontain, Davis, 

and Gibson, their next order of business involved a request from the recently acquitted 

Fontain to permit him to trade among the Tuscarora. The executive council immediately 

approved Fontain’s request without debate or comment.192 
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Continued tensions between the Tuscarora and North Carolina colonists 

eventually sparked the Tuscarora War in September 1712. This destructive conflict ended 

on March 1713 when a combined force of North and South Carolina militia, along with 

800 Native allies, surrounded Fort Neoheroka, the Tuscarora stronghold. The 

formidability of Fort Neoheroka took the Carolinians by surprise.193 The fort had a 

European design with 360 feet of high palisade wall, five angled bastions to promote 

defensive fire, and seventeen hardened bunker structures.194 The Carolinians later learned 

that a Black man known only as “Harry,” who lived among the Tuscarora, had helped 

them design the impressive structure and its surrounding earthworks.195  Fort Neoheroka 

withstood attack for three weeks before succumbing to fire. After the Tuscarora 

surrender, Harry “was cutt to pieces immediately” by the victorious South Carolinians 

along with another Black prisoner who had aided the Tuscarora.196 Colonel John 

Barnwell, who commanded the South Carolina troops that came to the aid of  the North 

Carolinians, called the mysterious Harry a “notorious rogue” that South Carolina officials 

had “sold into Virginia for roguery” but who had since escaped.197 

When the Tuscarora War ended in 1715, the Tuscarora nation lay in ruin. In the 

years that followed, most Tuscarora migrated to New York to join the Iroquois 

Confederacy. A branch of the Tuscarora nation that remained neutral during the conflict 

agreed to resettle on a reservation in Bertie County on the north bank of the Roanoke 

River. This group continued to trade with North Carolinians and Virginians. Their low 

production of deer hides, however, reflected their depleted population.198 With the 

Tuscarora vanquished, the single greatest impediment to expanded trade further south 

evaporated. Virginia Indian traders quickly moved into the land along the Roanoke River 
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relinquished by the departing Tuscarora.199 From this new vantage point, Virginia traders 

shortened the distances they travelled to reach southward Native trade partners and 

enjoyed direct and unfettered access to a greater number of Native trading villages across 

the Carolina Piedmont and coastal plain.  

By the 1720s, Virginia Indian traders and their financial backers sought further 

trade expansion. The late Tuscarora War, as well as disease, had once again reduced the 

ranks of Virginia’s Native trading partners. Virginia’s dwindling population of tributary 

Native hunters could not keep up with the with the colonial demand for animal furs and 

skins. In addition, the environmental damage produced by years of over-hunting reduced 

the populations of fur-bearing animals and exacerbated the problem further.200 Native 

trade allies, eager to access English trade goods—often firearms to protect against raids 

from other nations similarly supplied by the same colonial traders—organized large parts 

of their society around deer hunting to produce evermore deerskins for trade. The high 

European demand for deerskins ensured buyers for whatever quantity of skins Native 

hunters could produce.201 Thus, Native hunters had incentive to over-hunt. Native hunters 

sometimes started large forest fires in an effort to flush ever-thinning herds of whitetail 

deer into kill zones.202 In the process, those hunters destroyed deer habitat and great 

swaths of land became devoid of fur-bearing animals. As deer disappeared from large 

areas of the coastal plain, Native hunters moved ever-deeper into the Piedmont. 203 When 

Native trading partners moved, Indian traders followed, re-establishing trading bases that 

provided better proximity to Native trading villages. 

The cycle of trade initiation, exploitation, collapse, and movement thereafter 

became the driving rhythm of the Indian trade. The trade for deerskins wrought incredible 
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damage on animal and Native populations, and on the environment shared by both. 

Relationships with colonial traders also put Natives in contact with European diseases 

and often involved the exchange of alcohol which caused great social disruption in 

Native societies.204 Thus, the deerskin trade accelerated the decline of its Native 

participants while simultaneously increasing the amount of vacated Native land eagerly 

settled by land-covetous colonists.  

The near destruction of the fledgling North Carolina colony in the Tuscarora War, 

as well as that conflict’s high financial cost, unsettled Virginia Governor Alexander 

Spotswood. At the onset of the war, Spotswood estimated the cost of sending two 

hundred Virginia militia troops to aid North Carolina at £4,000.205 Spotswood asked the 

North Carolina government to provide that amount to support the mobilization of 

Virginia militia troops but North Carolina officials claimed poverty.206 North Carolina’s 

once lucrative Indian trade became upended during the conflict and its government 

lacked the financial resources to properly defend itself.207 Tariffs associated with the 

Indian trade, such as those placed on the export of deerskins, provided vital revenue for 

colonial governments. When the Indian trade faltered, this revenue decreased 

substantially. Cognizant of the connection between a stable Indian trade and colonial 

security, Spotswood became more personally involved than previous Virginia governors 

in the affairs of Virginia’s Indian trade.208 

The aggravating role played by some Virginia Indian traders in the lead-up to the 

Tuscarora War did not escape Spotswood’s notice. John Lawson, a colonial official 

whose capture and murder by the Tuscarora helped to ignite war, wrote prior to his death 

of complaints he had heard pertaining to trader price-gouging.209 Avaricious Indian 
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traders seeking to maximize their profits also accelerated the Native slave trade—

something that continually angered and concerned the region’s Native nations, most 

notably the Tuscarora. William Byrd II, who Spotswood summoned to provide advice at 

the onset of the war, blamed Carolina traders for the events that caused conflict. Byrd 

believed that many Carolina traders had acted like “petty rulers,” often insulting Native 

trading partners and treating them unjustly.210 Byrd, however, had an interest in sullying 

the character of the Carolinians. Virginia Indian traders employed by Byrd competed 

against the Carolinians for trade business. Byrd may have pointed blame at the Carolina 

traders as a way to eliminate competition. Byrd’s aggressive move backfired. Spotswood 

judged that all Indian traders had become part of the problem. Thereafter, he became 

determined to better regulate the Indian trade. 

Spotswood’s solution for wresting control of his colony’s Native commerce 

involved creation of a consolidated government-run Indian trade monopoly. In 1714, The 

Virginia legislature passed “An Act for the Better Regulation of the Indian Trade” at 

Spotswood’s behest. This new law stated that “No person or persons whatsoever 

inhabiting this colony shall trade traffique barter or Sell any goods Wares or 

Merchandizes to or with any of the Indians Tributary to this Government inhabiting on 

the South Side of the James River in Exchange for any Skins or Furrs or with any Foreign 

Indians at any place within this Colony Except at Fort Christanna.”211 Spotswood 

effectively outlawed the private Indian trade in Virginia and replaced it with the Virginia 

Indian Company, a government-operated entity he controlled. The Virginia Indian 

Company positioned its sole trading post, Fort Christanna, along the Great Trading Path 

at the Meherrin River.212 Virginia’s longstanding Indian trade merchants immediately 
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recoiled. After years of profitable independent trade activity, they believed that 

Spotswood’s consolidation plan would pull Virginia’s Indian trade back into the dire days 

of trade fort favoritism that preceded Bacon’s Rebellion. 

Spotswood placed Robert Hicks Jr., the son of the Indian trader of the same name, 

in charge of Fort Christanna. Spotswood must have thought highly of Hicks.213 In 1722, 

he asked Hicks to accompany him to Albany, New York, to help negotiate a British treaty 

with the Iroquois.214 Hicks hailed from a family with deep ties to the Indian trade; his 

father and father-in-law had both worked as Indian traders under Abraham Wood. Young 

Robert Hicks grew up around the Indian trade in the shadow of Fort Henry. In adulthood, 

Hicks became the quintessential Indian trader; he excelled as a woodsman, took care to 

learn Native languages and customs, and developed easy relationships with the grittier 

sort of men who worked within the Indian trade. 

In July 1712, Robert Hicks formed a trading company with fellow Indian traders 

David Crawley, Richard Jones, Nathaniel Urven, and John Evans Jr., his brother-in-law. 

The new company subsequently received a license from Governor Spotswood to trade 

with the “Western Indians.”215 This trading firm, however, had conducted trade to the 

southwest of Virginia long before this official grant of recognition. Virginians began 

trading with the Catawba by the eighteenth century. Explorer John Lawson encountered a 

Virginian, John Stewart, trading with the Catawba in 1701.216 From their trade base near 

the future site of Fort Christanna, Hicks, Evans, Crawley, Jones, and Urven ventured 

deep into the Carolina Piedmont to trade with the Catawba at Sugaw Creek in present-day 

Lancaster County, South Carolina.217 The Catawba, one of the most powerful Native 

nations in the southeast, became a coveted trading partner. Upon arrival, the Virginia 
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traders competed with South Carolina traders who possessed longstanding trade 

relationships with Catawba villages. The arrival of new competitors from Virginia greatly 

displeased the South Carolinians.218 

Previously, Virginia traders such as Stewart conducted only a small amount of 

trade with the Catawba. The Hicks, Evans, Crawley, Jones, and Urven trade combination, 

however, had the ability as a large and well-financed trading firm to imbed traders with 

the Catawba and to send more and larger trade caravans. This caught the attention of the 

South Carolina government. South Carolinians claimed exclusive rights to the Catawba 

trade. Finding themselves at a disadvantage to the more savvy and better equipped 

Virginians, South Carolina legislators—many of them personally invested in the Indian 

trade—worked to eliminate this new Virginia competition.219 

Thus began a protracted dispute between the governments of Virginia and South 

Carolina over Indian trade territorial claims. The South Carolina legislature passed a 

series of laws banning Virginia traders from conducting trade with Native nations the 

South Carolinians claimed as their exclusive trading partners. The governors of South 

Carolina and Virginia each took up their colony’s case with England’s Board of Trade. In 

the war of words that followed, the South Carolinians claimed the right to control all 

trade with Native nations west of their established borders. Virginia leaders argued that 

their traders had established trade relationships with the Catawba and other Native 

nations in the west and that no colony should have the right to set trade boundaries 

indefinitely beyond its present lines of settlement.220 

During this dispute, Virginia traders flagrantly defied South Carolina’s trade 

prohibitions. While conducting a trade expedition to the Catawba in September 1707, 
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South Carolina authorities arrested Virginian Robert Hicks and imprisoned him in 

Charleston. The South Carolinians confiscated Hicks’ trade goods and required him to 

post a £500 bond to guarantee that he would “never cross the Santee River again.”221 

Hicks later returned to Charleston in an attempt to plea for the return of his property.222 

After waiting several weeks for an audience with the South Carolina governor, and after 

“considerable expense in purchasing gifts for the Governor and other persons,” Hicks 

grew frustrated; he eventually returned to Virginia after having recovered only a portion 

of his confiscated trade property.223 Hicks later took his case to the Virginia Executive 

Council. The council brought the matter before the Council of Trade and Plantations in 

London, who likewise petitioned the English Crown to provide guidance.224 Almost two 

years passed before the Virginians received a reply from London. Queen Anne ultimately 

decided in favor of the Virginians and ordered that their trade with western Native 

nations “should be carried on without any let, hindrance or molestation whatsoever.”225 

The English government rationalized that competition among traders would produce 

more and better trade activity capable of fending off trade the entreats of rival French and 

Spanish traders.  

Significantly, The English government had weighed in on the importance of the 

colonial Indian trade to its overarching geopolitical goals. The importance of the Indian 

trade far exceeded colonial boundaries. The success of England’s Indian trade in its North 

American colonies came at the expense of its European rivals that similarly competed for 

this trade in order to support their own colonial ambitions. In this way, the Indian trade 

occupied an important place in England’s overarching imperial strategy. At the time of 

this dispute, Queen Anne's War (1702-1712)—a conflict fought between England and 
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two of those European rivals, France and Spain—threatened England’s North American 

colonies. England’s Native alliances, secured through trade, helped to protect  those 

colonies from French and Spanish incursions.226 This freed up military resources and 

allowed for their use in other parts of the British Empire. 

Although Virginia traders began to revisit Catawba villages following Queen 

Anne’s ruling, ill feelings and an intense rivalry between South Carolina and Virginia 

traders persisted. In 1719, South Carolina authorities “forcibly detained” John Bunch, 

a free “Mallatto” trader who came to South Carolina “in the company of Mr. Robert Hix 

[sic] and other Traders.”227 Authorities did not indicate why they arrested Bunch and not 

his fellow Virginia traders, although his race likely made him the most vulnerable 

member of their trading party. Five months later, George Reeves delivered a deposition 

in Prince George’s County, Virginia, court supporting Bunch’s return to Virginia.228 

Reeves employed a novel strategy; he claimed that Bunch had not come to South 

Carolina as a member of the Virginian’s trading party but rather as a “runaway slave” 

“Jack” who belonged to his neighbor, Samuel Harwood Jr.229 Reeves added that Bunch 

would “love to be returned home to his said Master,” if not for his detention.230 Bunch’s 

fellow traders had surely undertaken this act of subterfuge in order to secure his release.  

Robert Hicks, the leader of the trade expedition, had cleverly used South 

Carolina’s high regard for slave property to foil the South Carolinians. There exists no 

record of the exact date of Bunch’s release. North Carolina records indicate that he 

resumed his life as a free person of color not long after Reeves’ deposition.231 As often 

happened, Hicks and the Virginians came out ahead. Individuals such as Bunch who 

possessed the knowledge, relationships, and acumen to conduct vast amounts of trade 



136 
 

among distant Native trading partners possessed incredible value. Hicks went to great 

lengths to orchestrate the return of his valuable trading operative, and perhaps his friend. 

The Indian trade formed strong bonds—practical, economic, and personal—that often-

transcended race. 

William Byrd II emerged as the most vociferous opponent of Governor 

Spotswood’s plans to reign in and consolidate Virginia’s Indian trade. Byrd traveled to 

London in 1714 where he successfully enlisted influential merchants to pressure the 

Council of Trade and Plantations to annul Spotswood’s Indian trade policies.232 In their 

letter to the council, Byrd’s merchant friends expounded the benefits of keeping 

Virginia’s Indian trade in private hands.233 Spotswood defended the role he believed his 

policies played in successfully maintaining peace in Virginia.234 Over the course of 

debate, the Yemasee War (1715-1717) erupted in South Carolina—a conflict driven 

largely by South Carolina’s failure to control its own abusive Indian traders. The debate 

between Byrd and Spotswood lingered for over four years. In the end, the Board of Trade 

sided with Byrd and his powerful London merchant allies. They subsequently ordered 

Spotswood to dissolve the Virginia Company monopoly. The Virginia House of 

Burgesses ended Virginia Company operations at Fort Christanna in 1718.235 The 

antagonistic relationship between Byrd and Spotswood continued until King George I 

recalled Spotswood in 1722. Over the tumultuous and uncertain years that surrounded 

Spotswood’s Indian trade policy changes, many of Virginia’s Indian traders moved 

beyond Spotswood’s reach into North Carolina where they could operate more freely.  

In the aftermath of the Tuscarora War (1711-1715), settlement began in areas 

formerly held by the Tuscarora. A group of Virginia Indian traders moved into this area 
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of North Carolina and congregated on the eastern side of Bertie County along the Cashie 

River near the present-day town of Windsor. By 1718, Indian traders Arthur Kavanagh, 

Thomas Whitmel, and John Gray moved their trade operations from Virginia to the 

Cashie River. William Byrd II, perhaps in an attempt to hedge his bets during his battle 

with Spotswood, purchased land on the north side of the Cashie River and likely 

sponsored some of the trade activity there.236 In 2008, archeological excavations along 

this area of the Cashie River yielded physical evidence of the early-eighteenth century 

Indian trade activity that once took place there, including “a mixture of Native American 

and Colonial era artifacts such as ceramic pieces and pipe stems” researchers linked to 

the Indian trade.237 Archeologists additionally uncovered evidence of an early-eighteenth 

century wharf, as well as the remains of an ocean-going sailing vessel from that era.238 

This evidence confirmed the presence of a considerable colonial-era Indian trade 

operation precisely in the location occupied by the Virginia traders by 1718, as well as 

that site’s link to transatlantic commerce. 

Virginia Indian traders chose the Cashie River location for reasons similar to 

those that guided the placement Virginia’s seventeenth-century Fall Line trading forts. 

The location chosen by the traders, approximately fourteen miles west of the Chowan 

River, had proximity to important Native trading paths. The Cashie River trading 

community sat astride the coastal trading path that eventually expanded and became 

known as the King’s Highway—colonial North America’s premier north-south trade 

route.239 This trading path afforded access to Native trading partners along the Carolina 

coast such as the Waccamaw and Sewee. The Cashie River site also provided deep-water 

access to the Atlantic Ocean.240 This enabled inland access by ocean-going vessels and 
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thus allowed the shipment of trade goods more directly to and from the trader’s 

warehouses without portage.241 The site chosen by the traders also abutted the boundaries 

of the Tuscarora reservation and provided easy access to their villages via a western trail 

known as the Weeacana (or Wiccacon) Path.242 

The Cashie river trading community remained the center of the North Carolina 

Indian trade only briefly. Beginning in 1719, more advantageous trading spaces became 

available to the west. The Northern Tuscarora, a faction led by King Tom Blount, chose 

not to participate in the late war. This band of the Tuscarora therefore survived the 

conflict mostly intact.243 As part of Virginia’s 1718 general peace treaty with the 

Tuscarora, the Northern Tuscarora agreed to settle reservation land set aside by the North 

Carolina government along the Roanoke River in what became Bertie County.244 

Although Blount aided the North Carolinians by not participating in the Tuscarora War, 

the North Carolinians nevertheless regarded all Tuscarora as a threat that required 

containment. By agreeing to cede land and consolidate his people within a reservation, 

Blount avoided further conflict driven by North Carolinians who still seethed over the 

war and had no compunction taking Tuscarora land. Following their relocation, the 

Northern Tuscarora remained a valuable trading partner who continued to hunt for hides 

and broker trade with Native nations to their south and west.   

By 1725 internal conflict and disillusionment with reservation life caused a large 

body of the Northern Tuscarora to depart North Carolina and join their Iroquois cousins 

in New York.245 These departures produced a heavy decline in deerskin procurement. 

Combined with the continued collapse of most remaining Atlantic coastal Native groups, 

the Cashie River trade became stagnant. The Northern Tuscarora began to sell or lease 
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large parts of their reservation land in order to finance their exodus north.246 North 

Carolina usurped other areas of Tuscarora land following the war. This confiscated land 

remained largely unsettled prior to 1720. The 1720s migration of the Tuscarora, however, 

opened up a corridor along the Weeacana Path that provided access to this land from 

colonial settlements near the Cashie River to the east. This previously unoccupied space 

sat at the head of a southern trading path once used by the Tuscarora to dominate trade 

with Native nations to their south. This trade thoroughfare became known as Green’s 

Path.247 Indian traders seeking to more advantageously position themselves along Green’s 

Path purchased nearby land and moved their operations there beginning in 1719.  

Green’s Path took its name from John Green, an Indian trader and early land 

owner. South Carolina militia leader John Barnwell used, and improved, this path in 1711 

during his expedition to aid North Carolina in the Tuscarora War.248 Green’s Path began 

near present-day Weldon, North Carolina, alongside the Occoneechee Neck section of the 

Roanoke River, just below that river’s Fall Line rapids. The path then ran south and 

southwest roughly along the Fall Line to the Great Pee Dee River near Cheraw, South 

Carolina. Later in the colonial period, parts of this path became known as the Fall Line 

Road.  

Near Cheraw, Green’s Path connected to other trading paths that led west to the 

Catawba villages, and to the Lower Cherokee Traders' Path. Green’s path then continued 

southwest to present-day Camden, South Carolina, where it intersected with a section of 

the Occaneechi Trading Path, known as the Great Trading Path. From there, the 

combined paths ran southwest to the Savannah River, terminating at Silver Bluff, across 

from present-day Augusta, Georgia. Two major westward Indian Trading paths 
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originated from Augusta: The Upper Trading Path and the Lower Trading Path. These 

paths ran hundreds of miles and connected to the Creek, Chickasaw, and Choctaw nations 

as far away as the Mississippi valley.249 From this new vantage point along the Roanoke 

River at Occoneechee Neck, North Carolina-based Indian traders gained access to every 

major Native trading partner in the southern interior by the 1720s. 

With their superior position closer to Native trading partners, North Carolina-

based Indian traders gained the upper hand. Virginia traders based at Fort Christanna 

utilized the Occaneechi Trail to reach Native villages in the southern interior.250 The 

Occaneechi Trail, which began at Fort Henry, crossed the Roanoke River at a ford near 

present-day Norlina, North Carolina. From there, the trail turned south toward present-

day Oxford, North Carolina, and then continued southwest roughly along the route of 

present-day U.S. Highway I-85. The Occaneechi Trail stretched further south where it 

connected to Catawba villages along the Catawba River before veering southwest to 

reach the Savannah River. Unlike the Occaneechi Trail that ran along the outskirts of the 

Carolina frontier, Green’s Path followed a safer route within the Carolina interior where 

marauding northern Natives seldom ventured.  

Occaneechi Neck’s position astride the Roanoke River rendered that location 

additionally ideal. Like the Cashie River, the Roanoke River flowed into the Albemarle 

Sound and thus provided access to Atlantic seaports. While surveying Virginia’s southern 

border along the Roanoke in 1728, William Byrd observed that “a Sloop of moderate 

burthen.” Could navigate this area of the Roanoke River.251 The geographic location of 

Occoneechee Neck, just before the Fall line, made it precisely the furthest point on the 

Roanoke River navigable by boat from the Atlantic coast. These factors made 
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Occoneechee Neck section of the Roanoke River the predominate geographic position 

within North Carolina to conduct Indian trade activity during the 1720s. 

Indian traders from both Virginia and eastern North Carolina flocked to 

Occoneechee Neck following the final exodus of the Tuscarora in 1719. Indian traders 

Mathew Sturdivant, John Green, William Jones, Arthur Kavanaugh, Thomas Whitmel, 

Robert Lang, William Maule, John Grey, William Grey, John Sims, William Sims, and 

James Anderson acquired land in this area, 1719-1722. Merchants who sold trade goods 

to Indian traders, such as John Lovick and Thomas Pollock, also purchased nearby land. 

By 1727, Henry Gustin, James Milliken, and James Castellaw expanded their successful 

Cashie River trading business and opened a second Indian trade factory adjacent to this 

community on the Roanoke River.252 These Indian traders and merchants occupied a 

small area lying between Quankey Creek and the Roanoke River near the head of Green’s 

Path. By 1730, this compact area had become a bustling trade community. 

Free people of color employed as Indian traders began purchasing land at 

Occoneechee Neck along with White traders in the early 1720s. Free Black Indian trader 

Hubbard Gibson, along with his sons John and Gideon Gibson, moved to Occoneechee 

Neck from the Blackwater River area of Virginia by 1721.253 Hubbard, John, and Gideon 

Gibson all purchased Occoneechee Neck by 1725.254 Bartholomew Chavis received a 

patent for 300 acres a few miles to the east of the Gibsons on the north side of the 

Roanoke River near Urahaw Swamp.255 Chavis’ indebtedness to other Indian traders 

indicates that he also likely worked within the Indian trade in some manner. Indian trader 

Arthur Kavanaugh sued Chavis for debt in Surry County, Virginia, in 1714 and Chavis 

additionally owed a debt to the son of Indian trader John Evans.256 By 1726, 
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Bartholomew Chavis had accumulated 1,620 acres of land near Occoneechee Neck on 

both sides of the Roanoke River. Chavis deeded his son, William, land he owned near the 

Gibson family on Quankey Creek.257 Paul Bunch patented 265 acres in North Carolina on 

the south side of the Roanoke River adjoining Quankey Pocosin and Gideon Gibson’s 

land in 1725.258 Paul fathered John Bunch, the free Black Catawba Indian trader 

employed by Robert Hicks.259 John Bunch also owned land adjacent to that of Gideon 

Gibson.260 Thomas Kersey, who apprenticed with Indian Trader Benjamin Harrison 

during his youth, purchased 200 acres of land on the south side of the Roanoke River in 

1726.261 

Other free people of color not directly linked to the Indian trade joined 

Occoneechee Neck’s early settlers. Brothers John and Edward Bass purchased land on 

Urahaw Swamp in 1721, along with several of their sons.262 Robert Locklear lived on 

Quankey Pocosin adjacent to the Chavis family land alongside a creek called “Chavis 

Branch.”263 Some free people of color traveled great distances to join this Roanoke 

community. Ann Hammond, the daughter of a “mulatto” Accomack County woman 

named Betty and a “Negro Slave named Robin,” moved to Occoneechee Neck as a 

teenager from the free Black community along Virginia’s Eastern Shore and secured 

work as a servant for John Pratt, who operated a ferry at “Gideon Gibson's landing.”264 

Free people of color from many parts of Virginia continued to migrate to this area over 

the next several decades. Together with the descendants of the earlier Occoneechee Neck 

settlers, they later branched out to form derivative communities further west in Kittrell, 

Oxford, and Nutbush during the 1750s. 
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By the 1730s, the Roanoke settlement contained multiple free families of color 

clustered together to form what became a distinct community. This settlement included 

the founding Occoneechee Neck free families of color along with other nearby families 

that resided along a six-mile span of the Roanoke River. This settlement existed within 

the greater community of Roanoke River Indian traders which covered an area of about 

36 square miles. Some of these individuals, such as members of the Gibson and Bunch 

families, worked directly within the Indian trade. Others, such as members of the Bass 

and Locklear families had no discernable link to the Indian trade. Why did these families 

migrate to this community, often traveling great distances to do so? This undeveloped 

and potentially dangerous area of the North Carolina frontier seemingly offered little to 

settlers. Moreover, these additional free families of color, like the founding Occoneechee 

Neck settlers, purchased their land from private sellers at prices that exceeded the cost of 

receiving headright bounty land. If Indian traders such as Hubbard Gibson found value in 

this area due to its proximity to Indian trade activity, what value did other free people of 

color find here? 

In the section that follows, I examine how free people of color who worked within 

the Indian trade formed the nucleus of communities of color that grew alongside areas 

developed by Indian traders as staging points for Native commerce. As these 

communities grew, other free people of color migrated to them. Some of these migrants 

came to take up ancillary jobs in the multifarious the Indian trade. Others came because 

of the relaxed racial environment and the overarching protection provided to these Indian 

trade communities by powerful colonial merchants who profited from them. 

Understanding how Indian trade communities functioned, as well as the diverse social 
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environments they created, provides insight into how small groups of Indian traders of 

color begot larger communities of color along the southern colonial frontier. 
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CHAPTER 3: INDIAN TRADE COMMUNITIES 

 

As the Indian trade grew during the early eighteenth century and travel distances 

expanded, the need arose for trade communities capable of servicing the needs of long-

haul trade. Following the Powhatan Treaty of 1646, Virginia’s Indian traders utilized four 

official trading forts located along Virginia’s colonial boundary line. Native trade 

partners travelled to these forts to conduct business with colonial traders. Native porters 

transported animal pelts to these forts and then carried the trade goods they received in 

return back to their villages. A small number of traders and support staff  operated each of 

Virginia’s trading forts. Over time, communities of Indian traders and support personnel 

built up around the trading forts, thus creating small Indian trade communities. 

When the Virginia government relaxed Indian trade restrictions in the aftermath 

of Bacon’s Rebellion (1676), Indian traders desirous of conducting trade with Nottoway, 

Meherrin, and Tuscarora villages moved south to areas along Blackwater, Nottoway, 

Meherrin Rivers. Independent Indian traders clustered along these areas in order to band 

together for protection against marauding Natives and to develop systems of mutual 

support. These traders often formed collective trading parties to better ensure their safety 

when conducting long distance trade expeditions. By banding together, trading parties 

stood a better chance against the often-perilous trading paths. Indian traders who traveled 

alone risked violence. Marauding Natives killed Indian trader Peter Shaw along the 

Upper Trading Path in 1732.1 Fellow trader Alexander Wood later found Shaw’s body 

and reported that unknow Natives had “murdered and scalped” him. Wood found Shaw’s 

servant ten yards away “cruelly wounded, with his head cut.”2 In 1735, trader George 

Stevens disappeared while on a trading expedition in Cherokee territory. A fellow trader 



176 
 

found Stevens' mutilated body in a wooded area between two Cherokee villages thirteen 

days later.3 The trader reported that Stevens’ assailants had left him “scalped, his left 

hand was split to the wrist, his left shoulder jointed, his stomach cut open to his belly, and 

pricked all over the body.”4 The Cherokee blamed the murder of George Stevens on 

marauding members of the Alabama nation who occasionally roamed north to prey on 

Cherokee and colonial traders along the Upper Trading Path.5  

Robbery and deceit by fellow Indian traders also occurred along the trading paths. 

In August 1736, Georgia Indian trader Roger Lacy took “by force and violence” trade 

goods valued at £3000 from South Carolina trader John Garder.6 Lacy bore a trade 

commission from Governor Oglethorpe of Georgia that he liberally interpreted as a 

license to plunder rival traders conducting business in Cherokee towns. The following 

month, Joseph Griffin met a similar fate while trading in another northern Cherokee 

village. Griffin reported that he “lost everything” after he refused to sell Lacy all of his 

horses.7 The dangerous and reclusive work performed by Indian traders forged a sense 

community among those who chose to live and work together. 

The collapse of the Tuscarora and the opening of long-distance trade routes in the 

southwest frontier altered the size and composition of Indian trade communities. During 

most of the seventeenth century, trade expeditions ranged only moderate distances to 

reach Native trading partners just beyond colonial settlement. New trade relations 

established toward the close of that century with distant Native nations such as the 

Catawba, Chickasaw, and Cherokee required more distant travel. William Byrd II 

estimated that traders based along the Roanoke River trading with the Catawba traveled 

250 miles to reach their trade destination at a pace of about twenty miles per day under 
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ideal conditions, thus spanning about thirteen days.8 Traders used packhorses to transport 

their trade goods and to return deerskins to their merchant buyers. Each packhorse carried 

150-200 pounds of trade goods that traders loaded into three separate packs.9 Traders 

then assembled the packhorses into caravans guided by packhorse men who travelled 

with the caravan along with the traders, scouts, and other support personnel. 

The size of trade caravans varied. Byrd reported that Catawba-bound caravans 

contained about one hundred packhorses.10 Archibald McGillvray described a similar 

number of packhorses used in his South Carolina operation that traded with the Creek.11 

Fifteen to sixteen packhorse men normally attended one hundred packhorses.12 Trade 

caravans required skilled packhorse men who could successfully secure and guide the 

caravan’s valuable cargo through the many hazards along roughly-hewn trading paths. 

For this skilled and dangerous work, packhorse men earned two to four times the wages 

of an average colonial laborer.13 In addition to good pay, enterprising packhorse men 

might hope to someday elevate themselves into the ranks of traders and gather substantial 

wealth. Packhorse men located themselves in proximity to their employers and thus 

became part of the makeup of Indian trade communities. 

One of the most important duties of a packhorse man involved the maintenance of 

the animals under their care during trade expeditions. The whole of the Indian trade 

rested, quite literally, on the backs of these creatures. Traders collectively deployed 

hundreds of packhorses along the trading paths at any given time. In 1740, Indian traders 

based in Augusta, Georgia, maintained over 2,000 packhorses for use in trade caravans.14 

Indian trade communities necessarily supported large animal husbandry operations to 

support their massive demand for horses. 
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Some free people of color present in Indian trade communities likely supplied and 

cared for these horses. As illustrated by the Going family, many free people of color 

excelled as horse-breeders.15 Others gained similar notoriety working with race horses. 

One Northampton County chronicler called Gideon “Gibbs” Chavis, son of William 

Chavis, a “great horse racer” whose horse, Black Snake, “had no equal in his day.”16 

Gibbs Chavis, like the Goings family, engaged in horse racing for profit and apparently 

won “a great deal of money” doing so.17 Occoneechee Neck later became a world-

renowned equestrian site.18 There exists no record detailing how many free people of 

color supplied horses for the Indian trade. Given their talent as horse-breeders, however, 

some free people of color likely migrated to Indian trade communities in order to gain 

work within this high-demand occupation.19 

Other free people of color residing in Indian trade communities may have worked 

within other necessary trades. The Indian trade required a host of supplementary workers. 

Saddlers and leather workers produced the packhorse rigs, tarps, and straps required to 

transport trade goods and deerskin bundles. Blacksmiths produced buckles for packs, 

serviced weapons, and made legions of horse shoes. Carpenters built and maintained 

warehouses, horse pens, and wharves. Porters packed deerskins into large shipping casks 

called “hogsheads” before loading them unto barges for delivery to coastal merchants. 

Boatmen guided those barges and returned with manufactured trade goods. Indian traders 

may have sourced some of this labor from surrounding towns. Yet, given the remoteness 

of Indian trade communities and the critical nature of the work performed, many of these 

workers likely lived within the Indian trade communities that employed them. 
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Indian traders and merchants utilized additional laborers to help prepare deerskins 

for market. The deerskins Indian traders acquired from their Native trading partners often 

required processing to make them market-ready. Deerskins came to Indian traders either 

“dressed” or “undressed.” Workers processed “Dressed” deerskins to remove hair and 

unwanted tissue and then treated them using a multi-stage process that involved the 

application of lime and animal dung or brains to make the hides more pliable when dried. 

This lengthy and unsavory process required skill to avoid damage the hide. Dressed 

deerskins that went through this process commanded a higher price than unprocessed 

“undressed” deerskins.  

In the early days of the trade, Native trading partners primarily presented dressed 

skins to colonial traders. Native women normally undertook the work of dressing 

deerskins brought in by the hunters of their village. By processing deerskins within 

Native villages, Native headmen capitalized on the labor of their women. As hunting 

distances grew longer with deer herd depletion, returning deerskins to the hunter’s village 

for processing became less practical. By the early eighteenth century, Native hunters 

often sold undressed skins to colonial traders. Colonial merchants seeking to source fine 

leather for clothing often complained about the quality of Native deerskin processing. 

This caused Indian traders to undertake some amount of processing on their end of the 

trade. Evidence of a hide processing operation at Occoneechee Neck remains even today 

along the banks of Quankey Creek.20 Hide processing work may have created jobs for 

free people of color who otherwise faced limited job prospects in mainstream colonial 

society. 
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Principal Indian traders of color—men such as Hubbard Gibson and John 

Bunch—sat at the center of Indian trade communities; they organized trade expeditions 

and bargained directly with Native trading partners. Principal traders often employed 

“under traders” who conducted trade expeditions on their behalf.21 Through the use of 

under-traders who operated under the principal trader’s trade license, principal traders 

might undertake multiple trade expeditions simultaneously.22 

Documenting the many workers who made up Indian trade operations presents 

challenges. Individuals at the highest level of the Indian trade—merchants and financiers 

such as Thomas Stegge, William Byrd and Cadwalader Jones—regularly appeared in 

colonial records and left behind other written records, such as correspondence with their 

London merchant creditors that discuss their Indian trade operations.23 Byrd, in 

particular, left behind a journal that provided a wealth of information about his 

business.24 Principal Indian traders—the individuals who assembled and managed trade 

expeditions—including Abraham Wood, Robert Hicks, Hubbard Gibson, and John 

Fontain—often appear in legislative and county court records. Virginia, North Carolina, 

South Carolina, and Georgia also required principal Indian traders to take out bonds or 

apply for trade licenses in order to conduct business in those colonies.25 Some principal 

traders, such as George Chicken and James Adair, kept journals that chronicled their 

dealings with Natives.26 These individuals represented only a fraction of manpower 

employed in the Indian trade. Under-traders, packhorse men, porters, boatmen, and other 

common laborers, like many of their social class in the colonial South, often left few 

records and are therefore more challenging to document. Court or indenture records 

occasionally mentioned these lesser-known individuals. Scholars, however, can deduce 
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their presence in Indian trade communities by consulting evidence that lays out the 

composition of Indian trade operations. The lives of ancillary workers often went 

unrecorded. These individuals may not have appeared in the few written records left 

behind by Indian trade communities but they nevertheless existed. Scholars may also 

tease some of these individuals out through kinship. Colonial Mariage, probate, and land 

records can help to illuminate familial connections that reveal otherwise obscured trade 

participants residing in Indian trade communities. 

By the eighteenth century, an intricate web of deep personal connections formed 

the fabric of the Indian trade. Bryan Rindfleisch perfectly summarized the enduring 

bonds formed inside Indian trade communities within the title of his monograph on the 

life of South Carolina Indian trader, George Galphin: George Galphin’s Intimate Empire: 

The Creek Indians, Family, and Colonialism in Early America (2019).27 Rindfleisch 

referred to the social and familial network that underpinned Galphin’s trading operation 

as an “intimate empire.” He argued that the kinship ties formed between Galphin, his 

employees, and his fellow traders proved instrumental to his success. Galphin had an 

enduring friendship with fellow trader James Adair, who became a close confidant and 

later a business partner. Through this relationship, Adair introduced Galphin to his 

network of personal trading connections. This helped Galphin grow his Silver Bluff 

trading operation to a level of great prosperity.28 The relationship between Galphin and 

Adair, as with many between Indian traders, endured for close to four decades until the 

death of both men, circa 1775. Adair dedicated his memoir, History of The American 

Indians (1775), to fellow traders and competitors Galphin, George Croghan, and Lachlan 

McGillivray. In his dedication, Adair praised the trader’s “long application and services 
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in the dangerous sphere of an Indian life.”29 Adair also maintained a close connection 

with fellow trader Gideon Gibson. Both men served as each other’s trustees for a variety 

of property transactions conducted 1766-1777.30 Adair referred to Gibson as “my trusty 

friend.”31 Adair and Gibson, like many Indian traders, also shared familial bonds. James 

Adair’s daughter, Agnes, married Gibson’s son John. Another of Adair’s daughters, 

Elizabeth, married John Cade, a close friend of Gibson’s and a witness to his will.  

Examples of this intricately connected world are sometimes found in colonial 

court records. A legal action brought Indian trader Hubbard Gibson, in Prince George’s 

County, Virginia, illustrates the ring of personal connections that underpinned the Indian 

trade. In 1711, fellow Indian trader James Thweatt complained to a Prince George 

County Court that Hubbard Gibson owed him “16 well drest doe skins.”32 Thweatt traded 

with the Nottoway and Meherrin and his family had deep connections to the Indian 

trade.33 Thweatt’s father worked as a trader and had provided expert testimony in 1707 

on the disposition of Nottoway and Meherrin settlements during the border dispute 

between Virginia and North Carolina.34 The record of Thweatt’s lawsuit noted that 

Hubbard Gibson had “unlawfully departed this county” and failed to appear to answer the 

charges against him.35 The Prince George’s County court found Gibson liable for the debt 

to Thweatt.36 In an effort to satisfy the judgement in Gibson’s absence, the court 

appointed four appraisers, men who knew Gibson, to assess the property that Gibson left 

behind in Prince George’s County.37 The court ordered four men, Robert Poythress, 

William Batte, George Rives, and Edward Mitchell, to act as appraisers.38 Poythress, 

Batte, and Rives worked as Indian traders and shared a dizzying number of business and 

multi-generational familial relationships that connected all.39 
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Kinship became a key element in Indian trade communities due to the high levels 

of trust necessary to maintain the business of the Indian trade on multiple levels. Factors 

and merchants trusted principal traders to complete arduous trading journeys and secure 

profit. William Byrd II called the principal traders he preferred to work with men “of 

Substance and Reputation.” 40 Byrd knew his traders and their extended families and 

could therefore rest more easily with them in charge of his goods, hundreds of miles 

down the trading paths. Traders, in turn, relied upon packhorse men, scouts, and others 

they employed to undertake trade expeditions. These men entrusted each other with their 

lives during long and dangerous journeys. Traders additionally placed the stewardship of 

their trading bases to the individuals they left in charge while they conducted commerce 

and sometimes remained absent for months. Almost all of the tasks performed by workers 

at all levels of the Indian trade rested upon credit. Trade expeditions exchanged goods 

that required transport over hundreds of miles before merchants could render payment. 

Individuals who performed work on behalf of Indian traders therefore trusted that they 

would receive their pay after the final exchange of trade goods. 

Free people of color who faced deteriorating economic prospects in other areas of 

colonial society became drawn to Indian trade communities by other successful free 

people of color with whom they shared familial ties. Scholars have recognized this 

phenomenon of community building. In North Carolina’s Free People of Color, 1715-

1885 (2020), Warren Milteer argued that free people of color often formed what he called 

“colonies”—essentially, communities where they concentrated, intermarried, and 

conducted commerce with neighboring White communities.41 Breen and Innes 

documented this phenomenon among the seventeenth-century free Blacks on Virginia’s 
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Eastern Shore.42 Race-based laws also played a role in community building. Interracial 

marriage prohibitions in Virginia and North Carolina encouraged endogamous marriage. 

This further condensed communities of color.43 Upon visiting an Indian trade community, 

one eighteenth-century observer noted that it contained a “Strange medley of 

people...Causcasions [sic], Mongolians or Indians, Africans & several new breeds 

manufactured by judicious crossing!”44 For free people of color, closeknit communities 

created by Indian traders and built around kinship complimented their own clannishness. 

So long as Indian trade communities produced profit for these powerful members 

of English society, they remained protected, despite their anomalous existence beyond 

the colonial color line. The most powerful force that shaped Indian trade communities, 

however, was the incipient capitalism of the time. The Indian trade produced vast profits 

for influential members of the colonial ruling elite, such as the Byrd, Lightfoot, and 

Bolling families. Gentry capitalists such as these constituted a plutocracy that controlled 

colonial government; they took up key government positions, held sway over the tenure 

of governors, and ultimately directed colonial law and policy.45 Gentry capitalists such as 

William Byrd I protected the multifarious communities built by Indian traders in their 

employment because of the profit they produced. Powerful English merchants also 

profited greatly from the Indian trade. These merchants formed the core of an English 

trade and finance power structures that increasing held sway over English politics and 

policy following the Restoration.46  

Indian trade communities, from Kent Island in the 1640s to trading base formed 

along the Roanoke River in the eighteenth-century, shared a common thread of social 

diversity that differentiated them from other colonial spaces. Diverse communities 
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shaped by the forces of capitalism frequently formed across the greater Atlantic world. 

Historian Ira Berlin argued that the powerful commercial and political forces that created 

the Atlantic world reshaped the social and culture structures of Atlantic port 

communities, thus producing what Berlin termed “Atlantic creoles.”47 Atlantic port 

communities became transatlantic nodes that communicated their unique social and 

culture structures across vast distances. Indian trade communities existed within that 

network. The transatlantic forces that transformed African and Caribbean port 

communities and gave them a distinct racial and cultural character also shaped Indian 

trade communities. Unsurprisingly, Atlantic creoles constituted the ranks of the first 

Indian traders who traded on the Chesapeake during the early seventeenth. These 

individuals, such as Mathias De Souza, established the Indian trade’s racial plurality. 

Later Indian trade communities transmitted their creole character to derivative 

communities across the southern colonial frontier.  

Indian trade communities, like Atlantic port communities, became spaces where 

the supremacy of commerce dampened colonial structures built around race, often 

creating unique racial dynamics that varied greatly from those of the communities around 

them. This environment allowed free people of color to gain a foothold through their 

economic value. Gentry capitalists such as William Bryd II obtained power by building 

vast economic fiefdoms that pulled whole elements of colonial society into their spheres 

of influence. So long as individuals such as Hubbard Gibson, John Bunch, and John 

Fountain served the economic interests of men like Byrd and the London merchants he 

conducted business with, they might continue to exist outside of the colonial racial 

hierarchy in a conditional space they maintained with their value. That value, as I 
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examine in the section that follows, often had the power to create and protect greater 

communities of free people of color who coalesced around the Indian trade and played an 

equally valuable role in supporting its operation. 
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CHAPTER 4: THE PEE DEE RIVER COMMUNITY 

 

By 1730, the geography of the Indian trade had shifted once again, this time to the 

South Carolina Piedmont. South Carolina Indian traders, like Virginia traders, conducted 

a highly lucrative trade with regional Native trading partners for deerskins. This trade had 

sustained the Carolina colony during its earliest days. During the Carolina colony’s 

crucial formative years in late seventeenth century, deer hides comprised more than half 

of the colony’s export revenue.1 By the eighteenth century, deer hides became South 

Carolina’s second leading export.2 For South Carolina, however, the value of the Indian 

trade went far beyond economics. South Carolina faced the ever-present threat of Spanish 

invasion from neighboring Florida. Native nations brought into alliance through the 

Indian trade served as a buffer against that threat. South Carolina leaders counted upon 

these Native allies to supply warriors and buttress their defense in the event of invasion.3    

Despite the importance of the Indian trade to South Carolina, Robert Johnson, 

who arrived as that colony’s new Governor in 1729, found South Carolina’s Indian trade 

faltering. Virginia and North Carolina traders regularly outcompeted South Carolinians to 

win business among major Native trading partners to the west. South Carolina once 

enjoyed a near monopoly on most of this western trade. A decision by England’s Board 

of Trade in 1708, however, introduced new competition from Virginia.4 Over the next 

two decades, Virginia traders, as well as other competitors operating out of the newly-

established North Carolina colony, encroached upon trade relationships once claimed 

exclusively by the South Carolinians. Johnson, who had previously served a term as 

governor of Carolina, understood the vital importance of the Indian trade to South 
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Carolina’s economic, diplomatic, and military welfare. With that in mind, he endeavored 

to retake the valuable commerce lost to Virginia and North Carolina Indian traders. 

Despite finding South Carolina’s Indian trade business in a state of disrepair, 

Johnson knew that his colony had the upper hand. South Carolina possessed a more 

favorable geographic position to enjoy trade with Native nations to the west than did 

Virginia. South Carolina also possessed a substantial port, a merchant establishment, and 

a financial system capable of undergirding robust trade. Johnson probably reasoned that 

if he could revive South Carolina’s Indian trade, the additional revenue gathered from 

deer hide export tariffs could help fund his Town Scheme: an ambitious plan to expand 

South Carolina settlement further west. Yet, for Johnson to resuscitate South Carolina’s 

Native commerce, he needed more, and better capable, Indian traders. Johnson may have 

solved that problem by inducing successful Indian traders from Virginia and North 

Carolina to relocate to the South Carolina frontier. 

South Carolina owed its earliest commercial success to the Indian trade. Long 

before the development of rice and indigo planting, South Carolina, like Virginia, relied 

heavily upon the Native commerce to help generate export revenue. Henry Woodward 

established the Carolina’s first Indian trade operation in 1674. Soon after, Woodward 

conducted trade with the Cussas (Creek) and Westos.5 Within a year, Woodward formed 

new trade relationships with the Yamasee and the Catawba. As in Virginia, late 

seventeenth-century Native commerce in South Carolina centered upon the English 

demand for deerskins but also encompassed a robust trade for Native slaves. 

By the start of the seventeenth century, many of the Natives who did business 

with South Carolina traders had fallen into debt. Unscrupulous traders visited Native 
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hunters in their hunting camps and plied away their hauls of deer skins with Rum.6 When 

those hunters returned to their villages without skins from their hunt, village headman 

had nothing to pay Indian traders who often extended them credit for English trade goods 

in advance.7 In order to make up for their financial shortfalls, traders sometimes 

encouraged their customers to go to war with other Natives to obtain captives that, in 

turn, they sold to colonial traders as slaves. Native leaders begged the Carolina 

government to end the Native slave trade. They additionally entreated South Carolina 

leaders to restrict the flow of alcohol into their villages and to reign in the abusive 

traders. Carolina officials expressed concern but ultimately failed to act decisively. 

In 1707, the South Carolina Commons House of Assembly passed a sweeping set 

of laws designed to better regulate the Indian trade and curb trader abuses.8 The new laws 

outlawed the sale of alcohol to Natives and forbid their enslavement for debt. In addition, 

the laws established a new regulatory body, the Commission of Indian Trade, to help 

oversee trader conduct.9 The assembly granted this commission the power to regulate all 

South Carolina Indian traders. The commission acted quickly to require traders to 

become licensed and to give a bond of £100 to obey trade guidelines.10 In response to the 

complaints of Native trading partners, the commissioners appointed field agents who they 

sent to monitor trade activity in Native villages. The commission’s agents, however, 

quickly found that they lacked the ability to enforce commission guidelines.11 South 

Carolina’s Indian traders continued to cheat and abuse their Native trade partners and 

unlicensed traders continued selling alcohol in Native villages despite the protestations of 

Native leaders.12  
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The destructive Yamasee War (1715) erupted mainly out of Native anger over 

Indian trader abuses. In the ensuing violence, vengeful Natives killed many of the South 

Carolina Indian traders with whom they had once conducted business. When the conflict 

ended, South Carolina had lost nearly an entire generation of its Indian traders. In the 

lead up to the war, the Yemasee and other Native trading partners complained 

vociferously about the abuses of South Carolina traders. From September 1710 to April 

1715, Native trading partners brought complaints against twenty-three South Carolina 

traders for crimes ranging from larceny to murder.13 In 1715, David Crawley, a Virginia 

trader who resided among the Catawba, wrote to William Byrd I about the many abuses 

he had witnessed.14 Crawley described how South Carolina’s Catawba agent, John 

Wright, compelled the Catawba to “honour him as their Governour” and used them as 

servants to “carry his luggage.”15 The Commission of Indian Trade had empowered 

Wright to police Indian traders and end abuse, yet he regularly conducted such abuses 

himself.  

South Carolina Indian traders not only mistreated Native trading partners, they 

also often mishandled trade. Traders William Watie and George Pawley struggled to 

understand the seasonal needs of their native customers.16 In 1716, Watie puzzled over 

why his Waccamaw customers wanted to trade for nothing but ammunition during their 

winter hunting season.17 Later that month, Watie returned from a Waccamaw trading 

expedition with a number of agricultural tools that had gone unsold; he complained to the 

Indian trade commissioners and blamed defective equipment. Watie failed to recognize 

that he had arrived to trade outside of the Waccamaw planting season and therefore his 

Natives trading partners had no interest in trading for agricultural tools at that time.18 
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South Carolina Indian traders also failed to meet the needs of their Cherokee customers. 

In recent years, archaeologists excavating the Cherokee town Tomotley found evidence 

that the Cherokee refashioned English-made agricultural tools sold to them by South 

Carolina traders. Archeologists concluded that the Cherokee had manipulated unwanted 

tools sold to them in an attempt to fashion the tools they actually needed.19  

Despite the attempts of South Carolina’s leaders to better organize their Native 

commerce through expanded government involvement, unruly behavior among that 

colony’s Indian trade workers remained rampant. In 1718, a colonial trade official 

reported that the men garrisoned at South Carolina’s official Congaree trading post had 

simply run away with “the Periaugoe, Ammunition, Provisions, &c.” The official went 

further to say that they lacked the “Cash (again) to purchase” “Necessaries” and that he 

could not “see how we can at this Juncture, go forward.” Experienced Indian traders such 

as Eleazer Wiggins, aware of the dysfunction present in South Carolina’s government-

controlled Indian trade system, often refused job offers to run official trading posts.20 

South Carolina leaders attempted to recover vital Native commerce following the 

disastrous Yamasee war, yet their colony lacked competent Indian traders to lead that 

effort. 

In 1729, Robert Johnson sailed from England to assumed the South Carolina 

governorship with instructions from London to grow that struggling colony. Accordingly, 

Johnson formulated a frontier settlement expansion plan, known as the Township 

Scheme, in order to achieve that expansion.21 The new governor speculated that the 

Township Scheme would produce a protective barrier of settlement along the South 

Carolina frontier to help fortify the colony against invasion by hostile Native nations or 
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Spanish insurgents from Florida.22 This, in turn, would pacify large areas of the South 

Carolina frontier deemed too dangerous for settlement. Johnson’s ambitious plan 

involved the establishment of eleven townships of 20,000 acres each.23 His proposal also 

called for the creation of a headright grant that would provide fifty acres of land for each 

township settler and each member of their family.24 The South Carolina government 

planned to additionally subsidize settlement by suspending quit rent payments on 

township land for ten years, and by providing settlers with tools and provisions to help 

start their new lives.25 

Johnson’s Township Scheme had the ability to transform the South Carolina 

frontier and thereby reach the English government’s goal for expansion. Yet, in order for 

his townships to survive, Johnson understood that South Carolina needed to avoid 

another calamitous Native conflagration like the Yamasee War. A brisk trade that 

brought regional Native nations into amity with the South Carolina government, 

conducted by respectable Indian traders, could ensure a peaceable future. Improved trade 

would also provide financial support for the Township Scheme’s expensive settler 

subsidies. Johnson needed to act quickly. He understood from his time in England that 

the Trustees for the Establishment of the Colony of Georgia in America would soon 

deliver their petition for a new colony neighboring South Carolina. The establishment of 

Georgia would soon produce another Indian trade rival. Johnson surely understood the 

need to act swiftly and decisively in order to rebuild South Carolina’s trade. 

4.1: GIDEON GIBSON 

As Johnson set his expansion plans into motion, North Carolina Indian trader 

Gideon Gibson disposed of his land at Occoneechee Neck and prepared to move his trade 
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operation to the Pee Dee River in South Carolina. As early as the 1710s, North Carolina 

and Virginia traders travelling south to conduct business with Creek and Chickasaw 

trading partners congregated at an area called Sandy Bluff, located at the point where 

Green’s Path reached the Pee Dee River.26 In 1728, William Byrd II recalled the Pee Dee 

as a place where “the Traders commonly ly [sic] still for some days, to recruit their Horse 

Flesh as well as to recover their own spirits.”27  

Sandy Bluff offered many of the same benefits as Gibson’s former Occoneechee 

Neck trade base on the Roanoke River in North Carolina. Green’s Path, the trading path 

that led to the western Native nations ran through Sandy Bluff. In addition, the Sandy 

Bluff’s geographically advantageous position on section of the Pee Dee River not far 

below the fall line on made it accessible by ocean-going vessels. Gibson’s new trade 

location possessed all of the advantages of Occoneechee Neck. Best of all, Sandy Bluff 

lay further down the trading path and hundreds of miles closer to western Native trading 

partners. 

Despite Sandy Bluff’s advantages, its location within British North America’s 

most fervent and committed slave society presented new and daunting challenges for a 

free man of color. Gibson and the other members of his community had prior experience 

living within societies that practiced slavery in Virginia and North Carolina. These 

colonies, as historian Ira Berlin first observed, developed over time as societies with 

slaves: places where other forms of labor co-existed and competed with slavery.28 South 

Carolina, by contrast, maintained what Berlin called a “slave society.” In slave societies, 

slavery, as the dominant source of labor, shaped every other social relationship and 

informed every social structure.29 Slave societies, such as South Carolina, maintained a 
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more rigid color line that left little room for people of color to exist outside of 

enslavement. Unlike Virginia and North Carolina, South Carolina had no noteworthy free 

Black population at the time of Gibson’s migration. A 1709 report from the Governor and 

Council of South Carolina to England’s Board of Trade listed no free people of color 

among the “9,580 souls” residing in that colony.30 Outside of foreign free Black sailors 

who occasionally visited Charleston’s waterfront, free people of color rarely frequented 

South Carolina at the time of Gideon Gibson’s 1731 arrival. 

The presence of enslaved Black persons in South Carolina proved another matter. 

Black slaves outnumbered whites in South Carolina as early as 1708.31 Moreover, the 

1730s, a decade that ended with the Stono Rebellion (1739), stood out as a volatile and 

often violent time for Black South Carolinians. Rumors regarding slave conspiracies, 

plots, and insurrections circulated through the population and fed White paranoia.32 Many 

of South Carolina’s governing leaders had prior experience in the Caribbean where hard 

racial lines developed out of the constant fear of slave uprisings. That experience caused 

a rigidity in South Carolina society that starkly differed from the far more permissive and 

less structured racial environment Gibson left behind in North Carolina. If Gibson wished 

to avoid social and legal prohibitions that attended his race, he could not have picked a 

more problematic colonial destination.  

Fortunately for Gibson, he would soon make a powerful friend in Governor 

Robert Johnson, whose plans for Gibson trumped race. Johnson likely had prior 

familiarity with Black Indian traders. Evidence suggests that at least two free Blacks 

operated within South Carolina’s Indian trade during Johnson’s previous term as South 

Carolina Governor (1717-1719). In 1719, a Charleston court ordered “free Negro” 
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William Going to appear in court to address a debt owed to Charleston Indian trade 

merchant William Wallace.33 Charles “Gowing,” perhaps a relative of William Going, 

conducted business with South Carolina Indian trader and Indian Trade Commissioner 

George Chicken and his partner, Indian trade merchant James Ingersoll. Chicken and 

Ingersoll administered Charles Gowing’s estate after his death in 1704.34 Thus, members 

of the Going family, a free family of color with roots in Virginia and many connections 

with participants in the Indian trade, had associations with South Carolina Indian traders 

by the early eighteenth century. 

Not long after Gibson’s arrival in the spring of 1731, his race caught the attention 

of members of the South Carolina Commons House of Assembly.35 Members of the 

assembly, surmising that the presence of Gibson and the mixed-race cohort that travelled 

with him presented an “ill consequence to the Province,” formed a committee of inquiry. 

This committee subsequently summoned Gibson to explain his presence within their 

colony.36 Prior to Gibson appearing before that committee, Governor Johnson intervened 

and declared his intention to instead convene a private meeting with Gibson. Thereafter, 

Johnson informed the assembly members that “the people who have lately come into the 

settlements have been sent for.” With that brief statement, the governor took personal 

charge of the Gibson inquiry. After the meeting between Gibson and Johnson concluded, 

Johnson issued the following statement: 

I have had them before me in council and upon examination find that they are not 

Negros nor slaves but free people, that the father of them here is named Gideon 
Gibson and his father was also free. I have been informed by a person who lived 
in Virginia that this Gibson has lived there for several years in good repute and by 

his papers that he has produced before me that his transactions there have been 
very regular. That he has for several years paid taxes for two tracks of land and 

has seven Negros of his own. That he is a carpenter by trade and is come hither 
for the support of his family...The account he has given of himself is so 
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satisfactory that I have in consideration of his wife being a white woman and 
several white women capable of working and being serviceable in the country 

permitted him to settle in this country.37 
 

The governor’s graciousness did not end with the personal welcome he extended to 

Gibson’s band of migrating free people of color. Johnson additionally awarded Gibson 

650 acres of land along the Great Pee Dee River—a considerable land grant for any man 

in South Carolina at that time, let alone a free man of color.38 

By concealing Gibson as a carpenter, Johnson had engaged in an act of 

subterfuge. Yet, Johnson had reasons for obscuring Gibson’s true identity. North 

Carolina-based Indian traders such as Gibson had a long and sordid history of defying 

South Carolina law in order to trade with Native nations such as the Catawba. In prior 

years, Gibson’s father, Hubbard Gibson, caught the ire of the deputy governor of 

Carolina when they accused him of attempting to foment war between the Waccamaw 

and Sewee—two Native nations within South Carolina’s colonial sphere.39 The elder 

Gibson worked as a member of an Indian trade cabal ultimately controlled by the 

powerful Virginia merchant and colonial leader William Byrd II. Byrd’s traders, such as 

Robert Hicks, had often defied—and in the case of John Bunch, sometimes humiliated—

South Carolina officials. 

The Virginians’ attempts to conduct business with Native trading partners claimed 

exclusively by South Carolinians had sparked a long and bitter fight between the two 

colonies over the right to trade with western Native nations located outside of colonial 

borders. South Carolinians claimed exclusive trading rights with all Native nations to 

their west. Virginians argued that all of the southern colonies had an equal right to trade 

with western Native nations, and that competition among southern colonial traders 
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strengthened business. This, they believed, only increased the revenue generated from the 

colonies and ultimately benefitted England more. The appeals made during this time by 

South Carolina and Virginia officials to England’s Board of Trade, the arbiters of such 

disputes, seethed with animosity. Many well-placed members of the South Carolina 

government maintained personal stakes in their colony’s Native commerce. These 

powerful individuals likely bristled over the fact that Virginia and North Carolina traders 

such as Gideon Gibson had stolen their business and dodged the tariffs and license fees 

that South Carolina law required of their traders. Johnson must have known that his ruse 

would eventually come undone, but hopefully not before Gibson had time to establish his 

Pee Dee River trade operation and thereby contribute to Johnson’s settlement plans. 

Gideon Gibson became a key component of Johnson’s Township Scheme through his 

ability as a leading regional Indian trader to strengthen South Carolina’s Native 

commerce and alliances. 

Despite South Carolina’s continued transformation into a full-fledged slave 

society in the years following Gideon Gibson’s arrival, no evidence exists to suggest that 

his race caused him any legal jeopardy. If Gibson had made a deal with Johnson to move 

his trade operation from the Roanoke to the Pee Dee River in exchange for protection as a 

“free person,” that bargain appears to have held over his lifetime. The Gibson family’s 

race, however, did not go entirely unnoticed by other South Carolinians. 

Later in the 1760s Gibson’s son, Gideon Gibson Jr., became embroiled in a 

dispute over race that involved some of South Carolina’s most powerful leaders. During a 

personal dispute that arose over Gibson’s prominent involvement in the Regulator 

Movement, George Gabriel Powell, a South Carolina legislator and militia colonel, made 
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disparaging public remarks about the Gibson’s African ancestry.40 The Regulator 

movement in South Carolina developed in outlying areas of the province during the late 

1760s. Organizers, including Gibson, formed the movement in order to “regulate” 

governmental and legal affairs they believed South Carolina officials had neglected. 

Backcountry settlers such as Gibson had reason to complain. As settlement grew 

following the Cherokee War (1758-1761), South Carolina leaders failed to expand 

governmental infrastructure to meet the demands of new western settlers. This rendered 

areas of the South Carolina backcountry essentially lawless. In response, Gibson and 

others formed vigilante groups to protect their communities.  

The South Carolina government opposed the formation of backcountry vigilante 

groups. In 1768, a Craven County, South Carolina constable attempted to serve warrants 

for the arrest of several Regulators at Mars Bluff, Gibson’s home.41 Gibson and his 

Regulators killed one of the constable’s men, “whipt some of them in a most cruel 

manner,” and threatened to hang the others.42 Following the Mars Bluff incident, South 

Carolina Governor William Bull ordered Colonel George Gabriel Powell to assemble the 

Craven County militia and disband Gibson’s Regulators. Powell, however, soon learned 

that many of his backcountry militia soldiers sympathized with Gibson and refused to 

take up arms against the Regulators.43 A frustrated Powell informed Governor Bull in 

1768 of his inability to fulfill his orders and then promptly resigned his militia 

commission.44 The South Carolina government ultimately quelled the Regulator 

Movement by acquiescing to many of its demands. South Carolina leaders, satisfied that 

they had averted a larger backcountry uprising, chose not to pursue further action against 

Gibson and his band of Regulators for the violence they had perpetrated at Mars Bluff. 
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These events left Powell chastened and caused him to publicly lash out at Gibson 

with questions regarding his ethnicity. Henry Laurens, a man of great wealth and 

reputation, came to Gibson’s defense. Laurens served in the South Carolinas Commons 

House of Assembly and later, in 1777, as a delegate to the Continental Congress. As one 

of the most powerful and influential men in South Carolina, Laurens’ words commanded 

the attention of his peers. Laurens did not attempt to deny the accusations made by 

Powell regarding Gibson’s African ancestry. Instead, Laurens wrote an open letter stating 

that Gibson had “more red and white in his face than could be discovered in the faces of 

half the descendants of the French refugees in our House of Assembly.”45 

Laurens had no particular affinity for people of color; his merchant firm, Austin 

and Laurens engaged in the African slave trade and imported more enslaved Africans to 

the New World than any other firm in British North America.46 Yet, Laurens possessed 

deep ties to the Indian trade. Austin and Laurens also traded in deerskins and Laurens 

maintained a friendship with Indian trader George Galphin.47 Laurens willingly defended 

Gideon Gibson Jr., a free person of color, because of the value the Gibson family had 

brought to the South Carolina backcountry, and also likely to his trading firm. Laurens 

also understood that many wealthy families along the Pee Dee River had ancestral roots 

that tied them to the multi-racial Indian trade community founded by Gibson’s father.48 

Following this incident, there exists no record of any further public challenge to the 

ethnic origins of the Gibson family in South Carolina. Gideon Gibson jr. had a powerful 

defender in Laurens, whose words challenged the application of the color binary on free 

people of color such as Gibson who had obtained status and held value in South Carolina 

society. 
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Decades earlier, Gibson’s father, Gideon Gibson Sr., avoided racial scrutiny by 

returning value to his protector, Governor Robert Johnson who profited greatly from his 

deal with Gibson. South Carolina’s deerskin exports more than quadrupled between 

November 1731 and November 1739.49 In 1731, Johnson confidently issued a 

proclamation to announce the enactment of the Township Act of 1730.50 South Carolina 

successfully maintained peaceful trade with its Native neighbors and avoided large-scale 

colonial conflict with France and Spain. Tariffs derived from the deerskin trade helped to 

fund the Township Act’s associated land grants and settler subsidies. With South 

Carolina reclaiming its position as a leader in the trade with Native nations in the 

southwest, Virginia and North Carolina traders refocused their attention away from that 

area and upon the Appalachian region. If Johnson had indeed recruited the experienced 

Indian trader Gideon Gibson to help turn around South Carolina’s Indian trade woes and 

aid his Township Scheme, his plan went off brilliantly. 

The remarkable meeting between Johnson and Gibson did not escape the attention 

of scholars. Historian Winthrop D. Jordan first brought scholarly attention to Gideon 

Gibson in his 1962 essay, “American Chiaroscuro: The Status and Definition of 

Mulattoes in the British Colonies.”51 Jordan later expanded his examination of Gibson in 

his seminal work, White Over Black: American attitudes toward the Negro, 1550-1812 

(1968).52 In reviewing this event, Jordan focused his lens on how Gibson’s relative 

“whiteness” may have contributed to the favorable treatment he received from Johnson. 

Jordan took the story at face value: Johnson referred to Gibson as a skilled tradesman 

who owned slaves, paid taxes, and married to a white woman. No scholar has ventured 

beyond those facts. This has led historians such as Jordan to conclude that Gibson’s 
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proximal economic and social “whiteness” compelled Johnson to overlook race and allow 

him to cross South Carolina’s otherwise stringent color line. 

Gibson’s role as a successful Indian trader, and how from that position he created 

a place for himself and the free people of color within his sphere of influence in South 

Carolina society, has gone unnoticed by scholars. Historian Walter B. Edgar mentioned 

Gibson in his comprehensive history of South Carolina, South Carolina: A History 

(1998). Although Edgar conflated Gideon Gibson with his son of the same name, he 

nevertheless reached a conclusion similar to that of Jordan: the Gibson family escaped 

legal definition as Black and rose to become prominent members of South Carolina 

backcountry society because their “mulatto” complexion brought them closer to 

“whiteness.”53 Historian Daniel Sharfstein engaged with Gibson’s story in The Invisible 

Line: Three American Families and the Secret Journey from Black to White (2011). 

Sharfstein’s argument essentially mirrored Jordan’s. Sharfstein believed that Gibson’s 

economic status, White spouse, and his “personal commitment to slavery” led to his 

racial designation’s loss of meaning.54 Sharfstein, in a break from Jordan, placed more 

emphasis on how Gibson’s economic success trumped race. Historian A.B. Wilkinson 

evoked Gibson in Blurring the Lines of Race and Freedom: Mulattoes and Mixed Bloods 

in English Colonial America (2020). In attempting to explain why Gibson received such 

deferential treatment from South Carolina’s governor, Wilkinson pointed to Gibson’s 

“blended ancestry,” his White family members, and his commitment to “upholding the 

slave system.”55 Wilkinson argued that these qualities provided Gibson and his family 

with a “middling position” that placed them “on their way to whiteness,” and therefore 

tolerable in the eyes of South Carolina authorities.56  
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Winthrop Jordan, however, did detect an anomaly in the Gibson story; he found a 

key part of Johnson’s statement “not entirely clear.”57 The erudite Jordan paused to 

ponder Johnson’s phrase “they are not negroes nor slaves but free people.” The statement 

confused Jordan because it indeed appears confusing. Johnson intermixed a racial 

category, “Negro,” with a condition of freedom, “slave,” before landing on an entirely 

new non-racial personal classification, “free people,” to describe Gibson and his fellow 

travelers. Jordan keenly understood the racial terminology commonly used in the colonial 

South at this time. Johnson could have simply used the prevailing language: “free negro” 

or, more specifically, “free mulatto” to describe Gibson. Instead, Johnson’s words read 

more like a declaration of who Johnson considered Gibson to be: “a free person” and 

what he did not consider him to be, “a negro” or “a slave.” Although Jordan stopped only 

briefly to ponder Johnson’s description of Gibson, in his moment of pause, he illuminated 

a key fact to understanding the carefully-orchestrated subtextual relationship brokered 

between Johnson and Gibson. 

At the same time Johnson and Gibson conducted their 1731 meeting, the South 

Carolina Commons House of Assembly had nearly completed their language for a new 

and comprehensive Indian trade law. The assembly ratified this legislation, entitled “An 

Act For the better Regulation of the Indian Trade, and For Appointing a Commissioner 

For that purpose,” on August 20, 1731.58 A provision in this law expressly forbid “free 

Indians or negroes, or any negro or other slave” from participating in the Indian trade.59 

These words illuminate the reasoning behind Johnson’s precise use of language in the 

statement he released to the Commons House of Assembly following his meeting with 

Gibson. By declaring Gibson and his community “not negros nor slaves but free people,” 
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Johnson had adroitly disqualified Gibson and his mixed-race trading clan from the 

provisions of South Carolina’s forthcoming Indian trade law—a law that specifically 

banned “free negros” from working in the Indian trade. By instead declaring Gibson and 

his fellow settlers simply “free people”—a new term not used in the law—Johnson made 

it clear that Gibson could legally participate in South Carolina’s Indian trade. Winthrop 

Jordan rightly puzzled over the odd language in Johnson’s declaration. Johnson’s words 

indeed had added dimension. 

Gideon Gibson remained in the Cheraw region of South Carolina until his death, 

circa 1781. Gibson relocated slightly east to Mars Hill on the opposite side of the Pee 

Dee River by the 1750s. Gibson’s success in the Indian trade, along with the related 

protection provided to him by powerful South Carolina leaders, provided cover for other 

free people of color seeking to remove themselves from areas where their race had 

become an inhibiting factor. South Carolina remained a colony that otherwise afforded 

few rights and protections to non-White individuals. Gibson became the nucleus of a 

community of free people of color along the Pee Dee River in South Carolina who were 

drawn to the protection and opportunity he could provide for them within the settlement 

he anchored. 

In the years that followed Gibson’s migration, other free people of color who 

resided in the free Black enclave within the Roanoke River Indian trade community came 

to the Pee Dee River settlement. These individuals mostly had ties to the Indian trade and 

likely followed Gibson to pursue new economic opportunities within his new Indian trade 

community. Fellow Indian trader and free person of color John Bunch left the Roanoke 

River area and followed Gibson to South Carolina by 1735.60 Bunch’s sons, Indian 
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traders Gideon and John Jr., sold their Roanoke River land and resided near the Pee Dee 

River by the 1740s.61 “Free negro” Matthew Chavis, the son of Roanoke River 

landholder Bartholomew Chavis, moved to South Carolina in 1739 along with other 

family members.62 Thomas and John Kersey, free persons of color whose father had 

apprenticed with Indian trade merchant Benjamin Harrison, disposed of the Kersey 

family land along the Roanoke River and resided along the Little Pee Dee River by the 

1760s.63 Moses Bass, the son of Gideon Gibson’s Roanoke River neighbor John Bass, 

came to South Carolina by 1769 when he appeared on a list of Saint David’s Parish 

voters in the Cheraw District.64 Bass operated a tavern at Cashua Neck, near Gibson’s 

property.65 Robert Locklear sold his land adjacent to that of the Gibson, Bunch, and 

Chavis families on the Roanoke River and moved to the Little Pee Dee River with his 

sons, John and Major, prior to 1753.66 

Free people of color from beyond the Roanoke River settlement also joined the 

Pee Dee River community during the mid-eighteenth century. Robert Sweat came from 

Virginia.67 Sweat lived along the Pee Dee River in 1735 when his son, William, appeared 

in the records of the Prince Frederick Winyaw Parish.68 Sweat later received patent land 

on Wilkerson Swamp near the Little Pee Dee River before purchasing land further up that 

river in North Carolina from Phillip Chavis.69 Matthew Driggers, a descendant of the 

seventeenth-century Northern Neck, Virginia, “Driggus” free family of color, came to 

South Carolina some time prior to his death in 1765.70 When Driggers died, the local 

court appointed Gideon Gibson, also listed as one of Driggers’ creditors, as the 

administrator of his estate.71 Free people of color remained a conspicuous feature in and 

around the Cheraw district throughout the remainder of the eighteenth century. 
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Clergyman Charles Woodmason, while traveling through the region, commented that he 

had never seen “such a mixed Multitude of all Classes and Complexions.” 72 Woodmason 

added that “Free Negroes and Mullatoe’s” “greatly abound here.”73 

The decline of the Indian trade in South Carolina during the second half of the 

eighteenth century left many of the Pee Dee settlement’s free people of color without 

support. Some took up farming, but that required increasingly expensive land. The 

success of the Township Scheme and the subsequent outpouring of White settlers into the 

South Carolina backcountry beginning in the 1750s greatly increased land demand. They 

particularly coveted the fertile land along the Pee Dee River where indigo planting had 

begun to produce good profit.74 When land prices along the Pee Dee River increased, 

many free people of color took up less desirable land along the upper reaches of the Little 

Pee Dee River. Some avoided the expense of land acquisition altogether by pushing 

further into North Carolina and settling upon remote swamp land without patent. The 

contents of a militia report ordered by North Carolina Governor Arthur Dobbs in 

November 1754 provided a vivid description of the settlers residing at the head of Little 

Pee Dee River: “50 families a mixt Crew, a lawless People, possess the Lands without 

patent or paying quit rents; shot a Surveyor for coming to view vacant lands being 

inclosed in great swamps.”75 

In the face of economic misfortune, some Pee Dee River area free people of color 

turned to banditry. In 1773, officials in neighboring Bladen County, North Carolina, 

reported a “Mob Raitously Assembled together” consisting of “Free Negors and Mullatus 

living upon the Kings Land.” The report singled out a member of the Locklear family, 

Major Locklear, as a “Harbourers of the Rogues.”76 The list of offenders also included 
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members of the Chavis and Sweat families.77 In 1768, backcountry Regulators decried a 

“Gang of Banditti, consisting of Mulattoes, Free Negroes” that had recently gotten the 

better of some of their men.78 During the Regulator uprising, an observer described 

Gideon Gibson’s band of backcountry Regulators as “a great number of People of 

different Colours, Whites, Blacks, and Mulattoes.”79 

Winslow Driggers, a descendent of Emanuel Driggus of Northern Neck, Virginia, 

became known as a “notorious Villain” in the South Carolina backcountry.80 After 

escaping from a death sentence in Savannah, Georgia, South Carolina authorities re-

captured Driggers “near the Cheraw settlement.”81 Events following Driggers’ capture 

had troubling implications for South Carolina’s free people of color. Driggers’ captors 

announced that he “proved to be Mulatto” and then proceeded to hang him “under the 

Negro Act” without trial.82 The Negro Act of 1740, passed into law following the Stono 

Rebellion, established harsh penalties for rebellious slaves. The law’s provisions, perhaps 

in deference to the Gideon Gibson’s multi-racial trade settlement, made an exception for 

“mulattoes, and mustizoes, who are now free.”83 By executing Driggers, a free person of 

color, without trial, local officials chose to ignore the law. This, they apparently did with 

the approval of the South Carolina government. South Carolina leaders had sent a clear 

message: the era of tolerance born out of cooperation and mutual benefit had ended. The 

line between free and enslaved “mulattos” began to lack clarity. Although some free 

people of color remained around the old Pee Dee River settlement, many moved over the 

border into Anson and Robeson Counties in North Carolina. Others migrated to 

Tennessee to join family members who had previously travelled through the Cumberland 

Gap to pursue the last remnants of the Cherokee trade.84  
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The Gibson family negotiated the new color line with far more success. Gideon 

Gibson’s children inherited the substantial amount of land and wealth he accumulated 

over his life, including many enslaved Black persons. The Gibson’s White South 

Carolina neighbors accepted subsequent generations of the Gibson family as White. 

Gideon Gibson’s grandson, Randall, moved west. Randall’s son, Tobias Gibson, became 

the “father of Methodism” in Mississippi.85 Tobias fathered Randall Lee Gibson, a U.S. 

Senator from Louisiana who served as a brigadier general in the Confederate army. 

Subsequent generations of the Gibson family, as well as the descendants of other free 

people of color who migrated with Gideon Gibson, similarly passed into White society by 

the nineteenth century. By this time, White members of their community rarely, if ever, 

questioned their racial heritage. As these free families of color—Gibson, Bunch, Going, 

Driggers, Chavis, and others—crossed the color line, they relinquished shared memories 

of free Blacks ancestors who reshaped the southern frontier and contributed to the 

expansion of its trans-racial character. 

Despite this whitewashing, an event decades later illustrates the uneasy awareness 

many South Carolinians had of their multi-racial past. During South Carolina’s 1895 

State Constitutional Convention, George D. Tillman—the brother of the vehement racist 

politician “Pitchfork” Ben Tillman—surprised many delegates when he rose to object to 

an amendment that would have added a draconian “one-drop” standard to the state’s 

marriage law.86 Tillman ended debate on the matter with a “sensational statement:” he 

asked which of the delegates could declare that none of their ancestors had “Negro blood 

in their veins.”87 Tillman added: “If the law is made as it now stands,” it would affect at 

least one hundred of South Carolina’s “respectable families.”88 The amendment’s sponsor 
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subsequently withdrew the “one-drop” provision and South Carolina quietly adopted the 

one-eighth “blood quantum” anti-miscegenation standard commonly used in other 

southern states.89 With his statement, Tillman acknowledged both the reality of South 

Carolina’s complicated multi-racial past and the jeopardy faced by South Carolinians 

whose bloodlines might present a challenge to their status as Whites in South Carolina’s 

racially-intolerant present. 
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CONCLUSION 

 

The establishment of the Georgia colony in 1732, and the subsequent emergence 

of Augusta as the primary center for trade with Native nations to the west, once again 

disrupted the Indian trade’s geography. Better positioned Augusta Indian traders 

effectively shut out many of their South Carolina, North Carolina, and Virginia 

competitors. By the late 1740s, Georgia-based traders dominated the lucrative Creek and 

Chickasaw trade.1 The North Carolinians, South Carolinians, and Virginians responded 

by shifting their focus to Cherokee villages to the north. Colonial Cherokee traders 

subsequently formed new trading communities positioned to conduct business with 

Cherokee towns such as Keowee in the Appalachian foothills.2 

By 1750 the Lower Cherokee abandoned an expanse of land along Long Cane 

Creek in South Carolina. This land lay along a forked trading path, known as the 

Dividing Paths, sixty miles south of Keowee.3 In addition to this area’s strategic position 

along a major Cherokee trade route, Long Cane Creek provided access to the Savannah 

River, and trans-Atlantic trade merchants in both Augusta and Savannah. This ideal spot 

for conducting trade with the Cherokee soon drew settlers. John Chavis, a free person of 

color and the son of Roanoke River land-owner Bartholomew Chavis, became the first of 

these Long Cane Creek settlers in 1751.4 

As a child, Chavis migrated to North Carolina from Virginia with his father. 

While in Virginia, Chavis’ father, Bartholomew, lived among Surry County’s Blackwater 

River Indian traders with whom he conducted business.5 After their move to North 

Carolina, the Chavis family similarly resided among the Indian traders that plied their 



227 
 

trade along the Roanoke River.6 By 1749, John Chavis followed a group of the Roanoke 

settlers to South Carolina.7 While some members of his family who also travelled to 

South Carolina remained near Gideon Gibson’s Pee Dee settlement, Chavis headed west 

to the South Carolina’s upper Piedmont, likely to engage in the Cherokee trade. Thus, 

Chavis had experienced three iterations of the Indian trade’s geographic realignments 

over the course of his life, and he had migrated in response to each of them. 

As Chavis moved, he left behind a connected trail of family. Chavis’ brother, 

William, remained in North Carolina, where he took over their father’s considerable 

landholdings along the Roanoke River. In 1748, William purchased 400 acres of land 

slightly west of the old Roanoke settlement at Nutbush Creek along a branch of the 

Occaneechi Path.8 Chavis’ brother, Matthew, and his nephew, Phillip Chavis, moved to 

South Carolina and resided near the Pee Dee River settlement in the mid-eighteenth 

century.9 Phillip Chavis joined many second-generation Pee Dee settlement free people 

of color in purchasing land on the Little Pee Dee River in present-day Robeson County, 

North Carolina before later returning to South Carolina.10 Thus, these three generations of 

the Chavis family show the interconnected nature of communities of color in north 

central North Carolina, southeast North Carolina, Cheraws, South Carolina, and the 

southern Appalachian foothills.  

By the time of the American Revolution, Indian trade communities extended into 

the greater Powell River Valley in Tennessee, thereby providing access to Native trading 

partners beyond the Cumberland Gap.11 Although the trade in deerskins reached its zenith 

in the early 1750s, competition among new traders, conflicts with Cherokee trading 

partners, and the decline of European demand for deerskins greatly diminished Native 
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commerce by the close of that decade. During this time, many free people of color left the 

Indian trade and began planting permanent roots within the area of their former trading 

communities as farmers, tradesmen, or sometimes bandits. 

American independence sounded the final death knell for the deerskin trade in the 

old colonial southeast. In 1763, the British government, cognizant of settler 

encroachment upon Native lands, created the Proclamation Line—a line of demarcation 

that created a buffer zone between colonial settlement and Native territory. The 

Proclamation Line helped to maintain peace with Native trading partners to the west. 

During the American Independence movement, American leaders ended enforcement of 

the Proclamation Line and frontier settlement spread beyond its limits. This outpouring of 

westward settlers eclipsed former frontier Indian trade communities. Westward settler 

movement also brought more established government and social structures. Free people 

of color enveloped by expansion found themselves the targets of racial scrutiny by 

newcomers. In response, these communities endeavored to distance themselves from their 

free Black roots by adopting a variety of origin narratives that obscured both their 

ethnicity and, consequently, their former connection to the Indian trade.12 Isolated and 

clannish, these enigmatic communities often experienced scorn and persecution by their 

White neighbors.13 

After Gideon Gibson’s better-positioned Pee Dee River settlement in South 

Carolina rendered the Roanoke River settlement obsolete, the geography of the Indian 

trade once again shifted. Indian traders such as William Eaton and Robert Mumford 

established new trade bases further west in Granville County, North Carolina along the 

Occaneechi trail. These traders used that trade thoroughfare to connect to other western 
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trading paths leading to Cherokee villages. Many free people of color—the children and 

grandchildren of the founders of the Roanoke River trading community–moved slightly 

west in response to this shift in Indian trade geography. These individuals formed new 

communities of color in Nutbush, Kittrell, and Oxford in Granville County, North 

Carolina along the Tar River.14 Free people of color who migrated to the Nutbush 

community included members of the Chavis, Going, Ellis, Evans, Mitchell, Walden, and 

Whitmore families.15 John Day, the father of acclaimed North Carolina furniture-maker 

Thomas Day, later migrated to this settlement from Virginia and founded his family’s 

furniture-making business there.16In 1755, free people of color headed twenty-two 

Granville County, North Carolina households.17 

By the 1760s, the Indian trade reached its nadir in North Carolina. Some former 

traders transitioned to planting and other economic endeavors during this stagnant period. 

The wealth these former Indian traders had accumulated from their years in the lucrative 

Indian trade undoubtably aided their transition. Most free people of color who worked 

more menial jobs in the Indian trade and possessed fewer resources did not fare as well 

during this time of change. These individuals often lost the protection formerly provided 

to them by influential merchants and government leaders who once depended upon their 

work to earn profits and to secure Britain’s North American colonial enterprise. 

Some communities of free people of color left behind by the Indian trade, 

however, remained indelibly linked to the patrons that once employed them. In 1763, one 

such patron, William Eaton, endeavored to act on behalf of the free people of color who 

once helped to build his fortune. Eaton, the son-in-law of the ever-present Indian trader 

George Rives, had deep ties both to the Indian trade and, through his father-in-law, to 
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free people of color such as Indian trader John Bunch. In the 1750s, Eaton maintained a 

trading operation advantageously located “on the S. side of the Roanoke at the trading 

path” in Granville County, North Carolina.18 When the Indian trade began to subside, 

Eaton transitioned to planting. Despite this change in occupation, Eaton remained 

connected to the families that constituted his former Indian trade community. 

In 1763, Eaton aided Granville County’s free people of color by speaking out 

against an onerous North Carolina tax that unfairly burdened them.19 A see North 

Carolina law made free women of color tithe-able and thereby created an additional tax 

burden on free families of color.20 Prior to the 1760s Granville County tax collectors 

sporadically enforced this law. Tax records indicate that Granville County tax collectors 

sometimes categorized free people of color as “White,” thereby excluding them from the 

additional tithe. By the 1760s, however, Granville County records indicate that tax 

collectors applied the tax to free people of color more regularly. This change prompted 

Eaton to act. In a petition to the North Carolina Legislature, Eaton asked for the repeal of 

the 1723 law. In his plea, he described Granville County’s free people of color as 

“persons of Probity & good Demeanor and cheerfully contribute towards the Discharge 

of every public Duty injoined them by Law.”21 The petition’s other signatories included 

Philemon Hawkins, the father of the renowned Indian Agent Benjamin Hawkins, as well 

as several other White North Carolinians with ties to the Indian trade.22 Eaton’s actions 

illustrate the enduring bonds formed within Indian trade communities. 

When the Indian trade subsided, the free people of color once employed within it 

coalesced into isolate communities for protection and to continue endogamous marriage, 

their only form of legal wedlock.23 These otherwise disparate communities, whose 
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origins have often puzzled scholars, share a common connection through the Indian trade, 

and common roots among Virginia’s seventeenth century free people of color. The study 

of these mixed-race communities, however, has suffered greatly from lack of engagement 

by historians. In the absence of good historical research linking the people of Southern 

mixed-race isolate communities to their seventeenth-century free Black forebearers, the 

few scholars who have studied these groups—mostly sociologists, anthropologists, and 

local historians employing limited scope—tended to turn to conjecture and folklore in 

order to explain their origins. This yielded origin narratives that linked Southern mixed-

race isolate communities to “Portuguese,” “Turkish,” “Croatan/Lost Colony,” and other 

highly speculative roots that lacked foundation.24 Few serious studies have attempted a 

deep examination of documentary evidence that might prove more insightful. 

In 1947, sociologist William Gilbert conducted a survey of “small pockets of 

people” “who are complex mixtures in varying degrees of white negro and Indian 

blood.”25 Gilbert found these groups present in “the Appalachian great valley,” South 

Carolina Counties within the Pee Dee River basin, and “around Lumberton” in Robeson 

and around neighboring counties in North Carolina.”26 Gilbert noted that “early white 

settlers” within the areas where these “racial intermediates” resided referred to them as 

“free colored” or “free negroes.”27 Although Gilbert stated that “no satisfactory name has 

ever been invented to designate as a whole these mixed outcasts from both the white and 

Negro castes of America,” he recognized the use of common surnames among these 

“racial islands” and consider them connected in some undiscernible way.28 Speaking to 

the dearth of historical knowledge scholars possessed about these communities, Gilbert 

added that they “certainly deserve more attention than the meager investigations which 
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sociologists and anthropologists have hitherto made of their problems.” Gilbert hoped 

that his study might enlist “the interest of scientific bodies and foundations in research on 

these mixed groups.”29 In the many years that have passed since Gilbert’s writing, few 

scholars have answered that call.  

Work produced by historians Virginia DeMarce and Paul Heinegg presented some 

of the first arguments for the interconnectedness of the southern frontier’s communities 

of color. DeMarce investigated patterns of surname dispersal among otherwise disparate 

communities of free people of color across in the eighteenth and nineteenth century 

South. In her essay “‘Verry Slitly Mixt’: Tri-Racial Isolate Families of the Upper 

South—A Genealogical Study” (1992), Demarce pointed to evidence of familial 

connections between the Chavis, Gibson, and Going families that formed “isolate” 

communities in North Central North Carolina, the southeast North Carolina borderlands, 

South Carolina (Cheraw), Kentucky, and Eastern Tennessee.30 DeMarce, to her credit, 

noted the choreographed movement and interconnection of these families. Yet, she 

neither described the process nor explained the movement or the extrafamilial bonds with 

White Indian traders that brought their frontier communities into existence. 

Paul Heinegg’s invaluable and exhaustive genealogical scholarship detailing the 

family histories of thousands of free people of color, Free African Americans of North 

Carolina, Virginia, and South Carolina From the Colonial Period to About 1820 (1992), 

provided tantalizing suggestions about the connection between the families he 

documented, as well as evidence of their community formation.31 Like DeMarce, 

however, Heinegg did not extend his research to explain the process that formed those 

communities and animated the movement that defined their location. The most recent 
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scholarship on the subject of free people of color in North Carolina, Walter Milteer’s 

North Carolina’s Free People of Color 1715-1885 (2020), mentions the phenomenon of 

community formation among free people of color but does not illuminate the critical 

connection that these communities had to the Indian trade.32  

Scholars studying the Indian trade have offered little more in the way of 

documenting free Black Indian traders and the communities of color they formed. In his 

essay, “James Logan Colbert of the Chickasaws: The Man and The Myth (1994),” 

Richard A. Colbert identified a closeknit community of Chickasaw traders living along 

the Roanoke River, as well as connections that community shared with other Indian trade 

communities, including the Pee Dee River community in South Carolina. Colbert alluded 

to the outsized presence of free people of color within these communities.33 His research, 

however, had a limited scope. Colbert failed to illuminate the historical ties between free 

people of color and the Indian trade, and he fell short of introducing evidence of Indian 

traders of color who lived within the Roanoke River community such as John Bunch or 

Gideon Gibson. 

The free people of color examined in this study played a vital role in southern 

colonial survival and expansion. Indian traders of color, a group hitherto unrecognized by 

scholars, possessed levels of power and influence that challenge scholarly assumptions 

regarding free Black agency and the role that economic interactions played in modifying 

the colonial color line. The power possessed by these individuals was capacious enough 

to facilitate communities that attracted other free people of color from across the colonial 

South. Some of these free people of color came to Indian trade communities to engage in 

that trade, or its supporting functions. Others sought the protective umbrella multi-ethnic 
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Indian trade communities provided that shielded against racial prejudice and harsh 

application of race-based laws that arose alongside the growth of slavery. Indian traders 

organized the communities they constructed around the Indian trade; their formation, 

makeup, and movement track predicably with the historical dynamics of Native 

commerce in the colonial South. The study of that trade, and the free people of color who 

participated within it, therefore provides a novel framework for explaining the formation, 

movement, and interconnection of mixed-race isolate communities across the South. 

More work, and a much closer investigation of the free people of color examined in this 

study will undoubtably yield further insight into this long-neglected area of Southern 

history. 
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